The Geometry of Finitely Generated Kleinian Groups

Author(s): Albert Marden

Source: Annals of Mathematics, May, 1974, Second Series, Vol. 99, No. 3 (May, 1974), pp. 383-462

Published by: Mathematics Department, Princeton University

Stable URL: https://www.jstor.org/stable/1971059

JSTOR is a not-for-profit service that helps scholars, researchers, and students discover, use, and build upon a wide range of content in a trusted digital archive. We use information technology and tools to increase productivity and facilitate new forms of scholarship. For more information about JSTOR, please contact support@jstor.org.

Your use of the JSTOR archive indicates your acceptance of the Terms & Conditions of Use, available at https://about.jstor.org/terms



is collaborating with JSTOR to digitize, preserve and extend access to Annals of Mathematics

# The geometry of finitely generated kleinian groups\*

# By Albert Marden

To my father on his 70<sup>th</sup> birthday

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction
1. Topological preliminaries
2. Basic properties of kleinian groups
3. Quasi-fuchsian groups401
4. Fundamental polyhedra406
5. Function groups
6. The assumption and resulting structure theorem422
7. The boundary estimate
8. The isomorphism theorem
9. Stability
10. The deformation space450
11. Composition of groups455
12. An extension of the assumption458
13. Appendix
References

## Introduction

Until recently little of a general nature was known about finitely generated kleinian groups, indeed it could well have been questioned whether any general theory was possible. Poincaré, in his fundamental paper of 1883, attempted to treat these groups in a manner analogous to his treatment of fuchsian groups: He recognized that they can be extended from acting on the complex plane to acting on upper half space (hyperbolic 3-space) and therefore that there are fundamental polyhedra which play the role of the fundamental polygons for fuchsian groups. At this point, however, his general analysis ended. Even though a few additional general facts were discovered in the interim, the state of knowledge was essentially unchanged until the appearance in 1964 of Ahlfors' finiteness theorem and soon afterwards by Bers' inequalities giving actual estimates for Ahlfors' theorem. Their beautiful results were proved by deep analytic methods enabling them to construct from the group certain spaces of differentials on the quotient surfaces; the depth of these results is merely confirmed in our present study. Kra has woven their results into an elegant cohomology theory.

<sup>\*</sup> Supported in part by the National Science Foundation.

#### ALBERT MARDEN

In contrast to the analytic approach of Ahlfors and Bers, Maskit has pioneered in the study of kleinian groups by purely geometric methods in the complex plane. His work complements the insight provided by the analytic approach and yields some very deep and fundamental knowledge concerning certain special classes of groups. In particular Maskit develops the concept that the class of "nice" groups, that is the class for which generalizations of the classical results for fuchsian groups can be fruitfully sought, is the class of constructible groups. These are the groups that arise from his far-reaching generalizations of the Klein combination theorems. Although we have taken a different path in this paper, Maskit's work has been a great influence. Indeed, there are many points of contact between his work and ours although the precise relation remains unclear.

The program of this paper is to carry forward Poincaré's original approach towards the goal of providing a general theory of kleinian groups. Following Poincaré, we view a (finitely generated) group G as giving rise to a 3-manifold  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  with boundary. A large number of problems concerning G can be reformulated as topological questions about  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  and a major share of our work consists of a topological analysis of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ . This is possible at the present time only because understanding of the topology of 3-manifolds has reached a rather mature stage. We will use most directly some striking recent results of Waldhausen; how much we are indebted to his work will be clear to the reader.

The topological analysis of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  does not directly involve the limit set  $\Lambda(G)$  of G. To pass from information about  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  to information about  $\Lambda(G)$  we consistently use Gehring's extension theorem which says that a quasiconformal map of upper half space can be extended to be quasiconformal on the bounding plane. This is applied by lifting a piecewise linear map between two (for instance) compact manifolds  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  and  $\mathfrak{M}(H)$  with smooth triangulations. Like Mostow (see below) we find this theorem plays a very fundamental, yet incompletely understood, role in determining the possible deformations of G.

The analysis in this paper is concerned with groups without elliptic elements (groups without torsion). We plan to supplement this material at a later date with a discussion of the more general case; in some cases the extension is immediate, in others somewhat different techniques are required. In any case, with this restriction the fundamental group of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  is isomorphic to G.

This paper is divided into two main parts. The first is directed toward a topological analysis of Ahlfors' theorem and Bers' inequality (Chapters 3-7). In order to carry out a complete topological analysis we find it necessary to make certain assumptions (§§ 6.1, 12.3) on the 3-manifolds involved. This is because of the lack of information about non-compact manifolds although very recently G. P. Scott made an important breakthrough in this direction (see Chapter 13). In particular his results imply that the assumptions are satisfied if G is not a free product. It seems reasonable to believe this is true in general. In any case the 3-manifolds involved can be rather well described in their relation to compact manifolds (Theorem 6.4). Our work includes new proofs of some of Maskit's theorems and in particular provides the 3-dimensional analogue to his study of B-groups (Chapters 3 and 5). With the assumptions we are also able to recover the topological part of Ahlfors' theorem and a sharpened form of Bers' inequality (Chapter 7).

The second part of this paper is directed toward analyzing that class  $\mathcal{C}$  of groups which have a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron in hyperbolic 3-space. This assumption is a natural generalization of the usual assumption in Lie group theory that the coset space  $\mathfrak{L}/\Gamma$  have finite volume for a discrete subgroup  $\Gamma$  of  $\mathfrak{L}$  (see Lemma 4.7). But more important is the fact that the groups in  $\mathcal{C}$  are exactly those groups for which  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  can be compactified in a natural way (Proposition 4.2). There are two principal results concerning the groups in  $\mathcal{C}$ . One (Theorem 8.1) implies that if  $\psi: G \to H, G \in \mathcal{C}$ , is an isomorphism induced by a quasiconformal homeomorphism of regular sets  $f: \Omega(G) \to \Omega(H)$ , then f has a quasiconformal extension to the extended plane. A consequence of this might be regarded as the analogue for kleinian groups of Mostow's rigidity theorem (see Theorem 8.3 for its most general expression), namely: If f above is conformal, then G and H are conjugate groups.

We also prove (Theorem 10.1) that a  $G \in \mathcal{C}$  is "strongly stable". In other words every small homomorphism  $\varphi: G \to \mathrm{SL}(2, \mathbb{C})/\pm 1$  which sends parabolic elements to parabolic elements is in fact an isomorphism induced by a quasiconformal map of the extended plane with small dilatation. This result is just what is required to fit the groups in  $\mathcal{C}$  into Bers' deformation theory for kleinian groups (§ 10.6: This general theory includes the classical Teichmüller space theory). Together with his results one now knows that the deformation space T(G) based on a fixed  $G \in \mathcal{C}$  is a manifold with a natural complex analytic structure induced from the matrices, or more precisely from the deformation variety of G. Perhaps surprisingly, the dimension of T(G)depends only on the topological type of the boundary of the 3-manifold  $\mathfrak{N}(G)$ associated with G, not on the "internal structure" of the manifold itself. On the other hand this fact can be regarded as being consistent with Mostow's rigidity theorem, which can be interpreted to say in particular that T(G), for a discrete subgroup G of SL(2, C)/ $\pm 1$  of finite volume, is a point (Corollary 9.5).

In Chapter 11, we try to indicate the relation of constructive methods to the theory we have presented. This is done by displaying certain forms of the Klein combination theorems which have general applicability in constructing more complicated groups from simpler ones, and then showing that C is preserved under these operations.

It is a pleasure for me to acknowledge the advice and inspiration I received in discussions with L. Bers, B. Maskit, and C. Papakyriakopoulos.

# 1. Topological preliminaries

1.1. Throughout our study, and in particular in this chapter, we will be concerned with oriented 3-manifolds  $\mathfrak{M}$  (usually with boundary  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$ ) which have a  $C^{\infty}$  differential structure. Later on, the manifolds will actually have a natural conformal structure and the  $C^{\infty}$  structure will be taken from that. Neither  $\mathfrak{M}$  nor  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  will necessarily be compact. Of course 3-manifolds can be triangulated but for analytic purposes we will need not just a topological triangulation but a "smooth" triangulation. It is known that  $\mathfrak{M}$  has a  $C^{\infty}$ triangulation of  $\mathfrak{M}$  (for details and definitions we refer to Munkres' book [44]). Smoothly imbedded simplices are required for the following reason.

Definition. A homeomorphism  $f: \mathfrak{M}_1 \to \mathfrak{M}_2$  between two  $C^{\infty}$  manifolds is quasiconformal if there exist coordinate coverings  $(u_i, h_i)$  of  $\mathfrak{M}_1$  and  $(u'_j, h'_j)$ of  $\mathfrak{M}_2$  and a constant K,  $1 \leq K < \infty$ , such that the composed mappings  $h'_j \circ f \circ h_i^{-1}$ , whenever they are defined, are K-quasiconformal in the euclidean sense.

Of course for the study of quasiconformal maps of manifolds, this definition is not satisfactory because K is not invariantly defined. However, for our purposes, as illustrated by the following result, this is sufficient.

LEMMA 1.1. A piecewise linear (PL) homeomorphism between two compact  $C^{\infty}$  manifolds with  $C^{\infty}$  triangulation is quasiconformal.

We omit the proof since it is a direct consequence of the basic properties of quasiconformal mappings (see [16, 41]).

1.2. Notation and conventions.  $\mathfrak{M}^{\circ}$  denotes the interior of  $\mathfrak{M}$  and  $\mathfrak{M}^{-}$  the closure of  $\mathfrak{M}$  in some larger manifold. If  $\eta \subset \mathfrak{M}$  is a submanifold we will make frequent use of the notation  $\partial_{0}\eta$  for the relative boundary of  $\eta \cap \mathfrak{M}^{\circ}$  in  $\mathfrak{M}^{\circ}$ .

Unless otherwise specified our work will be carried out in the PL category but using only  $C^{\infty}$  triangulations. When, because of the nature of the problem, a shift to the  $C^{\infty}$  category is necessary, it will be explicitly described.

If S is a compact surface imbedded in  $\mathfrak{M}$ , S will always be assumed to (i) be non-singular, and (ii) satisfy  $\partial S = \partial \mathfrak{M} \cap S$ .

A regular neighborhood N(S) of S is a compact submanifold of  $\mathfrak{M}$  such that there exists a homeomorphism (PL)  $f: N(S) \to S \times [0, 1]$  for which  $f(S) = S \times \{1/2\}$ . By sufficiently subdividing the triangulation of  $\mathfrak{M}$  near S, N(S) can be made arbitrarily close to S.

A non-trivial loop in a surface S is a loop which is not contractible in S to a point.

 $H_1(\mathfrak{M})$  denotes the first integral homology group.

1.3. We begin with two lemmas that relate the first homology group  $H_1(\partial \mathfrak{M})$  of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  to  $H_1(\mathfrak{M})$ .

LEMMA 1.2 (cf. [27]). If g is the total genus of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  (= sum of genera of the components of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$ ) then  $g \leq \operatorname{rank} H_1(\mathfrak{M})$ .

LEMMA 1.3. Assume  $\mathfrak{M}$  is compact and the inclusion map  $H_1(\mathfrak{M}) \rightarrow H_1(\mathfrak{M})$  is surjective. If g is the total genus of  $\mathfrak{dM}$  then rank  $H_1(\mathfrak{M}) = g$ .

Proof. Observe that the first Betti numbers satisfy  $\beta_1(\mathfrak{M}) \leq \beta_1(\mathfrak{M}) = 2g$ and the first relative Betti number satisfies  $\beta_1(\mathfrak{M}, \mathfrak{dM}) = m - 1$  where m is the number of components of  $\mathfrak{dM}$ . Indeed, choose (m - 1) 1-chains connecting the m components of  $\mathfrak{dM}$ . Given any relative 1-cycle  $\gamma_0$  in  $\mathfrak{M}$  there is a 1-chain on  $\mathfrak{dM}$  and a linear combination  $\gamma_c$  of the connecting chains so that when these are added to  $\gamma_0$  we obtain a 1-cycle  $\gamma$ . Since  $\gamma$  is homologous to a cycle on  $\mathfrak{dM}$  we see that  $\gamma_0$  is homologous, mod  $\mathfrak{dM}$ , to  $\gamma_c$ . Now the double  $\mathfrak{M}$  of  $\mathfrak{M}$  is compact so the Euler characteristics satisfy  $2 \chi(\mathfrak{M}) - \chi(\mathfrak{dM}) =$  $\chi(\mathfrak{M}) = 0$ . Using Lefschetz duality and the facts  $\beta_3(\mathfrak{M}) = 0$ ,  $\beta_0(\mathfrak{M}) = 1$ ,  $\beta_0(\mathfrak{M}) = \beta_2(\mathfrak{dM}) = m$ , Lemma 1.3 follows from

$$2(-eta_{\scriptscriptstyle 3}+eta_{\scriptscriptstyle 2}-eta_{\scriptscriptstyle 1}+eta_{\scriptscriptstyle 0})$$
(M)  $=(eta_{\scriptscriptstyle 2}-eta_{\scriptscriptstyle 1}+eta_{\scriptscriptstyle 0})$ (dM) .

1.4. The contemporary theory of 3-manifolds is based on Dehn's lemma, the loop theorem, and the sphere theorem which we will use in the following special forms.

LEMMA 1.4 (Papakyriakopoulos [45], [46]). If  $\gamma$  is a non-trivial loop in  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  which is contractible to a point in  $\mathfrak{M}$ , and if  $\gamma \subset N \subset \partial \mathfrak{M}$  is a neighborhood of  $\gamma$ , there is a simple loop  $\gamma_0 \subset N$ , non-trivial in  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$ , which bounds a disk D in  $\mathfrak{M}$ . If  $\gamma$  is a simple loop, D can be chosen so that  $\partial D = \gamma$ .

LEMMA 1.5 (Papakyriakopoulos [45], Whitehead [52]). If  $\pi_2(\mathfrak{M}^0) \neq 0$ ,

then  $\mathfrak{M}^{\circ}$  contains a sphere which does not bound a ball; if  $\pi_2(\mathfrak{M}^{\circ}) = 0$  and  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M}^{\circ})$  is infinite, then  $\pi_3(\mathfrak{M}^{\circ}) = 0$ .

The following result will be frequently used to cut up our manifolds.

LEMMA 1.6 (Waldhausen [49]). THE CYLINDER THEOREM. Suppose  $\gamma_1$ ,  $\gamma_2$  are mutually disjoint loops on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  neither of which is homotopic to a point in  $\mathfrak{M}$ . Assume  $\gamma_1$  is freely homotopic in  $\mathfrak{M}$  to  $\gamma_2$  and  $\gamma_1 \subset N_1$ ,  $\gamma_2 \subset N_2$  are disjoint neighborhoods. Then there exist simple loops  $\alpha_1 \subset N_1$ ,  $\alpha_2 \subset N_2$ , neither of which is contractible in  $\mathfrak{M}$ , which are the boundary components of a cylinder in  $\mathfrak{M}$ . If  $\gamma_1$  and  $\gamma_2$  are simple loops, we can take  $\alpha_1 = \gamma_1$  and  $\alpha_2 = \gamma_2$ .

The corresponding fact for surfaces is in [28].

1.5. The following test for compactness will also turn out to be useful.

LEMMA 1.7. Suppose  $\mathfrak{M}_1$  and  $\mathfrak{M}_2$  have no boundary and satisfy  $\pi_2(\mathfrak{M}_i) = \pi_3(\mathfrak{M}_i) = 0$ , i = 1, 2. Assume  $\mathfrak{M}_1$  is compact and  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M}_1)$  is isomorphic to  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M}_2)$ . Then the integral homology group  $H_k(\mathfrak{M}_1)$  is isomorphic to  $H_k(\mathfrak{M}_2)$ , k = 0, 1, 2, 3. In particular  $\mathfrak{M}_2$  is also compact.

Proof. As always  $\mathfrak{M}_1$ ,  $\mathfrak{M}_2$  are oriented 3-manifolds. There exists a continuous map  $f: \mathfrak{M}_1 \to \mathfrak{M}_2$  which induces the given isomorphism  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M}_1) \to \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}_2)$  ([19, p. 198]). It follows from the Whitehead theorem ([19, p. 167]) that f induces an isomorphism between the integral homology groups. The group  $H_3(\mathfrak{M}_2)$  tells that  $\mathfrak{M}_2$  is compact.

**1.6.** LEMMA 1.8. (van Kampen [39].) In the notation of Lemma 1.4, if  $\mathfrak{M}$ -D has two components  $\mathfrak{M}_1$ ,  $\mathfrak{M}_2$  then  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M}) = \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}_1)*\pi_1(\mathfrak{M}_2)$  (free product); if there is only one component, then  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M}) = \pi_1(\mathfrak{M} - D)*\mathbf{Z}$ .

LEMMA 1.9. (Grushko [39].) If  $G = G_1 * G_2$  then the ranks satisfy  $r(G) = r(G_1) + r(G_2)$ .

1.7. We will be in the fortunate position that the universal covering spaces of the manifolds  $\mathfrak{M}^0$  under consideration in Chapter 2 and beyond will turn out to be euclidean space  $R^3$ . A simple, but for our purposes extremely important, consequence of this is that every imbedded 2-sphere in  $\mathfrak{M}$  bounds a ball in  $\mathfrak{M}$ . (A manifold with this property is called *irreducible*.) This follows from Alexander's theorem which asserts that the closure of each complementary component of a polyhedral 2-sphere in  $S^3$  is a 3-cell. Because our manifolds have this property, the fact that the Poincaré conjecture is unproved in no way affects our work.

Of course in addition it is true that the homotopy groups  $\pi_2(\mathfrak{M}) = \pi_3(\mathfrak{M}) = 0.$ 

For the rest of this section, the universal covering space of  $\mathfrak{M}^{0}$  is assumed

to be  $\mathbf{R}^{3}$ .

LEMMA 1.10 (Waldhausen [50]). Suppose  $\mathfrak{M}$  is compact with  $\partial \mathfrak{M} \neq \emptyset$ . If  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M})$  is a non-trivial free product then there exists a disk D in  $\mathfrak{M}$ ,  $\partial D \subset \partial \mathfrak{M}$ , which induces some splitting of  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M})$  into a non-trivial free product.

Definition. A compact surface  $S \subset \mathfrak{M}$  with  $\partial S = \partial \mathfrak{M} \cap S$  is incompressible if ker  $(\pi_1(S) \to \pi_1(\mathfrak{M})) = 0$ .

LEMMA 1.11. The following statements are equivalent  $(\pi: \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathfrak{M}^0 \text{ is the natural projection}).$ 

(i) S is incompressible in  $\mathfrak{M}$ .

(ii) Each component of  $\pi^{-1}(S^{\circ})$  in  $\mathbb{R}^{3}$  is simply connected.

(iii) No non-trivial simple loop in S bounds a disk in  $\mathfrak{M} - S$ .

*Proof.* These results seem pretty standard. The implications (ii)  $\Rightarrow$  (i) and (ii)  $\Rightarrow$  (iii) are trivial. If a component  $S^*$  of  $\pi^{-1}(S^0)$  is not simply connected, by the general van Kampen theorem [39] applied to  $S^*$  and the two components of  $\mathbf{R}^3 - S^*$ , there exists a non-trivial loop  $\alpha^* \subset S^*$  which is contractible in one of the components of  $\mathbf{R}^3 - S^*$ . By Lemma 1.4 there is a non-trivial simple loop  $\alpha_i^* \subset S^*$  which bounds a disk  $D_i^*$  with  $D_{i^0}^* \subset \mathbf{R}^3 - S^*$ .

Now  $D_1^*$  intersects only a finite number of components of  $\pi^{-1}(S^0)$ . We can assume all of these intersections consist of simple loops in  $D_1^*$ . From this finite set of simple loops choose an innermost one  $\alpha_2^*$ ;  $\alpha_2^*$  bounds a disk  $D_2^* \subset D_1^*$ . But  $\alpha_2^*$  also appears as a simple loop in a component  $S_1^*$  of  $\pi^{-1}(S^0)$ . The projection  $\alpha_2$  of  $\alpha_2^*$  is a non-trivial loop in S which violates (i) and, via Lemma 1.4, (iii) as well.

In the following lemma,  $H^+$  denotes the closed upper half space in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ .

LEMMA 1.12. Let P be a simply connected, complete, polyhedral surface in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . Then  $\mathbb{R}^3 - P$  has two components and the closure of each is topologically equivalent to  $H^+$ .

*Proof.* We begin by recalling that Alexander's theorem implies that if  $\sigma$  is a polyhedral 2-sphere in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ ,  $\mathbb{R}^3 - \sigma$  has two components and the closure B of the bounded component is a 3-cell. It is also true that if  $D \subset B$  is a disk with  $D \cap \sigma = \partial D$  then the closure of each component of B - D is a 3-cell.

That  $\mathbf{R}^{3} - P$  has two components follows from elementary homology considerations.

Fix a compact set K in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  such that  $K \cap P$  is connected. We will show that there exists a (polyhedral) sphere  $\sigma$  such that

- (i) K lies in the bounded component of  $\mathbf{R}^3 \sigma$ ,
- (ii)  $\sigma \cap P$  is a simple loop.

Start with a sphere  $\sigma_1$  with property (i). We may assume that  $\sigma_1 \cap P$  consists of a finite number of simple loops and along each of these,  $\sigma_1$  crosses P. We will successively reduce the number of components of  $\sigma_1 \cap P$ , preserving property (i), until we obtain a sphere which also satisfies (ii).

Suppose  $\alpha$  is a component of  $\sigma_1 \cap P$  and D is the closure of the bounded component of  $P - \alpha$ ; D is a disk. Assume  $D \cap K = \emptyset$ . If necessary, by replacing  $\alpha$  by an innermost loop in the set  $\sigma_1 \cap D$ , we can also assume that  $\sigma_1 \cap D^0 = \emptyset$ . Now  $\sigma_1 - \alpha$  has two components whose closures  $D_1$ ,  $D_2$  are disks. Each of  $D \cup D_1$ ,  $D \cup D_2$  are spheres and exactly one of them, say  $D \cup D_1$ , is such that K is contained in the bounded component of  $\mathbb{R}^3 - D \cup D_1$ . By moving  $D \cup D_1$  slightly away from P near D, we obtain a new sphere  $\sigma_2$ which satisfies (i) but such that  $\sigma_2 \cap P$  has one fewer component than  $\sigma_1 \cap P$ . Repeating this process at most a finite number of times we end up with a sphere  $\sigma_m$  which satisfies property (i) and has the additional quality that if  $\alpha$ is a component of  $\sigma_m \cap P$ , then the bounded component of  $P - \alpha$  contains  $P \cap K$ .

If  $\sigma_m \cap P$  is connected we are done. Otherwise, let  $\alpha$  be the innermost component of  $\sigma_m \cap P$ , i.e., the component for which  $D^0 \cap \sigma_m = \emptyset$ . Find the component  $\beta$  of  $\sigma_m \cap P$  which is closest to  $\alpha$ ; then  $\alpha \cup \beta$  is the boundary of a closed annulus  $A \subset P$  with  $A^0 \cap \sigma_m = \emptyset$ .  $\alpha \cup \beta$  is also the boundary of a closed annulus  $A' \text{ in } \sigma_m$ .

Let  $\sigma_{m+1}$  denote the sphere that is obtained from  $\sigma_m$  by replacing A' by A. We claim that the bounded component  $B_{m+1}$  of  $\mathbf{R}^3 - \sigma_{m+1}$  contains K. To see this first observe that  $A^0$  lies in the unbounded component of  $\mathbf{R}^3 - \sigma_m$ . This is true because the bounded component  $D^0$  of  $P - \alpha$  lies in the bounded component  $B_m$  of  $\mathbf{R}^3 - \sigma_m$  since it intersects K. Secondly, the torus  $A \cup A'$  bounds a solid torus T.  $T^0$  lies in the unbounded component of  $\mathbf{R}^3 - \sigma_m$  because  $A^0$  does. Consequently  $B_{m+1} = (B_m \cup T)^0$  contains K. Moving  $\sigma_{m+1}$  slightly away from P near A we obtain a sphere  $\sigma_{m+2}$  such that  $\sigma_{m+2} \cap P$  has two fewer components than  $\sigma_m \cap P$ . Repeating this process at most a finite number of times we obtain a sphere  $\sigma = \sigma_n$  which has both properties (i) and (ii).

With this preliminary step, Lemma 1.12 is easily proved. We can find inductively a sequence of spheres  $\{\sigma_n\}$  such that (i) the closure  $B_n$  of the bounded component of  $\mathbf{R}^3 - \sigma_n$  contains  $\sigma_{n-1}$  in its interior; (ii)  $\sigma_n \cap P$  is connected; and (iii)  $\lim \sigma_n = \infty$ . Let H be the closure of one of the two components of  $\mathbf{R} - P$ . Each  $B_n \cap H$  is a cell and so is  $(B_{n+1} - B_n)^- \cap H$  (its boundary is a sphere).

In  $\mathbf{R}^{3}$  choose a sequence  $\{\sigma_{n}^{+}\}$  of standard spheres with the properties (i),

(ii), (iii) with respect to the plane  $\partial H^+$ . This will be our model. Let  $B_n^+$  denote the closure of the bounded component of  $\mathbf{R}^3 - \sigma_n^+$ . Working step by step, we can set up homeomorphisms,  $B_1 \cap H \to B_1^+ \cap H^+$ ,  $(B_{n+1} - B_n)^- \cap H \to (B_{n+1}^+ - B_n^+)^- \cap H^+$ , which agree on the common boundary as we pass from the  $n^{\text{th}}$  to the  $(n + 1)^{\text{st}}$  stage. In this way we can construct a homeomorphism of

$$egin{aligned} H &= (B_1 \cap H)igcup_1^\infty \left[ (B_{n+1} - B_n)^- \cap H 
ight] \longrightarrow H^+ \ &= (B_1^+ \cap H^+)igcup_1^\infty \left[ (B_{n+1}^+ - B_n^+)^- \cap H^+ 
ight]. \end{aligned}$$

COROLLARY 1.13. Assume S is incompressible in  $\mathfrak{M}$  and  $\mathfrak{M} - S$  has two components  $\mathfrak{M}_1$ ,  $\mathfrak{M}_2$ . Then if  $\gamma_1 \subset \mathfrak{M}_1$  is freely homotopic to  $\gamma_2 \subset \mathfrak{M}_2$ , there is a loop in S which is freely homotopic in  $\mathfrak{M}_i$  to  $\gamma_i$ , i = 1, 2.

Proof. Fix a component  $\mathfrak{M}_1^*$  of  $\pi^{-1}(\mathfrak{M}_1^0)$  where  $\pi: \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathfrak{M}^0$  is the natural projection. Lemma 1.12 implies that  $\mathfrak{M}_1^*$  is a topological ball since each component of  $\pi^{-1}(S^0)$  is simply connected (Lemma 1.11). The lift of  $\gamma_1$  from a point  $x \in \mathfrak{M}_1^*$  terminates at T(x) for some cover transformation T. Although  $T(\mathfrak{M}_1^*) = \mathfrak{M}_1^*$ , T may not preserve any component of  $\partial_0 \mathfrak{M}_1^*$ . But the hypothesis on  $\gamma_2$  implies that T also preserves a component of  $\pi^{-1}(\mathfrak{M}_2^0)$ . This forces T to preserve at least one component  $S^*$  of  $\partial_0 \mathfrak{M}_1^*$ . It follows that  $\gamma_1$  is freely homotopic to a loop in  $S^0$ . The same reasoning holds for  $\gamma_2$ .

1.8. In this section we shall gather together some useful results concerning pasting together mappings of 3-manifolds, both in the PL and  $C^{\infty}$  categories.

LEMMA 1.14. Let S be a closed, orientable, triangulated (resp.  $C^{\sim}$ ) surface and f, g two orientation preserving PL homeomorphisms (resp. diffeomorphisms) of S onto itself which are homotopic. Consider the 3-manifold  $S \times$ [0, 1] triangulated so as to extend the given triangulation of  $S \cong S \times \{0\} \cong$  $S \times \{1\}$  (resp. with the product  $C^{\sim}$  structure). Interpret f, g as acting as follows:  $f: S \times \{0\} \rightarrow S \times \{0\}$ ,  $g: S \times \{1\} \rightarrow S \times \{1\}$ . There exists a PL homeomorphism (resp. diffeomorphism)  $F: S \times I \rightarrow S \times I$  which restricts to f and g on  $S \times \{0\}$  and  $S \times \{1\}$  respectively.

*Proof. Case* 1: f and g are PL maps. There exists an isotopy H connecting f and g [12] which can be interpreted as a level-preserving homeomorphism  $S \times I \rightarrow S \times I$  which restricts to f and g on the boundary. A theorem of Bing [9, Theorem 9] implies that H can be approximated arbitrarily closely (with respect to any given distance function) by a PL homeomorphism F, with the additional property that F is equal to H and hence to f and g on the boundary components  $S \times \{0\}, S \times \{1\}$  of  $S \times [0, 1]$ .

Case 2: f and g are diffeomorphisms. The work of Earle and Eells [10] shows that two orientation preserving diffeomorphisms of a compact, closed surface onto itself, which are homotopic, in fact lie in the same path component of the group of diffeomorphisms of the surface onto itself. According to Munkres [43, p. 523] it is known that when this occurs for a manifold there is actually a differentiable isotopy h between the two diffeomorphisms. In other words there exists a diffeomorphism  $F(x, t): S \times I \to S \times I$  such that F(x, 0) = f(x) and F(x, 1) = g(x) which is defined by  $(x, t) \to (h(x, t), t)$ .

COROLLARY 1.15. Let  $\mathfrak{M}$  be a compact, oriented, triangulated (resp.  $C^{\infty}$ ) 3-manifold and  $f: \partial \mathfrak{M} \to \partial \mathfrak{M}$  a PL homeomorphism (resp. diffeomorphism) which is homotopic to the identity on each component of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$ . Then there exists a PL homeomorphism (resp. diffeomorphism)  $F: \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{M}$  with  $F|\partial \mathfrak{M} = f$ .

**Proof.** Assume first  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  is connected. If f is PL, take a closed neighborhood N of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  which is PL equivalent to  $\partial \mathfrak{M} \times [0, 1]$ . Apply Lemma 1.14 in N to the maps f and identity on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  and  $\partial N - \partial \mathfrak{M}$  respectively. Extend the resulting map to  $\mathfrak{M} - N$  by setting it equal to the identity.

In the smooth case apply the collaring theorem [44, Theorem 5.9] to obtain a compact,  $C^{\infty}$  submanifold  $N \subset \mathfrak{M}$  with  $\partial \mathfrak{M} \subset \partial N$  and a diffeomorphism  $h: N \to \partial \mathfrak{M} \times I$ . Because of this and Lemma 1.14 there exists a diffeomorphism  $F_1: N \to N$  such that  $F_1 | \partial \mathfrak{M} = f$  and f restricted to  $R = \partial N - \partial \mathfrak{M}$  is the identity. Extend  $F_1$  to all  $\mathfrak{M}$  by setting  $F_1$  = identity in  $\mathfrak{M} - N$ . Then  $F_1$  is a diffeomorphism except possible near R. Using Munkres' technique [42],  $F_1$  can then be smoothed in a neighborhood of R.

The case in which  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  is not connected is handled in the same way.

The proof used for the following lemma can obviously be applied to prove a much more general result, but this special case is the only one we will encounter here.

LEMMA 1.16. Suppose f and g are orientation preserving PL homeomorphisms (resp. diffeomorphisms) of the cylinder  $A = \{z \in \mathbb{C} \colon 1/2 \leq |z| \leq 1\}$  onto itself which preserve the boundary components. Consider the manifold  $A \times I$  with a triangulation which restricts to that of  $A \cong A \times \{0\} \cong A \times \{1\}$  (resp. product  $\mathbb{C}^{\infty}$  structure). Interpret the maps f and g as acting on  $A \times \{0\}$ ,  $A \times \{1\}$  respectively. Then there exists a PL homeomorphism (resp. diffeomorphism)  $F: A \times I \to A \times I$  such that  $F|A \times \{0\} = f$ ,  $F|A \times \{1\} = g$ .

*Proof. Case* 1: f and g are PL maps. Since f and g are homotopic (in fact homotopic to the identity), hence isotopic, in A there exists a level-preserving homeomorphism  $H: A \times I \rightarrow A \times I$  which restricts to f and g on

 $A \times \{0\}$  and  $A \times \{1\}$ . However, H is not necessarily PL on the remainder of  $\partial(A \times I)$ , namely on the two annuli  $A_1 = \{z : |z| = 1/2\} \times I$  and  $A_2 = \{z : |z| = 1\} \times I$ . On  $A_1$ , for example, H is a PL map of each component of  $\partial A_1$  onto itself. From [12] we deduce that  $H|A_1$  is isotopic to a PL homeomorphism of  $A_1$  onto itself via an isotopy which keeps the components of  $\partial A_1$  pointwise fixed. Using this isotopy on  $A_1$  and a corresponding one on  $A_2$  we can adjust H so as to obtain a homeomorphism  $H_1$  of  $A \times I \rightarrow A \times I$  which is PL on  $\partial(A \times I)$  and also restricts to f and g. Now Bing's theorem [9] is applicable and there is a PL homeomorphism  $F: A \times I \rightarrow A \times I$  with  $F|\partial(A \times I) = H_1|\partial(A \times I)$ .

Case 2: f and g are diffeomorphisms. The proof is a repetition of the corresponding case of Lemma 1.14 but this time we refer to Earle and Schatz [11] to find that f and g are in the same path component of the space of diffeomorphisms of A onto itself. Again [44, p. 523] asserts the existence of a differentiable isotopy joining f and g. This in turn can be interpreted as a diffeomorphism of  $A \times I$  which preserves each shell  $A \times \{t\}$ ,  $0 \le t \le 1$ .

1.9. We shall also have occasion to use the following two results. The first is required in shifting between the PL and  $C^{\infty}$  categories. The second is a smoothing theorem.

LEMMA 1.17. Suppose S is a finite union of mutually disjoint compact,  $C^{\infty}$  submanifolds of  $\mathfrak{M}$  such that  $\partial S \cap \partial \mathfrak{M} = S \cap \partial \mathfrak{M}$  and, if  $S \cap \partial \mathfrak{M} \neq \emptyset$ , S is transverse to  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  along  $S \cap \partial \mathfrak{M}$ . Then there exists a  $C^{\infty}$  triangulation of  $\mathfrak{M}$  which restricts to a triangulation of S.

Proof. For simplicity assume S is connected. The hypothesis implies that the double D(S) of S is a  $C^{\circ}$  submanifold of the double  $D(\mathfrak{M})$  of  $\mathfrak{M}$ . As submanifolds of  $D(\mathfrak{M})$ , D(S) and  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  intersect transversely and have no boundaries. As a consequence of the bicollaring theorem [40, Corollary 3.6] there is a  $C^{\circ}$  triangulation of a closed neighborhood in  $D(\mathfrak{M})$  of each of the surfaces  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$ , D(S) which restricts to a triangulation of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$ , D(S) respectively. By [44, 10.11] there is a  $C^{\circ}$  triangulation of a closed neighborhood of  $\partial \mathfrak{M} \cup D(S)$  in  $D(\mathfrak{M})$  which restricts to a triangulation of both  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  and D(S). Now apply [44, 10.7] which asserts that this induced triangulation of  $\partial \mathfrak{M} \cup D(S)$  can be extended to a  $C^{\circ}$  triangulation of  $D(\mathfrak{M})$ . This in turn restricts to a triangulation of  $\mathfrak{M}$ .

LEMMA 1.18. Suppose  $f: \mathfrak{M}_1 \to \mathfrak{M}_2$  is a homeomorphism, d a metric on  $\mathfrak{M}_2$ , and  $\delta$  a positive continuous function on  $\mathfrak{M}_1$ . There exists a diffeomorphism  $g: \mathfrak{M}_1 \to \mathfrak{M}_2$  such that  $d(f(p), g(p)) < \delta(p)$  for all  $p \in \mathfrak{M}_1$ . In addition

suppose  $A_0$  and A are closed subsets of  $\mathfrak{M}_1$  such that  $A_0 \subset A^0$  and A has a  $C^{\infty}$  triangulation which restricts to a triangulation of  $A_0$ . Then if f is already a diffeomorphism in a neighborhood of A, g can be chosen so that g = f in a neighborhood of  $A_0$ .

Proof. The first statement is due to Munkres [43]. The second is too, after some preliminary observations. By a  $C^{\infty}$  triangulation of A we mean a  $C^{\infty}$  imbedding of a euclidean complex into  $\mathfrak{M}_1$  whose image is A. By subdividing the triangulation if necessary, we can find a closed set  $A_1$  such that  $A_0 \subset A_1^0 \subset A_1 \subset A^0$  and the triangulation of A also restricts to a triangulation of  $A_1$ . There is also a  $C^{\infty}$  triangulation of f(A) with respect to which  $f: A \to$ f(A) is a PL map. By [44, 10.7] the restriction of these triangulation to  $A_1$ ,  $f(A_1)$  can in turn be extended to  $C^{\infty}$  triangulations of  $\mathfrak{M}_1$ ,  $\mathfrak{M}_2$  respectively. Now the homeomorphism  $f: \mathfrak{M}_1 \to \mathfrak{M}_2$  is PL on  $A_1 \to f(A_1)$ . Bing's theorem [9, Theorem 9] allows us to approximate f arbitrarily closely by a PL homeomorphism  $f_1: \mathfrak{M}_1 \to \mathfrak{M}_2$  with the property that  $f_1 = f$  on  $A_1$ . Apply Munkres' smoothing process [43] to  $f_1$ . This process consists of smoothing  $f_1$  in small neighborhoods of the 2-, 1-, and 0-simplices of the triangulation of  $\mathfrak{M}_1$ . In particular, in a neighborhood of  $A_0$ ,  $f_1 = f$  can be left undisturbed.

*Remark.* The PL version of Lemma 1.18 is also true. It is due to Bing and we have used it in the course of the above proof.

### 2. Basic properties of kleinian groups

2.1. We will consider the group **M** of Möbius transformations  $\{z \mapsto (az + b)/(cz + d), ad - bc = 1\}$  usually viewed as acting on the Riemann sphere, which will be denoted by  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$ . Other representations of **M** are the simple Lie groups  $SL(2, C)/\pm 1$  with the obvious identification and  $SO(1, 3)/\pm 1$  with identification via stereographic projection and homogeneous coordinates. There is a standard classification that  $T \in \mathbf{M}$  is loxodromic, parabolic (unipotent), or elliptic according to whether T is conjugate in **M** to  $ke^{i\Theta}z$ ,  $k \neq 1$  (T is hyperbolic if  $\Theta = 0$ ), to z + 1, or to  $e^{i\Theta}z$ ,  $\Theta \neq 0$  (mod  $2\pi$ ), respectively. These expressions allow us to see the geometry of each transformation T.

As Poincaré [47] first observed, each Möbius transformation acting, say, on the 2-sphere  $\partial \mathcal{B}$  has a unique extension to a conformal automorphism of the 3-ball  $\mathcal{B}$ . In this way **M** extends from  $\partial \mathcal{B}$  to the group of orientation preserving isometries of hyperbolic 3-space  $\mathcal{B}$ . In different language **M** extends to a certain closed subgroup of SO(1, 4) which has  $\mathcal{B}$  as its associated symmetric space.

The point  $p \in \mathfrak{B}^-$  is a *limit point* of a subgroup G of M if there is an

infinite sequence  $\{A_n\}$  of distinct elements of G and a point  $q \in \mathfrak{B}^-$  such that  $\lim A_n(q) = p$ . Let  $\Lambda(G)$  denote the set of limit points which lie on  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$ . It turns out (cf. [22]) that  $\Lambda(G)$  is a closed set on  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$ . The complementary open set  $\Omega(G)$  on  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$  is called the *regular set*.

As a matrix subgroup of  $SL(2, C)/\pm 1$ , G is discrete if and only if it acts discontinuously on the open ball  $\mathcal{B}$ . This means no  $p \in \mathcal{B}$  is a limit point. If G is discrete its limit set with respect to the closed ball  $\mathcal{B}^-$  is precisely  $\Lambda(G)$ . If in addition  $\Omega(G) \neq \emptyset$ , G is traditionally called a discontinuous group, but it is also true that the requirement  $\Omega(G) \neq \emptyset$  in itself implies discreteness. A kleinian group is a discontinuous group G which has more than two limit points. In particular G is not finite, cyclic, or free abelian of rank 2. The limit set  $\Lambda(G)$  of a kleinian group is a perfect, nowhere dense subset of  $\partial \mathcal{B}$ and the components of  $\Omega(G)$  are either simply or infinitely connected (provided G is finitely generated).

**2.2.** Throughout this paper we will assume that the kleinian group G is finitely generated and has no torsion (i.e., contains no elliptic elements). Then G acts freely on  $\mathfrak{B} \cup \Omega(G)$ .  $\Omega(G)/G = \bigcup S_i$  is a union of Riemann surfaces  $S_i$  none of which is conformally a sphere, nor a once or twice punctured sphere, nor a torus. We will assign to the 3-manifold

$$\mathfrak{M}(G) = \mathfrak{K} \cup \Omega(G)/G$$

the orientation,  $C^{\infty}$  structure, and conformal structure induced from  $\mathfrak{B} \cup \Omega(G)$  by the natural projection

$$\pi: \mathfrak{B} \cup \Omega(G) \longrightarrow \mathfrak{M}(G)$$

Of course  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G) = \bigcup S_i$  and, since there is no torsion,  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M}) \cong G$ .

As we have already discussed in § 1.7,  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  has the fortunate property that every imbedded 2-sphere bounds a ball.

We will use the following terminology. A loop  $\gamma \subset \mathfrak{M}(G)$  determines the transformation  $T \in G$  if for some  $x^* \in \{\pi^{-1}(x)\}$ , where x is the initial point of  $\gamma$ , the lift of  $\gamma$  from  $x^*$  terminates at  $T(x^*)$ . Any two transformations determined by  $\gamma$  are conjugate in G. Conversely if T is determined by  $\gamma$  and  $T_1$  is conjugate to T in G then  $T_1$  is also determined by  $\gamma$ . Thus we can also speak of the conjugacy class of transformations in G determined by  $\gamma$ .

In a different direction, if  $\gamma_1$  is freely homotopic to  $\gamma$  then  $\gamma$  and  $\gamma_1$  determine the same conjugacy class of transformations in G. Conversely two loops  $\gamma$ ,  $\gamma_1$  which determine the same conjugacy class are freely homotopic.

It should be emphasized that the configuration  $\pi: \mathfrak{B} \cup \Omega(G) \to \mathfrak{M}(G)$  may

have two characteristics which are unusual from a topological point of view. The first is that a component S of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  may have a *puncture* p. By this we mean that p is an isolated ideal boundary component of S which has a neighborhood conformally equivalent to a once punctured disk. It follows from [29], for example, that if  $\gamma$  is a simple loop in S retractible to p then transformation in G determined by  $\gamma$  is parabolic. The converse of this statement is false as we will discover later. The geometry of parabolic transformations will be discussed in § 2.5 below.

The second possibility we want to mention is that a component  $S^*$  of  $\pi^{-1}(S)$  is not necessarily the universal covering surface of S because  $S^*$  need not be simply connected. It is simply a regular planar covering.

**2.3.** Example 1.  $\Lambda(G) = \{z: |z| = 1\}$ . Then G is a fuchsian group of the first kind and  $\Omega(G)$  has exactly two components which correspond under the map  $z \to \overline{z}^{-1}$ .  $\Omega(G)/G$  is the union of two finitely punctured compact surfaces  $S_1$ ,  $S_2$  which are anti-conformally equivalent. In a simple geometric manner  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  may be realized as  $S_1 \times [0, 1]$ .

Example 2. If a component  $\Omega_0$  of  $\Omega(G)$  is invariant under G then G is called a function group; if in addition  $\Omega_0$  is simply connected, G is called a *B*-group. For these groups the inclusion  $\pi_1(S) \to \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}(G))$ ,  $S = \Omega_0/G$ , is an isomorphism and the structure of  $\mathfrak{M}$  is considerably simplified as we shall discover. It is also true that the topology of  $\Omega(G)$  and of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  can be expressed directly in terms of  $\Omega_0$  and subsurfaces of S. For *B*-groups this situation was completely worked out by Maskit [35], and several years ago I found a direct proof of Ahlfors' finiteness theorem as applied to the invariant region for function groups (unpublished). The simplest type of function group not a *B*-group is the classical Schottky group. This is generated by transformations which pair 2g circles bounding a 2g-connected region (or more generally analytic Jordan curves), sending the exterior of one onto the interior of its partner. In this case  $\Omega(G)$  is connected and infinitely connected,  $\Omega(G)/G$  is a compact surface of genus g, and  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  is a handlebody of genus g.

Example 3. G is a degenerate group if  $\Omega(G)$  is connected and simply connected. These peculiar groups exist and represent every conformal type of surface (arising from a kleinian group) save the triply punctured sphere. Degenerate groups were found by Bers [7] using the boundary corresponding to his imbedding of Teichmüller space in a space of quadratic differentials, and by Maskit in some unpublished work, using geometric methods on  $\partial \mathcal{B}$ . It is an open question whether  $\mathfrak{M}(G) \cong (\Omega(G)/G) \times [0, 1]$ .

2.4. AHLFORS' FINITENESS THEOREM [2]. If G is a kleinian group with

 $N < \infty$  generators, then  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  is a finite union of surfaces, each of which is a finitely punctured compact surface.

Note that this says in particular that no components of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  are disks. This is false if  $N = \infty$  (Accola [1]). The fact that every ideal boundary component of a component of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  is conformally a puncture in itself, generally, is highly non-trivial. For example no geometic proof of this fact is known for degenerate groups.

If one did not insist on proving that every ideal boundary component on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  is a puncture, then the work here would be independent of Ahlfors' theorem. In particular this is the case in Chapters 5-7 (cf. Lemma 3.1). However, we will not be so dogmatic and will always refer to ideal boundary components as punctures.

Bers found a very important refinement of Ahlfors' theorem as follows.

BERS' ESTIMATE [6]. If  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G) = \bigcup S_i$  is the decomposition of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  into its components  $S_i$  and if  $S_i$  has genus  $g_i$  and  $b_i$  punctures then

$$\sum \left( 2 g_i \, + \, b_i - 2 
ight) \leq 2 (N-1) \; .$$

2.5. Suppose p is the fixed point of a parabolic transformation in the kleinian group G. The subgroup

$$M_p = \{T \in G: T(p) = p\}$$

is the maximal parabolic subgroup corresponding to p. It is known that  $M_p$  contains only parabolic transformations and furthermore that  $M_p$  is either infinite cyclic or free abelian of rank two.

Denote by  $\sigma_p(r)$  the sphere with radius r which is internally tangent to  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$  at p and let  $\beta_p(r) \subset \mathfrak{B}$  be the open ball bounded by  $\sigma_p(r)$ . Both  $\sigma_p$  and  $\beta_p$  are invariant under all  $T \in M_p$ .

For all sufficiently small r,  $\beta_p(r)$  has the property that  $T(\beta_p(r)) \cap \beta_p(r) = \emptyset$  for all  $T \in G$ ,  $T \notin M_p$ . When  $M_p$  is free abelian of rank two, Fatou's proof of this [13, p. 159] is complete. On the other hand, as A. Beardon has pointed out, his proof for cyclic  $M_p$  has a serious gap. However, Beardon [5] among others has given a direct, elementary proof which is valid in all cases.

Case 1.  $M_p$  is free abelian of rank two. In this case, for each small r,  $(\sigma_p(r) - \{p\})/M_p$  is a torus in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ . It will be called a *canonical cusp torus*. This torus bounds  $\beta_p(r)/M_p \cong S^1 \times \{z \in \mathbb{C} : 0 < |z| < 1\}$  ( $S^1$  is the 1-sphere). The *closure* of this will be referred to as a *canonical solid cusp torus*. Each solid cusp torus has finite hyperbolic volume.

Suppose  $\mathcal{T}_1$ ,  $\mathcal{T}_2$  are two mutually disjoint, canonical solid cusp tori in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  (or in different manifolds  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  and  $\mathfrak{M}(H)$ ). There is a natural  $C^{\infty}$ 

quasiconformal map  $f: \mathcal{T}_1 \to \mathcal{T}_2$ . Fix components  $\mathcal{T}_i^*$  of  $\pi^{-1}(\mathcal{T}_i)$  and represent  $\mathcal{T}_i^*$  as closed upper half space  $\mathcal{H} = \{(x_1, x_2, x_3): x_3 \leq 0\}, i = 1, 2$ . There is a level-preserving affine map  $f^*: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$  which induces an isomorphism of the group of cover transformations of  $\mathcal{T}_1^*$  onto that of  $\mathcal{T}_2^*$ . Its projection is f.

Case 2.  $M_p$  is infinite cyclic. In this case for each small r,  $(\sigma_p(r) - \{p\})/M_p$  will be called a *doubly infinite cylinder associated* with p. It is naturally imbedded in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  and bounds there a region  $\beta_p(r)/M_p$  homeomorphic to  $\{z \in \mathbb{C} : 0 < |z| < 1\} \times (0, 1)$ .

In each case as we vary r, for small r we obtain a nested family of the above objects. Since there are at most a countable number of conjugacy classes of maximal parabolic subgroups of G, it is possible to choose the associated canonical cusp tori and doubly infinite cylinders so as to be mutually disjoint in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ . Note too, they are  $C^{\infty}$  submanifolds of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ .

**2.6.** In the case of cyclic  $M_p$ , in general nothing is known regarding its effect on  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  beyond the existence of the doubly infinite cylinders which can be constructed from spheres. However, in a certain situation, which we will now examine, one can say much more. This special case will be very important in the remainder of our work.

A closed submanifold  $\mathcal{T}$  of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  is a tube if  $\mathcal{T} \cong \{z \in \mathbb{C} : 0 < |z| \leq 1\} \times [0, 1]$ .

Definition 2.1. Suppose  $p_1$  and  $p_2$  are distinct punctures on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ .  $p_1$ and  $p_2$  are said to be *paired* if there is a (closed) cylinder C and a tube T in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  such that

(i)  $C \cap \partial \mathfrak{M} = \partial C \cap \partial \mathfrak{M}$  consists of two simple loops, one retractible in  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  to  $p_1$ , the other retractible in  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  to  $p_2$ .

(ii)  $\partial_0(\mathcal{T} \cap \mathfrak{M}^0) = C^0$  ( $\partial_0$  denotes the relative boundary in  $\mathfrak{M}^0$ ).

(iii)  $(\mathcal{T} \cap \partial \mathfrak{M})^{\circ}$  is the union of a neighborhood of  $p_1$  and of  $p_2$ , each one conformally equivalent to a once punctured disk.

We will refer to  $p_1$  and  $p_2$  as paired by the pairing cylinder C or the pairing tube T.

Assuming  $p_1$  and  $p_2$  are paired we will construct a family of canonical pairing cylinders and tubes. To do this consider the situation in  $\Omega(G) \subset \partial \mathfrak{B}$ .

Let  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$  denote the two components of  $C \cap \partial \mathfrak{M}$  where C is a pairing cylinder. Fix a lift  $\alpha_1^*$  of  $\alpha_1$  in  $\Omega(G)$ . Then  $\alpha_1^*$  determines a parabolic transformation  $A \in G$ . There is also a lift  $\alpha_2^*$  of  $\alpha_2$  which determines A. Let  $\gamma_i^*$ denote the component of  $\pi^{-1}(\alpha_i)$  which contains  $\alpha_i^*$ , i = 1, 2. Then  $\gamma_1^*$ ,  $\gamma_2^*$  are both open Jordan arcs in  $\Omega(G)$  invariant under A. When the fixed point pof A is added,  $\gamma_1^*$ ,  $\gamma_2^*$  become Jordan curves "tangent" to each other at p. The maximal subgroup  $M_p$  is infinite cyclic and generated by A. The Jordan curves  $\gamma_1^* \cup \{p\}$ ,  $\gamma_2^* \cup \{p\}$  bound mutually disjoint topological disks  $D_1^*$ ,  $D_2^* \subset \Omega(G)$  with  $A(D_i^*) = D_i^*$ ;  $\pi(D_i^*)$  is a neighborhood of the puncture  $p_i$ . It is known [22] that there exist circles  $C_1(r)$ ,  $C_2(r)$  of radius r which lie on  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$  such that for all sufficiently small r,

(i)  $C_1(r)$ ,  $C_2(r)$  are tangent at p,

(ii) 
$$C_i(r) \subset D_i^* \cup \{p\}, \ i=1,2$$
 ,

(iii)  $A(C_i(r)) = C_i(r), i = 1, 2$ .

The existence of the circles is usually formulated in the case that A is of the form  $z \rightarrow z + 1$  and  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$  are the horizontal lines in the plane  $\{y = \pm N\}$  for large N > 0.

Let  $\sigma'_1(r)$ ,  $\sigma'_2(r)$  denote the spheres orthogonal to  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$  along  $C_1(r)$ ,  $C_2(r)$ respectively and set  $\sigma_i(r) = \sigma'_i(r) \cap \mathfrak{B}$ . Let  $X_i(r)$  denote the component of  $\mathfrak{B} - \sigma_i(r)$  which is adjacent to a subset of  $D_i^*$ , i = 1, 2. Determine the radius  $r_1 = r_1(r)$  of  $\beta_p(r_1)$  (cf. § 2.5) as follows. Let  $p^*$  be the diametrically opposite point to p. Under a conformal map f of  $\mathfrak{B}^-$  to closed upper half space with  $f(p) = \infty$ ,  $f(p^*) = 0$ , the three regions  $f(X_1(r))$ ,  $f(X_2(r))$ ,  $f(\beta_p(r))$  are to be equidistant from 0. Then let  $\beta_p^*(r)$  denote the relative closure in  $\mathfrak{B} \cup \Omega(G)$  of  $\beta_p(r_1) \cup X_1(r) \cup X_2(r)$ .

LEMMA 2.2. For all sufficiently small r,  $\pi(\beta_p^*(r))$  is a tube in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ pairing  $p_1$  and  $p_2$ . If  $q_1$  and  $q_2$  are also paired punctures on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  (or on a different  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G_1)$ ) then for all sufficiently small r there is a function  $r_2 = r_2(r)$ such that  $\pi(\beta_p^*(r))$  is conformally equivalent to  $\pi(\beta_q^*(r_2))$  in such a way that  $p_1$  corresponds to  $q_1$  and  $r_2 \to 0$  as  $r_1 \to 0$ .

*Proof.* For sufficiently small r,  $\beta_p^*(r)$  has the property that  $T(\beta_p^*(r)) \cap \beta_p^*(r) = \emptyset$  for all  $T \in G$ ,  $T \notin M_p$  while  $T \in M_p$  preserves  $\beta_p^*(r)$ . If  $\mathcal{T}$  is a tube pairing  $p_1$  and  $p_2$ , take r small enough so that  $\pi(\beta_p^*(r)) \subset \mathcal{T}$ . The second statement follows from the fact that any two parabolic transformations are conjugate in **M** and from our normalized choice of  $r_1(r)$ .

The pairing tubes  $\pi(\beta_p^*(r))$  are called *canonical pairing tubes* and the closures of the relative boundaries  $\partial_0(\pi(\beta_p^*(r)) \cap \mathfrak{M}^0)$  are called *canonical pairing cylinders*.

Our work leads to the following algebraic characterization.

**LEMMA 2.3.** Two distinct punctures on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  are paired if and only if they determine the same conjugacy class of parabolic transformations in G.

*Proof.* The necessity is trivial. If the two punctures determine the same conjugacy class, the construction above can be applied directly to obtain a canonical cylinder which pairs the punctures.

2.7. Although Lemma 2.2 contains the basic result we need on "compactifying" manifolds, there are certain additional technical complications that must be ironed out. These have to do with the fact that if  $\mathcal{T}$  is a canonical pairing tube,  $\mathfrak{M} - \mathcal{T}^0$  is not a  $C^{\infty}$  submanifold of  $\mathfrak{M}$  because there are "corners" on  $\mathcal{T}$ .

In order to get an explicit picture of what a canonical pairing tube  $\mathcal{T}$  looks like, it is convenient to replace  $\mathcal{B}$  by upper half space  $\mathcal{H} = \{(x_1, x_2, x_3) \in \mathbb{R}^3: x_3 > 0\}$  and assume A is the translation  $(x_1, x_2, x_3) \rightarrow (x_1 + 1, x_2, x_3)$  (notation as in §2.6). The intersection of  $\beta_{\infty}^*(r)$  with the plane  $\{x_1 = 0\}$  is the complement R in the closed half plane  $\{x_3 \ge 0\}$  of some open rectangle as in Fig. 1.



 $\mathcal{T}$  is obtained by identifying the faces  $R \times \{0\}$ ,  $R \times \{1\}$  of  $R \times I$  under A.

By rounding the corners of R as indicated in Fig. 1,  $(\partial_0 \mathcal{T})^-$  becomes a  $C^{\infty}$  submanifold of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ , transverse to  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ . This smoothing can be done in a canonical way for all canonical pairing tubes so that both assertions of Lemma 2.2 continue to hold. We will speak of these smoothed tubes  $\mathcal{T}$  as smoothed canonical pairing tubes. The closure of the relative boundaries  $(\partial_0 \mathcal{T})^-$  will be called smoothed canonical pairing cylinders.

Suppose  $\mathcal{T}$  and  $\mathcal{T}_1$  are smoothed canonical pairing tubes such that  $\mathcal{T} \subset \mathcal{T}_1^{\circ}$ . We claim

LEMMA 2.4.  $\mathcal{T}_1 - \mathcal{T}^0$  is diffeomorphic to  $\{z \in \mathbb{C}: 1/2 \leq |z| \leq 1\} \times I$ .

*Proof.* The intersection of  $\beta_{\infty}^{*}(r_1) - \beta_{\infty}^{*}(r)^0$  with the plane  $\{x_1 = 0\}$  is the closed region R in Fig. 2. There is a conformal map h of  $R^0$  onto a rectangle  $R_1^0$ , the four arcs of  $\partial R$  corresponding to the four sides of  $R_1$ . The boundary properties of conformal mappings and the reflection principle show that h is  $C^{\infty}$  in R. Hence the map  $(z, t) \rightarrow (h(z), t)$  of  $R \times I \rightarrow R_1 \times I$  is a diffeomorphism. Lemma 2.4 now follows.

In reference to Lemma 1.17 we obtain the following.

LEMMA 2.5. If S is a canonical cusp torus or a smoothed canonical

pairing cylinder in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ , there is a  $C^{\infty}$  triangulation of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  with respect to which S is a polyhedral surface.



**2.8.** Our approach to the limit set  $\Lambda(G)$  of a kleinian group G will always be by means of the following theorem. It plays a very fundamental role in passing from the group action on  $\mathcal{B}$  to the group action on  $\partial \mathcal{B}$ .

GEHRING'S EXTENSION THEOREM [16]. A quasiconformal homeomorphism  $\mathfrak{B} \to \mathfrak{B}$  can be extended to a quasiconformal homeomorphism  $\mathfrak{B}^- \to \mathfrak{B}^-$ .

## 3. Quasi-fuchsian groups

3.1. We will begin with a lemma which has considerable application here and in later chapters.

LEMMA 3.1. Suppose C is a closed cylinder in  $\mathfrak{M} = \mathfrak{M}(G)$  such that

(i)  $C \cap \partial \mathfrak{M} = \partial C$  consists of two simple loops in  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  not homotopic to a point in  $\mathfrak{M}$  nor freely homotopic on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$ , and

(ii) for some base point  $0 \in \mathfrak{M}^{\circ} - C^{\circ}$  the inclusion  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M}^{\circ} - C^{\circ}; 0) \rightarrow \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}^{\circ}; 0)$  is an isomorphism.

Then there are two punctures  $p_1$ ,  $p_2$  on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$ , uniquely determined by C, which are paired by C. Furthermore, no puncture  $p_3$  on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$ ,  $p_3 \neq p_1$   $p_2$ , is paired with either  $p_1$  or  $p_2$ .

**Proof.** Hypothesis (ii) implies C separates  $\mathfrak{M}$ , for otherwise there would be a loop in  $\mathfrak{M}$  with non-zero intersection number with C. One component of  $\mathfrak{M} - C$  contains 0; denote the closure of the other component by  $\mathcal{T}$ .

Hypothesis (i) implies that C is incompressible in  $\mathfrak{M}$  and Corollary 1.13 then says that the inclusion  $\pi_1(C) \to \pi_1(\mathcal{T})$  is an isomorphism. Let R be one of the components of  $\mathcal{T} \cap \partial \mathfrak{M}$ . We claim that the inclusion  $\pi_1(R) \to \pi_1(\mathcal{T})$  is an isomorphism, in particular that  $\pi_1(R)$  is infinite cyclic and because of (i),  $\mathcal{T} \cap \partial \mathfrak{M}$  has two components.

If this is not the case, there is a non-trivial loop  $\gamma \subset R^0$  in the kernel of

this inclusion. By Lemma 1.4 there is a non-trivial simple loop  $\gamma_0 \subset \mathbb{R}^0$  which bounds a disk D in  $\mathcal{T}$  with  $D \cap \mathbb{R} = \partial D = \gamma_0$ . D separates  $\mathcal{T}$  and moreover, if  $\mathbb{R}_0$  is the component of  $\mathbb{R} - \gamma_0$  that does not border on a component of  $C \cap \partial \mathfrak{M}$ , every loop in  $\mathbb{R}_0$  is freely homotopic to a loop on  $C^0 = \partial_0 \mathcal{T}$  and hence to a loop on D. In other words every loop in  $\mathbb{R}_0$  is trivial in  $\mathcal{T}$  and consequently in  $\mathfrak{M}$ . We conclude that every component of  $\pi^{-1}(\mathbb{R}_0)$  in  $\Omega(G)$  is homeomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}_0$ . This is possible only if  $\mathbb{R}_0$  is a disk.

Thus each of the two components  $R_1$ ,  $R_2$  of  $\mathcal{T} \cap \partial \mathfrak{M}$  has an infinite cyclic fundamental group. Either by applying Ahlfors' finiteness theorem or by simple direct analysis we conclude that each of these components is a once punctured disk. That is, C is a cylinder pairing two punctures  $p_1$ ,  $p_2$  on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$ .

Finally, a puncture  $p_3 \neq p_1$ ,  $p_2$  cannot also be paired with  $p_1$ . The easiest way of seeing this is as follows. Fix components  $R_i^*$  of  $\pi^{-1}(R_i)$ , i = 1, 2, which are "tangent" at the fixed point p of the parabolic transformation  $T \in G$ . Each of  $R_i^* \cup \{p\}$  is a topological disk invariant under T (we may even assume  $\partial(R_i^* \cup \{p\})$  is a circle). If  $p_3$  were paired with  $p_1$  also there would be a third topological disk  $R_3^* \cup \{p\}$ , with  $R_3^* \cap R_1^* = R_3^* \cap R_2^* = \emptyset$ , also invariant under T. The simple geometric properties of T rule out such a configuration.

*Remark.* It is possible that two punctures on the same component of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  are paired.

**3.2.** Definition. The (finitely generated, torsion free) kleinian group G is quasi-fuchsian if two of the components of  $\Omega(G)$  are each invariant under G.

In this chapter, we shall completely describe the topological structure of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  for quasi-fuchsian groups G.

LEMMA 3.2. For a quasi-fuchsian group G, exactly two components, say  $\Omega_1$ ,  $\Omega_2$ , of  $\Omega(G)$  are invariant under G and each of these is simply connected. Each of  $S_1 = \Omega_1/G$  and  $S_2 = \Omega_2/G$  is a finitely punctured compact surface.

*Proof.* The first statement is proved in Accola [1] and also follows from the topological considerations of Chapter 1. The second is a consequence of Ahlfors' finiteness theorem, or more simply, an elementary analysis of each of the at most finite number of ideal boundary components of  $S_1$  and  $S_2$ .

We remark that two punctures on the same component  $S_1$  or  $S_2$  cannot be paired. Two curves in  $S_1$ , for example, which are freely homotopic in  $\mathfrak{M}$ are freely homotopic in  $S_1$  since the inclusion  $\pi_1(S_1) \rightarrow \pi_1(\mathfrak{M})$  is an isomorphism. However, the totality of punctures on  $S_1$  is paired with the totality of punctures on  $S_2$  as we shall see in the next lemma. LEMMA 3.3. For a quasi-fuchsian group G with invariant components  $\Omega_1$ ,  $\Omega_2$  of  $\Omega(G)$ ,  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  is diffeomorphic to  $(\Omega_1/G) \times [0, 1]$ .

**3.3.** Proof. Case 1:  $S_1 = \Omega_1/G$  is compact. This case was proved by Waldhausen [51, Lemma 5.1]. Because we will have to use his construction in the general case, it is appropriate to outline his proof here. Take a system of simple loops  $\alpha_i$ ,  $1 \leq i \leq 2g$ , on  $S_1$ ,  $g = \text{genus } S_1$ , such that  $\alpha_i$  intersects  $\alpha_{i+1}$  exactly once (transversely) while  $\alpha_i \cap \alpha_j = \emptyset$ ,  $j \neq i$ , i + 1. Applying Lemma 1.6, there exists a corresponding set  $\{\alpha'_i\}$  of simple loops on  $S_2 = \Omega_2/G$  such that (i) each pair  $(\alpha_i, \alpha'_i)$  bounds a cylinder  $C_i$  in  $\mathfrak{N}$ , and (ii)  $C_i \cap C_j$  is a simple arc from  $\alpha_i \cap \alpha_{i+1}$  to  $\alpha'_i \cap \alpha'_{i+1}$  while  $C_i \cap C_j = \emptyset$  for  $j \neq i$ , i + 1.

Let N(C) be a regular neighborhood of  $C = \bigcup C_i$  (§ 1.2). Then  $\partial_0 N(C) = \partial N(C) \cap \mathfrak{M}^0$  is an open cylinder in  $\mathfrak{M}$  and  $(\partial_0 N(C))^- \cap S_1$  is a simple loop that bounds the region  $D_1 = [S_1 - S_1 \cap N(C)]^-$  which is a disk. But also  $D_2 = [S_2 - S_2 \cap N(C)]^-$  is a disk in  $S_2$ . For the simple loop  $\partial D_2$  bounds the disk  $\partial_0 N(C) \cup D_1$  in  $\mathfrak{M}$ . Since the inclusion map  $\pi_1(S_2) \to \pi_1(\mathfrak{M})$  is injective,  $\partial D_2$ is homotopic to a point in  $S_2$  as well as in  $\mathfrak{M}$ . This implies  $\partial D_2$  bounds a disk, necessarily  $D_2$ , in  $S_2$ .

Set  $M = [\mathfrak{M} - N(C)]^-$ . We have just seen that  $\partial M$  is a 2-sphere, namely the union of the cylinder  $\partial_0 N(C)$  and two caps  $D_1$ ,  $D_2$ . Consequently (cf. §1.7) M is a ball and is homeomorphic to  $D_1 \times [0, 1]$  in such a way that  $(\partial_0 N(C))^-$  corresponds to  $\partial D_1 \times [0, 1]$ . Adjoining N(C) to M we obtain Lemma 3.3 in this case.

**3.4.** Case 2: Now suppose  $S_1$  has punctures. Following Waldhausen's proof take the simple loops  $\{\alpha_i\}$  on  $S_1$ ,  $1 \leq i \leq 2g$ ,  $g = \text{genus } S_1$ , and construct the corresponding cylinders  $C_i$  exactly as above. For a thin regular neighborhood N(C) about  $C = \bigcup C_i$ , each region  $R_i = [S_i - S_i \cap N(C)]^-$ , i = 1, 2 is again planar since all the handles on  $S_1$  and consequently  $S_2$  have been accounted for in the construction of the  $C_i$ . But in this case,  $R_1$  is not simply connected since it contains all the punctures of  $S_1$  (this is why N(C) is taken to be thin; it is thin enough that all punctures of  $S_1 \cup S_2$  lie in  $R_1 \cup R_2$ ).

At this point we make the important observation that each component  $M^*$  of  $\pi^{-1}(M^0)$ , where  $M = \mathfrak{M} - N(C)$ , is a topological ball in  $\mathfrak{B}$ . This follows from Lemma 1.12 because each component of  $\pi^{-1}(\partial_0 N(C))$  is simply connected by Lemma 1.11. Furthermore, each of  $M^{*-} \cap \Omega_i$ , i = 1, 2, is connected and simply connected. Thus if  $T \in G$  preserves  $M^{*-} \cap \Omega_1$ , then T also preserves  $M^{*-} \cap \Omega_2$ .

The next step is to construct mutually disjoint canonical pairing tubes in M between the punctures in  $R_1$  and those in  $R_2$ . This construction proceeds as follows. Choose a puncture p in  $R_1$  and a small simple loop  $\gamma_1$  and  $R_1$  contractible to p. Because  $\Omega_2$ , as well as  $\Omega_1$ , is invariant under G, and in view of the observation above,  $\gamma_1$  is freely homotopic in M to a loop  $\gamma_2$  in  $R_2$ . By Lemma 1.6,  $\gamma_2$  can be taken as a simple loop which together with  $\gamma_1$  bounds a cylinder C in M. But since the inclusion  $\pi_1(S_1) \to \pi_1(\mathfrak{M})$  is an isomorphism, the hypotheses of Lemma 3.1 are satisfied. Consequently C pairs p with a uniquely determined puncture on  $R_2$ .

Continuing in this manner to obtain disjoint pairing tubes, and then using Lemma 2.2, we obtain mutually disjoint canonical pairing tube  $\mathcal{T}_i$ , pairing in M the totality of punctures in  $R_1$  with the totality of punctures in  $R_2$ .

**3.5.** Now (changing notation) let M denote the closure in  $\mathfrak{M}$  of  $\mathfrak{M} - N(C) - \bigcup \mathcal{T}_i$  and set  $R_1 = M \cap S_1$ ,  $R_2 = M \cap S_2$ . M has the properties (i)  $(\partial_0 M)^-$  is the union of cylinders  $((\partial_0 N(C))^-$  and  $(\partial_0 (\mathcal{T}_i)^-)$  and  $\partial M - (\partial_0 M)^-$  is the union of the homeomorphic planar regions  $R_1$  and  $R_2$ , (ii) each component of  $\pi^{-1}(M^0)$  is a topological ball and each component of  $\pi^{-1}(R_i)$  is simply connected, (iii) the inclusion  $\pi_1(R_i) \to \pi_1(M)$  is an isomorphism, i = 1, 2. (Recall  $\partial_0 M$  is the relative boundary of  $M \cap \mathfrak{M}^0$  in  $\mathfrak{M}^0$ .) To complete the proof it suffices to show that

(\*)  $M\cong R_{\scriptscriptstyle 1} imes [0,1]$  in such a way that  $(\partial_{\scriptscriptstyle 0} M)^-\cong \partial R_{\scriptscriptstyle 1} imes [0,1]$  .

It will then follow that  $\mathfrak{M}(G) \cong S_1 \times [0, 1]$ .

The proof of (\*) proceeds by induction on the number of components of  $\partial_0 M$  as M ranges over the set of submanifolds of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  which satisfy properties (i)-(iii) above. The case that  $\partial_0 M$  has one component has been settled in §3.3. Assuming that (\*) is true for those M such that  $\partial_0 M$  has n components, consider an M with  $\partial_0 M$  having n + 1 components.

Fix two (cylindrical) components  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$  of  $(\partial_0 M)^-$ . Choose three simple, closed arcs  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$ ,  $\alpha_3$  in  $\partial M$  as follows: (a)  $\alpha_1$  in  $C_1$  from a point  $p_1$  on  $C_1 \cap R_2$ to a point  $q_1$  on  $C_1 \cap R_1$ ; (b)  $\alpha_2$  in  $R_1$  from  $q_1$  to a point  $q_2$  on  $C_2 \cap R_1$ ; (c)  $\alpha_3$  in  $C_2$  from  $q_2$  to a point  $p_2$  on  $C_2 \cap R_2$ . We will show below that  $p_2$  can be connected to  $p_1$  by a simple arc in  $R_2$  such that the resulting simple loop  $\gamma$  is homotopic to a point in M. Note that  $\gamma$  is non-trivial in  $\partial M$  since  $C_1 - \gamma \cap C_1$ , for example, is connected.

Assuming that  $\gamma$  can be constructed as specified, by Lemma 1.4 the simple loop  $\gamma$  is the boundary of a closed disk D with  $D^{\circ} \subset M^{\circ}$ . Note that M-D is connected. Let N(D) be a regular neighborhood of D and denote by  $M_1$  the closure in M of M - N(D).  $M_1$  has the required topological properties (i), (ii), (iii) and  $(\partial_{\circ}M_1)^-$  is the union of n cylinders, so by the induction hypothesis, (\*) is true for  $M_1$ . Using our construction, we see that (\*) is true for M as well.

**3.6.** Let  $\alpha$  be the simple arc from  $p_1$  to  $p_2$ , constructed above, that consists of a segment  $\alpha_1$  in  $C_1$ , a segment  $\alpha_2$  in  $R_1$ , and a segment  $\alpha_3$  in  $C_2$ . Fix a component  $M^*$  of  $\pi^{-1}(M)$  and a component  $\alpha^*$  of  $\pi^{-1}(\alpha)$  in  $\partial M^*$ . Let  $p_1^*$ ,  $p_2^*$  denote the initial and terminal point of the simple arc  $\alpha^*$  and choose a simple arc  $\beta^*$  in  $R_2^*$  (= the component of  $\pi^{-1}(R_2)$  that lies in  $\partial M^*$ ) from  $p_2^*$  to  $p_1^*$ .

We claim that  $\beta^*$  can be suitably chosen so that  $\beta = \pi(\beta^*)$  is a simple arc in  $R_2$ . Since  $M^*$  is a ball and  $\gamma^* = \alpha^* \cup \beta^*$  a simple loop in  $\partial M^*$ , this will complete the proof of Lemma 3.3.

Because the proof uses standard techniques in surface topology (cf. [26]) we shall only provide an outline. Fix a set  $\Gamma$  of simple loops which are free generators of  $\pi_1(R_2^0 \cup \{p_2\}; p_2)$ . We may assume  $\beta = (\prod \beta_i) \cdot \beta_0$  where each  $\beta_i$ ,  $i \ge 1$ , is an element of  $\Gamma$  and  $\beta_0$  is a simple arc in  $R_2$  from  $p_2$  to  $p_1$ . Let  $\gamma_1^*$  be a lift  $\neq \gamma^*$  of  $\gamma = \pi(\gamma^*)$ ;  $\gamma_1^*$  is a simple loop.

By our construction  $\gamma_1^*$  can intersect  $\gamma^*$  only in the segment  $\beta^*$ . Now  $\beta^*$  divides  $R_2^*$  into two components. If  $\gamma_1^*$  meets both of these (open) components, there is a relatively compact region  $K_1^*$  in  $R_2^*$  such that  $\partial K_1^*$  consists of segments of  $\beta^*$  and of  $\gamma_1^*$ . At most a finite number of lifts of  $\gamma$  intersect  $K_1^*$ . Let  $K_2^*$  be a component of  $K_1^* - K_1^* \cap {\pi^-(\gamma)}$  and set  $K_2 = \pi(K_2^*)$ . Then  $K_2$  is a relatively compact region in  $R_2^0 \cup {p_2}$  bounded by some combination of elements of the set  ${\Gamma, \beta_0}$ . This is impossible since  $\Gamma$  is a set of free generators.

We conclude that no lift  $\neq \gamma^*$  of  $\gamma$  crosses  $\gamma^*$ . By analyzing the order in which the  $\beta_i$ ,  $i \ge 0$ , comprising  $\beta$  appear about the point  $p_2$ , it follows that  $\beta$  must be homotopic to a simple arc in  $R_2$ .

**3.7.** PROPOSITION 3.4. Given a quasi-fuchsian group G there exists a fuchsian group H and a quasiconformal diffeomorphim  $f: \mathfrak{M}(H) \to \mathfrak{M}(G)$ .

*Proof.* Lemma 3.3 says that if  $S_1 = \Omega_1/G$  then  $\mathfrak{M}(G) \cong S_1 \times [0, 1]$ . Let H be a fuchsian group such that  $\Delta/H$  is quasiconformally equivalent to  $S_1$ , where  $\Delta$  is the open unit disk. Then also  $\mathfrak{M}(H) \cong S_1 \times [0, 1]$  (all homeomorphisms are orientation preserving).

Case 1.  $S_1$  is compact. Starting with a homeomorphism  $\mathfrak{M}(H) \to \mathfrak{M}(G)$ , Lemma 1.18 gives a diffeomorphism  $f: \mathfrak{M}(H) \to \mathfrak{M}(G)$ . In this case f is automatically quasiconformal.

Case 2. For simplicity of notation assume  $S_1$  has only one puncture. Thus there are two punctures on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(H)$  and these are paired. Fix four nested and smoothed canonical pairing tubes  $\mathcal{T}_i$  in  $\mathfrak{M}(H)$  such that  $\mathcal{T}_{i+1} \subset \mathcal{T}_i^{\mathfrak{q}}$ ,  $1 \leq i \leq 3$ . Take  $\mathcal{T}_1$  sufficiently thin so that there exists a conformal map  $\chi$  which maps each  $\mathcal{T}_i$  onto a smoothed canonical pairing tube  $\mathcal{T}'_i$  in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ . In addition  $\chi$  can be chosen to satisfy  $\mathcal{T}_i \cap (\Delta/H) \to \mathcal{T}'_i \cap S_1$ . By Lemma 1.17 there exists a  $C^{\infty}$  triangulation of  $\mathfrak{M}(H)$  which restricts to a triangulation of each  $\mathcal{T}_i$ . Using  $\chi$  the triangulation of  $\mathcal{T}_1$  determines a triangulation of  $\mathcal{T}'_1$  and then all  $\mathcal{T}'_i$ . Applying [44, § 10.7] the restriction of this particular triangulation to  $\mathcal{T}'_2$  can in turn be extended to a  $C^{\infty}$  triangulation of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ .  $\chi: \mathcal{T}_2 \to \mathcal{T}'_2$  is PL. From now on however we will restrict  $\chi$  to  $\mathcal{T}_3$ .

The proof of Lemma 3.3 shows that there exists a PL homeomorphism  $f: \mathfrak{M}(H) - \mathcal{T}_2^{\circ} \to \mathfrak{M}(G) - \mathcal{T}_2^{\circ \circ}$  which sends  $(\partial_0 \mathcal{T}_2)^- \to (\partial_0 \mathcal{T}_2')^-$  and  $(\partial_0 \mathcal{T}_2)^- \cap (\Delta/H) \to (\partial_0 \mathcal{T}_2')^- \cap S_1$ . Now apply the PL version of Lemma 1.16 to interpolate in  $\mathcal{T}_2 - \mathcal{T}_3^{\circ}$  between the maps f on the cylinder  $(\partial_0 \mathcal{T}_2)^-$  and  $\chi$  on  $(\partial_0 \mathcal{T}_3)^-$ . This gives us a PL homeomorphism  $g: \mathfrak{M}(H) \to \mathfrak{M}(G)$  with  $g = \chi$  in  $\mathcal{T}_3$ .

Of course g is also a quasiconformal map. To get a quasiconformal map which is a diffeomorphism, apply Lemma 1.18 to obtain h such that  $h = \chi$  in  $\mathcal{T}_4$ .

COROLLARY 3.5 (Maskit [36]). If G is a quasi-fuchsian group, there is a fuchsian group H and a quasiconformal map of  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$  onto itself which induces an isomorphism  $G \to H$ .

*Proof.* Lift the quasiconformal map given by Proposition 3.4 to  $\mathfrak{B} \cup \Omega(H)$  and apply Gehring's theorem.

## 4. Fundamental polyhedra

4.1. Fix a point  $0 \in \mathfrak{B}$ . To each T in a kleinian group G,  $T \neq id.$ , corresponds the hyperbolic plane

$$H(T) = H(T; 0) = \{p \in \mathfrak{B} : d(0, p) = d(p, T(0)) = d(0, T^{-1}(p))\}$$

where d is the hyperbolic distance in  $\mathfrak{B}$ . We note that  $H(T)^- \cap H(T^{-1})^-$  is empty if T is hyperbolic, is a point p if T is parabolic with fixed point p, but otherwise is an arc of a circle orthogonal to  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$ , or a point on  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$ .

The convex polyhedron

$$\mathscr{P}_{0} = \{p \in \mathfrak{R} : d(0, p) \leq d(p, T(0)) \text{ for all } T \in G\},\$$

which is relatively closed in  $\mathfrak{B}$  is a "fundamental region" for G in  $\mathfrak{B}$  and will be called a *Poincaré fundamental polyhedron* for G with *center* at 0. Its faces are arranged in distinct pairs (f, f') where Tf' = f for some  $T \in G$  and  $f' \subset H(T^{-1}), f \in H(T)$ . In fact  $\mathcal{P}_0$  may be equally well defined as the intersection

$$\mathscr{P}_0 = \bigcap_{T \in \mathcal{G}} \mathscr{H}(T)$$

where  $\mathcal{H}(T)$  is the closed half space in  $\mathcal{B}$  determined by the plane H(T) and containing 0.

We will always work with  $\mathcal{P}$ , the euclidean closure of  $\mathcal{P}_0$  in  $\mathfrak{B}^-$ .  $\mathcal{P} \cap \Omega(G)$  is a fundamental set for G in  $\Omega(G)$ .  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  is the manifold resulting from identification of the opposite faces of  $\mathcal{P} \cap (\mathfrak{B} \cup \Omega(G))$ . This will be considered in much greater detail in Chapter 9.

4.2. Among the properties of  $\mathcal{P}$  that we need, the following is not too familiar.

LEMMA 4.1. Assume that the polyhedron  $\mathcal{P}$  for any choice of center has a finite number of faces. Then the center 0 can be chosen so that

(i) no two parabolic fixed points in  $\mathcal{P}$  are equivalent under G.

If  $p \in \mathcal{P}$  is a parabolic fixed point and  $M_p$  the maximal parabolic subgroup at p,

(ii) if  $M_p$  is cyclic then p lies on exactly two faces of  $\mathcal{P}$  which are tangent at p and paired by a generator of  $M_p$ ,

(iii) otherwise p lies on exactly four faces of  $\mathcal{P}$ , the opposite faces of each pair are tangent at p and are paired by a generator of  $M_p$ ,

(iv)  $p \notin H(T)^-$  for all  $T \in G$ ,  $T \notin M_p$ .

Proof. We will outline the proof as follows. If T is loxodromic or parabolic but not in  $M_p$  and the parabolic fixed point p lies in  $H(T)^-$ , then there is a uniquely determined hyperbolic plane  $H_1(T; p)$  orthogonal to H(T) with 0,  $T(0) \in H_1(T; p)$ . The equation of  $H_1(T; p)$  depends on p and T but not on 0. In fact if T = (az + b)/(cz + d) acts in upper half space and  $p = \infty$  then  $H_1(T; p) = \{(x, y, \xi), z = x + iy: |c|^2 \xi + |cz + d|^2 = 1, \xi > 0\}$  where  $c \neq 0$  since T cannot share a fixed point with a parabolic transformation in  $M_p$ . Observe that any point  $0_1 \in H_1(T; p)$  has the property that p lies on the plane  $H(T; 0_1)^$ since  $T: 0_1 = (z_0, \xi_0) \to (T(z_0), \xi_0)$  (see [13, p. 159]).

There are countably many transformations in G and countably many planes  $H_1(T; p)$ . The orbit under G of these planes yields the planes for the conjugacy class of p. Do this for each of the countable number (actually we will show below there are a finite number) of conjugacy classes of parabolic fixed points to obtain in the end a countable system of planes in  $\mathcal{B}$ . As long as we choose the point 0 so that it does not lie on any of these planes, the corresponding polyhedron  $\mathcal{P}$  will have the desired properties.

4.3. The following result is the bridge between statements about the group G and statements about the manifold  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ . Recall that  $\partial_0\mathfrak{M}_0$  denotes the relative boundary of  $\mathfrak{M}_0 \cap \mathfrak{M}(G)^\circ$  in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)^\circ$  for a submanifold  $\mathfrak{M}_0$ .

**PROPOSITION 4.2.** G has a finite sided Poincaré fundamental polyhedron  $\mathfrak{Q}$  if and only if there is a compact submanifold  $\mathfrak{M}_0$  of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  such that each component of  $(\partial_0 \mathfrak{M}_0)^-$  is either a canonical cusp torus or a canonical cylinder pairing two punctures on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  (cf. §§ 2.5, 2.6). If one Poincaré polyhedron is finite sided, they all are.

In particular each component of  $\mathfrak{M} - \mathfrak{M}_0$  is homeomorphic either to  $\{0 < |z| < 1\} \times [0, 1]$  or to  $\{0 < |z| < 1\} \times S^1$ .

*Proof.* Assume first that  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  has the structure described but  $\mathfrak{Q}$  has an infinite number of faces. Then there is a component  $\eta$  of  $\mathfrak{M} - \mathfrak{M}_0$  which contains the projection of infinitely many faces of  $\mathfrak{Q}$ . Because any given compact set in  $\mathfrak{B} \cup \Omega(G)$  is covered by a finite number of images of  $\mathfrak{Q}$  under G, the projections of only a finite number of faces of  $\mathfrak{Q}$  intersect  $\partial_0 \eta$ . Consequently there is a component  $R_1$  of  $\eta - \eta \cap \pi(\partial_0 \mathfrak{Q})$  which contains infinitely many of the projected faces in  $\pi(\partial_0 \mathfrak{Q})$  in its boundary ( $\partial_0 \mathfrak{Q}$  is the relative boundary of  $\mathfrak{Q} \cap \mathfrak{B}$  in  $\mathfrak{B}$ ).

Set  $R_1^* = \pi^{-1}(R_1) \cap \mathcal{Q}$ .  $R_1^*$  is contained in a component  $\eta^*$  of  $\{\pi^{-1}(\eta)\}$  and therefore uniquely determines a maximal parabolic subgroup  $M_p$  of G whose common fixed point p lies in the closure of  $R_1^*$  in  $\mathfrak{B}^-$ . In fact if 0 is the center of  $\mathfrak{Q}$ , then  $R_1^*$  is contained in the cusp

$$C_p(0) = \{x \in \mathfrak{B} : d(0, x) \leq d(x, T(0)) \text{ for all } T \in M_p\}$$

If  $\{f_n\}$  is an infinite sequence of faces of  $\mathfrak{Q}$  contained in  $\partial_0 R_1^*$  then  $\lim f_n = p$ . An infinite number of the opposite faces  $\{f'_n\}$  cannot also bound  $R_1^*$  since  $T(\eta^*) \cap \eta^* = \emptyset$  for all  $T \notin M_p$ . Consequently there is another component  $R_2 \neq R_1$  of  $\eta - \eta \cap \pi(\partial_0 \mathfrak{Q})$  whose lift  $R_2^*$  to  $\mathfrak{Q}$  contains (as we may assume) the opposite faces  $\{f'_n\}$  in its boundary. Like  $R_1^*$ ,  $R_2^*$  determines a maximal parabolic subgroup  $M_q$ ,  $q \neq p$ .

Let  $\{S_n\}$  denote the necessarily distinct transformations in G which pair  $f_n$  and  $f'_n: S_n(f'_n) = f_n$ . Then  $M_q$  is conjugate in G to  $M_p$  and in fact  $M_q = S_n^{-1}M_pS_n$  since a conjugating transformation is determined by any arc in  $\pi(\mathfrak{Q}^0)$  which connects the opposite sides of any  $\pi(f_n)$ .

Moreover, the regions  $R_1^*$  and  $S_1(R_2^*)$  which are adjacent along  $f_1$  must lie in  $C_1 = C_p(0) \cup C_p(S_1(0))$ .  $C_1$  in turn is contained in a finite number of images of  $C_p(0)$  under  $M_p$ . This implies  $T(C_1) \cap C_1 \neq \emptyset$  for at most a finite number of elements of  $M_p$ . But each  $S_n S_1^{-1}$  is in  $M_p$  and  $S_n S_1^{-1}(C_1) \cap C_1 \neq \emptyset$ . We conclude that at most a finite number of  $S_n S_1^{-1}$  can be distinct, which is impossible.

The converse is more classical. Suppose 2 has a finite number of sides. Only parabolic fixed points can lie in 2, for the non-euclidean line joining two fixed points of  $T \in G$  is preserved by T. In particular each limit point of Gin  $\mathfrak{Q}$  lies on the boundary of a face. A standard argument (see [18]) shows that a limit point  $p \in \mathfrak{Q}$  is a parabolic fixed point and furthermore  $N \cap C_p(0)$ , where N is a small neighborhood of p in  $\mathfrak{B}^-$ , is covered by a finite number of images of  $\mathfrak{Q}$  under G. The desired result is clear if  $M_p$  is of rank two. If  $M_p$ is infinite cyclic,  $N \cap C_p(0)^- \cap \partial \mathfrak{B} - \{p\}$  lies in  $\Omega(G)$  and projects to  $U_1 \cup U_2$ , where  $U_i$  is a neighborhood of a puncture in  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ .

4.4. The proof above works for any non-euclidean fundamental polyhedron  $\mathcal{P}$  which has the face-pairing properties of  $\mathfrak{Q}$ , the property that only a finite number of images of  $\mathcal{P}$  under G intersect any given compact set in  $B \cup \Omega(G)$ , and the following property which was critical for our proof: If  $p \in \mathcal{P}$  is a parabolic fixed point, then  $\mathcal{P}$  is contained in a finite number of images of  $C_p(0')$  under  $M_p$  for some, and hence any,  $0' \in \mathfrak{R}$ . No doubt this last condition can be weakened, perhaps entirely eliminated, but in any case it is satisfied by the usual "canonical" fundamental polyhedra.

We note that the Poincaré polyhedron with center at the origin of  $\mathfrak{B}$  was called the isometric fundamental polyhedron by Ahlfors [3]. He described it as the set of those  $x \in \mathfrak{B} \cup \Omega(G)$  for which  $|A'(x)| \leq 1$  for all  $A \neq id$  in G. Here |A'(x)| denotes the linear ratio |dA(x)|/|dx| which is independent of direction.

Proposition 4.3 can be expressed in terms of the classical isometric fundamental region of Ford [14]. We define the *closed* isometric fundamental set as

$$I(G) = \{ z \in \mathrm{C} \colon |T'(z)| \leq 1 \hspace{0.2cm} ext{for all} \hspace{0.2cm} T \in G \} \hspace{0.2cm} ,$$

assuming of course that  $\infty \in \Omega(G)$ .

COROLLARY 4.4. I(G) has the following two properties if and only if  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  has the structure described in Proposition 4.3. (i) I(G) is the union of a finite number of finite sided circular polygons and at most a finite number of isolated points, and (ii) to each  $p \in I(G)$  corresponds a neighborhood N on  $\partial B$  such that  $N - N \cap I(G)$  can be covered by the interiors of a finite number of isometric circles.

*Proof.* I(G) is the set of points lying in the closed exterior of each isometric circle  $\{z \in \mathbb{C}: |T'(z)| = 1, T \neq \text{id}, T \in G\}$ . Identify  $\mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\}$  with  $\partial \mathcal{B}$ . Each circle extends to a sphere orthogonal to  $\partial \mathcal{B}$ . Let  $I^*(G)$  denote the set of points in  $\mathcal{B}^-$  which lie in the closure of the exterior of every one of these spheres. With a natural interpretation  $I^*(G)$  can be said to be a fundamental polyhedron for G. If  $I(G) = I^*(G) \cap \partial \mathcal{B}$  satisfies (i) and (ii),  $I^*(G)$  can have

only a finite number of faces in  $\mathcal{B}$  and the converse is clear as well. The proof of Proposition 4.3 applies to  $I^*(G)$  and Corollary 4.4 is true as a consequence.

**4.5.** COROLLARY 4.5. If  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  has the structure described by Proposition 4.3, then the limit set  $\Lambda(G)$  of G has 2-dimensional Lebesgue area zero.

*Proof.* This follows from the remark in §4.4 and the result of Ahlfors [3] that if the isometric fundamental polyhedron has a finite number of sides, then  $\Lambda(G)$  has area zero.

For more general kleinian groups, the area of  $\Lambda(G)$  is not known.

4.6. We conclude with an important negative result of L. Greenberg which is a Corollary of Lemma 1.3.

COROLLARY 4.6 (Greenberg [18]). A degenerate group cannot have a finite sided fundamental polyhedron.

Proof. If G is degenerate with a finite sided fundamental polyhedron then  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  must be compact. For the classical half of Proposition 4.3 shows that a parabolic fixed point corresponds to two punctures  $p_1$ ,  $p_2$  in  $\Omega(G)/G =$  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  (degenerate groups have no free abelian subgroups of rank 2). Furthermore, small circles  $c_1$ ,  $c_2$  about  $p_1$ ,  $p_2$  respectively are freely homotopic in  $\mathfrak{M}$  and hence in  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  because the inclusion  $\pi_1(\partial \mathfrak{M}) \to \pi_1(\mathfrak{M})$  is an isomorphism. This is impossible since G is not cyclic. Thus  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  is compact. Now Lemma 1.3 is applicable and shows that dim  $H_1(\mathfrak{M}) = g$ , which is impossible.

4.7. Suppose more generally that G is a discrete group. Exactly as above a Poincaré fundamental polyhedron  $\mathcal{P}$  can be constructed. The following result has been proven by Lie group methods.

LEMMA 4.7 (Selberg [48], Garland-Raghunathan [15]). If  $\mathcal{P}$  has finite hyperbolic volume then  $\mathcal{P}$  has a finite number of faces.

COROLLARY 4.8. *P* has finite hyperbolic volume if and only if there is a compact submanifold  $\mathfrak{M}_0$  of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  with each component of  $\mathfrak{M}(G) - \mathfrak{M}_0^\circ$  a canonical solid cusp torus (§ 2.5).

#### 5. Function groups

5.1. In this chapter we will analyze those manifolds  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  that arise from a function group G. This is of interest in itself but also the topological methods employed here are required in the more general situation of Chapter 6.

We recall that G is a function group if a component  $\Omega_0$  of  $\Omega(G)$  is invariant under G. Special cases are quasi-fuchsian groups and B-groups defined below. Definition. A function group G is a B-group if an invariant component  $\Omega_0$  of  $\Omega(G)$  is simply connected.

The analysis of B-groups, which occupies most of this chapter, is the 3dimensional analogue of Maskit's fundamental work [36].

Notation for Chapter 5. Given a function group G and an invariant component  $\Omega_0$  of  $\Omega(G)$ , set  $S = \Omega_0/G$  and denote the remaining components  $(\Omega(G) - \Omega_0)/G$  of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  by  $S_1, S_2, \cdots$ . When only one group G is under discussion we will frequently write  $\mathfrak{M}$  for  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ .

5.2. The fact that G is a function group is characterized by the property that the inclusion map  $\pi_1(S) \to \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}(G))$  is surjective. This basic property allows enormous simplification in the structure of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ .

It is also true that each of the inclusion maps  $\pi_1(S_k) \to \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}(G))$  is injective, i.e., each component of  $\pi^{-1}(S_k)$  is simply connected. To prove this one can either appeal to Accola [1] or use the following topological argument. If an inclusion  $\pi_1(S_k) \to \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}(G))$  is not injective by Lemma 1.4 there exists a simple loop  $\gamma \subset S_k$  which bounds a disk  $D \subset \mathfrak{M}$  with  $D \cap \mathfrak{M} = \gamma$ . Now D divides  $\mathfrak{M}$  since  $H_1(\mathfrak{M})$  is generated by cycles on S (which are therefore disjoint from D). Let R be the component of  $S_k - \gamma$  which D separates from S. Then every loop in R is freely homotopic to a loop in S, hence to a loop on D, and therefore to a point in  $\mathfrak{M}$ . This implies that each component of  $\pi^{-1}(R^0)$  is homeomorphic to  $R^0$ ; the only possibility is that R is a disk.

5.3. Case 1. G is a B-group. This case is characterized by the fact that the inclusion homomorphism  $\pi_1(S) \to \pi_1(\mathfrak{M})$  is actually an isomorphism. In the course of our analysis we shall prove in particular the following result.

PROPOSITION 5.1. Let G be a B-group. Either G contains a degenerate group or  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  has the following structure. There are a finite number of mutually disjoint tubes  $\mathcal{T}_i$  in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  which pair some of the punctures of  $\bigcup S_k$ such that if  $\mathfrak{M}_0 = (\mathfrak{M} - \bigcup \mathcal{T}_i)^-$ , then  $\mathfrak{M}_0 \cong S \times [0, 1]$ . In particular  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_0$ is the union of S and a surface homeomorphic to S.

We will first dispose of two special cases. The first is that some  $S_k$  is compact. In this case, G is a quasi-fuchsian group. Indeed,  $\pi_1(S_k)$  is isomorphic to a subgroup of  $\pi_1(S)$ . Since subgroups of free groups are free,  $\pi_1(S)$  cannot be a free group; therefore S is also a compact surface. Exactly the analysis used to investigate quasi-fuchsian groups shows that  $\mathfrak{M} \cong S \times [0, 1]$  and therefore that G is quasi-fuchsian.

5.4. Before proceeding to the second special case we have to show that there are at most a finite number of components  $S_k$  and each of these is a

finitely punctured compact surface. Of course this is a consequence of the finiteness theorem but the methods that are involved in the topological proof are also important in future work. By Lemma 1.2 the genus of  $\bigcup S_k$  is finite.

The cylinder theorem (Lemma 1.6) implies that to each non-trivial simple loop  $\gamma'$  on  $S_k$  corresponds a simple loop  $\gamma$  on S which together with  $\gamma'$  bounds a cylinder C in  $\mathfrak{M}$ . Let M be a component of  $\mathfrak{M} - C$ . Each component  $M^*$ of  $\pi^{-1}(M^0)$  is a topological ball (Lemma 1.12) and the component of  $\pi^{-1}(\partial M \cap S)$ contained in  $\partial M^*$  is simply connected. The same is true of the components of  $\pi^{-1}(\partial M \cap S_k)$  in  $\partial M^*$ . Therefore, if  $\gamma_1$  is a non-trivial simple loop in  $\partial M \cap S_k$ ,  $\gamma_1$  is not only freely homotopic in  $\mathfrak{M}$  to a loop in S, but is freely homotopic in M to a loop in  $\partial M \cap S$ . This argument may be extended so as to conclude that, given mutually disjoint, non-trivial simple loops  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \cdots$  in  $S_k$  there exist mutually disjoint cylinders  $C_1, C_2, \cdots$ , in  $\mathfrak{M}$  which are bounded by  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \cdots$  together with simple loops on S.

Now there are only a finite number of mutually disjoint simple loops on S, no two of which are freely homotopic. Suppose  $\gamma_1$ ,  $\gamma_2$  are two non-trivial simple loops on  $S_k$  which are not freely homotopic on  $S_k$ . If  $\gamma_1$  and  $\gamma_2$  are freely homotopic to loops on S which are freely homotopic on S then  $\gamma_1$  and  $\gamma_2$  are freely homotopic in  $\mathfrak{M}$ . By Lemma 3.1 this implies  $\gamma_1$  and  $\gamma_2$  are retractible on  $S_k$  to distinct punctures. It follows that  $S_k$  is a finitely punctured compact surface.

The same argument shows there are only a finite number of punctures on  $\bigcup S_k$  and therefore there are only a finite number of components  $S_k$ .

5.5. Before dealing with the second special case we will introduce the following definition.

Definition. A loop  $\gamma$  in S determines an accidental parabolic transformation  $T \in G$  if T is a parabolic transformation determined by  $\gamma$  (cf. §2.2), yet  $\gamma$  is not retractible to a puncture in S.

Suppose there is a component, say  $S_1$ , of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$ ,  $S_1 \neq S$ , with the following property: none of those loops on S which are freely homotopic to loops on  $S_1$  determines an accidental parabolic transformation. Then G is a quasi-fuchsian group.

Assume  $S_1$  has punctures, for otherwise §5.3 shows that G is quasifuchsian. Since there are no accidental parabolic transformations determined on S, every puncture on  $S_1$  is paired with a puncture on S. More generally every loop on  $S_1$  is freely homotopic to a loop on S. Now the topological situation is identical to that involved in Lemma 3.3, Case 2. That proof applies to show  $\mathfrak{M} \cong S \times [0, 1] \cong S_1 \times [0, 1]$ . 5.6. We shall now return to our analysis of a general *B*-group *G*. Assume that no  $S_k$  is compact. Take a small simple loop  $c_j$  about each puncture on  $\bigcup S_k$  and draw a cylinder  $c_j$  in  $\mathfrak{M}$  bounded by  $c_j$  and a simple loop  $c'_j$  on *S*.  $c_j$  determines a conjugacy class of accidental parabolic transformations in *G* if and only if  $c'_j$  is not contractible in *S* to a puncture. We can take the  $C_j$  to be mutually disjoint.

If  $c'_i$  and  $c'_j$  are freely homotopic on S then they bound an annulus in S. Replace  $c'_j$  by  $c'_i$  so that  $C_i \cap C_j \cap S = c'_i$ . Observe that when it is moved slightly away from S,  $C_i \cup C_j$  becomes a cylinder pairing two punctures on  $\bigcup S_k$ .

Let M be a component of  $\mathfrak{M} - \bigcup C_j$ . Note that it is conceivable that a  $C_j$  does not separate  $\mathfrak{M}$  and therefore the two "sides" of  $C_j$  may comprise two of the relative boundary components of M in  $\mathfrak{M}$ . However, we will soon find that this possibility does not occur (although  $\partial M \cap S$  may lie on both sides of the loop  $C_j \cap S$  because of our convention setting  $c'_i = c'_j$  as above).

Fix a component  $M^*$  of  $\pi^{-1}(M^0)$ . Then  $M^*$  is a topological ball because  $M^*$  is obtained from  $\mathfrak{B}$  by dividing  $\mathfrak{B}$ , in general infinitely often, by the components of  $\pi^{-1}(C_j^0)$  which are simply connected (Lemma 1.12). For the same reason we see that  $\partial M^* \cap \Omega_0$  is connected and simply connected. Consequently  $M \cap S$  is connected.

An immediate consequence is that the inclusion  $\pi_1(M \cap S) \to \pi_1(M)$  is an isomorphism. For since  $\partial M^* \cap \Omega_0$  is simply connected, this inclusion is injective. And because any element of G that preserves  $M^*$  must also preserve  $\partial M^* \cap \Omega_0$ , it is also surjective.

Moreover,  $M \cap S$  is not a neighborhood of a puncture on S unless  $M^$ itself is a tube pairing a puncture on S with a puncture on  $\bigcup S_k$ . For in this case  $\partial(M \cap \mathcal{B})$  is one of the cylinders, say  $C_1^\circ$ .  $C_1$  must separate  $\mathfrak{M}$  since a set of generators for  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M})$  lies in  $\mathfrak{M} - C_1$ . Now apply Lemma 3.1.

Suppose then that  $M^-$  is not a pairing tube. Set  $R = M \cap S$  and assume  $\partial M$  contains a component  $R_1$  of  $M \cap (\bigcup S_j)$  which is not the neighborhood of a puncture (the other case will be analyzed in §5.8). For some k,  $R_1 \subset S_k$ . Each component of  $S_k - R_1^-$  is the neighborhood of a puncture. We have yet to rule out the possibility that  $\partial M$  contains both "sides" of some  $C_j$ ; in this case the neighborhood of a puncture on  $S_k$  may also appear as a component of  $M \cap S_k$ .

Denote by  $R^*$  the component of  $\pi^{-1}(R)$  in  $\partial M^*$  and let  $R_1^*$  be a component of  $\pi^{-1}(R_1)$  in  $\partial M^*$ ; both are simply connected. Let  $G_0$  be the subgroup of Gwhich preserves  $M^*$ .  $G_0$  is also the subgroup of G that preserves  $R^*$ . Consequently the regular set  $\Omega(G_0)$  has a simply connected invariant component  $\omega_0$  which contains  $R^*$ . We see that  $\omega_0/G_0$  is obtained from R by adjoining once punctured disks to the components of  $\partial R$  (two components of  $\partial R$  may consist of the opposite "sides" of some loop  $C_j \cap S$ ).

Some component  $\omega_1$  of  $\Omega(G_0)$  contains  $R_1^*$ . In fact  $\omega_1$  is identical with the component  $\Omega_1$  of  $\pi^{-1}(S_k)$  that contains  $R_1^*$ . For every transformation of G that keeps  $\Omega_1$  invariant also keeps  $R_1^*$  invariant.

Denote the natural projection  $\mathfrak{B} \cup \Omega(G_0) \to \mathfrak{M}(G_0)$  by  $\mathfrak{p}$ . Every loop in  $\mathfrak{p}(\omega_1)$  is freely homotopic in  $\mathfrak{M}(G_0)$  to a loop in  $\mathfrak{p}(\omega_0) = \omega_0/G_0$ . In addition, by our construction, no loop in  $\mathfrak{p}(\omega_1)$  determines an accidental parabolic transformation (with respect to  $\mathfrak{p}(\omega_0)$ ) in  $G_0$ . Hence  $G_0$  is a quasi-fuchsian group (§ 5.5).

We conclude that  $\Omega(G_0) = \omega_0 \cup \omega_1$  and M is just  $\mathfrak{M}(G_0)$  less a finite number of tubes which pair all the punctures. That is,  $M \cong R \times [0, 1]$  in such a way that R corresponds to  $R \times \{0\}$ ,  $R_1$  to  $R \times \{1\}$  and a union of  $C_j$  to  $\partial R \times [0, 1]$ .

In other words if  $S'_k$  is the component of  $S_k - S_k \cap (\bigcup C_j)$  which is not the neighborhood of a puncture, then  $S'_k$  is paired with a uniquely determined component of  $S - S \cap (\bigcup C_j)$ .

5.7. Before analyzing those components M such that every component of  $M \cap (\bigcup S_i)$  is the neighborhood of a puncture, we simplify the picture as follows: Each  $C_i$  either pairs a puncture on S with a puncture on  $S_k$  or else pairs a simple loop on S not retractible to a puncture with a puncture p on some  $S_k$ . Remove all cylinders which satisfy the former condition. For the latter condition there may also be another cylinder  $C_j \neq C_i$  that pairs  $\partial C_i \cap S$ with a puncture  $p' \neq p$  on  $\bigcup S_k$ . (p and p' do not necessarily lie on different components of  $\bigcup S_k$ .) In this case replace the two cylinders  $C_i$ ,  $C_j$  by a single canonical pairing cylinder and canonical tube  $\mathcal{T}$  pairing p and p'. Repeating this process as often as possible, we end up with a finite number of canonical pairing tubes  $\{\mathcal{T}_i\}$  pairing only punctures on  $\bigcup S_k$ . The  $\mathcal{T}_i$  may be assumed to be mutually disjoint and disjoint also from those cylinders  $C_j$  which have not been eliminated.

Set  $\mathfrak{M}' = (\mathfrak{M} - \bigcup \mathcal{T}_i)^-$ . Let N be a component of  $\mathfrak{M}' - \bigcup C_j$  (these are the cylinders remaining after the elimination process above). No component of  $N \cap S$  is the neighborhood of a puncture. We claim that there are two possibilities for N.

The first is that  $\partial N$  is the union of a component R of  $S - S \cap (\bigcup C_j)$ , a component  $R_1$  of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}' - \partial \mathfrak{M}' \cap (\bigcup C_j)$  disjoint from R, and some of the cylinders  $C_j$ , in such a way that  $N \cong R \times [0, 1]$  where R corresponds to  $R \times \{0\}$  and  $R_1$  to  $R \times \{1\}$ . The second possibility for N is that every compo-

nent of  $N \cap (\bigcup S_k)$  is the neighborhood of a puncture and  $\partial N$  is the union of these neighborhoods, a component R of  $S - S \cap (\bigcup C_j)$ , and some cylinders  $C_j$ .

Suppose not every component of  $N \cap (\bigcup S_k)$  is the neighborhood of a puncture. The proof that the first possibility holds can be accomplished in either of two ways, neither of which we will carry out in detail. One method of proof is to show exactly how N is formed from the components M of § 5.6, namely by pasting together adjacent components of  $\mathfrak{N} - \bigcup C_j$  (notation of § 5.6). Another method is to note that the topological methods of § 5.6 can be applied without change to N in place of M there. That is, fix a component  $N^*$  of  $\pi^{-1}(N^0)$  and consider the subgroup  $G_0$  of G that stabilizes  $N^*$ . One shows that  $\partial N^* \cap (\mathfrak{B} \cup \Omega(G))$  is the union of

(a) two simply connected regions invariant under  $G_0$ , one  $R^*$  a component of  $\pi^{-1}(R)$ , the other  $R_1^*$  of  $\pi^{-1}(R_1)$ , and

(b) a collection of components of  $\{\pi^{-1}(C_j)\}$ .

Furthermore,  $N^* \cup R^* \cup R_1^*/G_0 \cong R \times [0, 1] \cong R_1 \times [0, 1]$ . A close analogy with a quasi-fuchsian group can be made if one enlarges N, and correspondingly  $N^*$ , by adjoining to N along each of those cylinders  $C_j$  which appear in  $\partial N$ a tube pairing two punctures in  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G_0)$ . Denoting the enlarged N by  $N_1$ ,  $\mathfrak{M}(G_0) - N_1$  consists of tubes pairing punctures on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G_0)$ . In general,  $G_0$  is not itself quasi-fuchsian.

5.8. Finally we have to deal with the case that  $\partial N$  is the union of  $N \cap S$ (which is connected), certain cylinders which we may label  $C_i, \dots, C_m$ , and the neighborhoods  $U_i$  of the punctures  $p_i$  on  $\bigcup S_k$  which are bounded by the simple loops  $C_i \cap (\bigcup S_k)$ ,  $1 \leq i \leq m$ . For this case we must embark on a sequence of modifications. A rough description of the first of these is as follows. Shrink each  $U_i$  to  $p_i$  and correspondingly modify  $C_i$ , changing it to  $C'_i$ , so as to end up with N' where  $N' \cap S = N \cap S$ ,  $N' \cap (\bigcup S_k) = \emptyset$  and each component  $C'_i$  of  $\partial N' - N' \cap S$  is a half open cylinder  $\{z \in \mathbb{C} : 0 < |z| \leq 1\}$ .

Specifically we can proceed as follows. Insert in M mutually disjoint,



doubly infinite cylinders  $\chi_i$  corresponding to the punctures  $p_i$  (§ 2.5). These can be made sufficiently small so as to lie in N. Change  $C_i$  to  $\hat{C}_i \subset N^-$  which differs from  $C_i$  in that instead of terminating at  $C_i \cap (\bigcup S_k)$  (which is contractible to  $p_i$ ), it terminates at a simple loop  $\hat{C}_i \cap \chi_i$ . Take  $\hat{C}_i$  so that  $\hat{C}_i \cap C_i =$  $C_i \cap S$ . Then  $\hat{C}_i \subset N^-$ . There is a closed, half infinite section  $\chi'_i$  of  $\chi_i$  bounded by  $\hat{C}_i \cap \chi_i$  such that  $C'_i = \hat{C}_i \cup \chi'_i$  has the following property.  $C_i \cup C'_i$  bounds a subregion  $U'_i$  of N which is retractible in N onto  $U_i$ . Set  $N' = N - \bigcup U'_i$ . Then  $\partial N'$  is the union of  $N \cap S$  and the half infinite cylinders  $C'_i$ .

Definition.  $\partial N'$  will be called a *punctured* compact surface. The open cylinders  $C'_i$  are neighborhoods of the punctures  $p'_i$  on  $\partial N'$ . The cylinder  $C_i \cup \hat{C}_i$  pairs  $p_i$  and  $p'_i$ .

Now making changes only near  $N' \cap S$  we want to "lift" N' slightly away from S so that N' becomes a non-compact submanifold  $\mathfrak{M}_1$  of  $\mathfrak{M}$  whose boundary  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_1$  is contained in  $\mathfrak{M}^0$ . There is a minor complication in carrying this out because  $N' \cap S$  itself may have punctures  $q_j$ . This is dealt with in exactly the same manner as were the punctures on  $\bigcup S_k$  in the construction of the  $C'_i$  for N': i.e. doubly infinite cylinders associated with the  $q_j$  are inserted and  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_1$  is so chosen that a half infinite portion of each of these cylinders becomes a neighborhood of each of the "punctures"  $q'_j$  on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_1$ . The punctures  $q_j$  on S and  $q'_j$  on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_1$  can be paired by a cylinder indicated in the previous construction.

So we end up with a submanifold  $\mathfrak{M}_1$  of  $\mathfrak{M}$  such that

(i)  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_1$  is a non-compact incompressible surface in  $\mathfrak{M}^0$ , and

(ii) the inclusion  $\pi_1(\partial \mathfrak{M}_1) \rightarrow \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}_1)$  is an isomorphism.

Furthermore, we have defined the term "puncture" on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_1$  and each such puncture can be paired by a cylinder with a puncture on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$ .

**5.9.** LEMMA 5.2. Suppose G is a kleinian group and  $\eta$  is a submanifold of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  such that

(i)  $\partial \eta$  is a finitely punctured (in the sense of §5.8) compact surface in  $\mathfrak{M}^{\circ}$  which is incompressible and

(ii) the inclusion  $\pi_1(\partial \eta) \to \pi_1(\eta)$  is an isomorphism. Suppose  $\eta^*$  is a component of  $\pi^{-1}(\eta^{\circ})$  and  $G_0$  is the subgroup of G that preserves  $\eta^*$ . Then if  $G_0$  is a B-group,  $G_0$  is in addition a degenerate group (cf. §2.3).

Proof. The hypothesis implies that  $\partial \eta^* \cap \Omega(G) = \emptyset$ . Let  $\mathfrak{p}: \mathfrak{B} \cup \Omega(G_0) \to \mathfrak{M}(G_0)$  denote the natural projection. Then  $\mathfrak{p} \circ \pi^{-1}$  is a homeomorphism of  $\eta$  onto a submanifold of  $\mathfrak{M}(G_0)$  which we shall also denote by  $\eta$  (here  $\pi^{-1}$  denotes the 1 to  $\infty$  map  $\eta \to \eta^{*-} \cap \mathfrak{B}$ ). Consider the submanifold  $\eta_1 = \mathfrak{M}(G_0) - \eta^0$ .

The inclusions  $\pi_1(\partial \eta) \to \pi_1(\eta_1) \to \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}(G_0))$  are all isomorphisms since  $\partial \eta$ 

is incompressible. Therefore, there is only one component of  $\mathfrak{p}^{-1}(\partial \eta)$  and it is simply connected and contained in  $\partial \eta_1^*$  where  $\eta_1^*$  is the single component of  $\mathfrak{p}^{-1}(\eta_1^0)$ . Since  $G_0$  is a *B*-group, there is a simply connected invariant component  $\Omega_0(G_0)$  of  $\Omega(G_0)$  of necessity contained in  $\partial \eta_1^*$ . Thus the topological situation is identical to that of a quasi-fuchsian group with  $\eta_1^*$  replacing  $\mathfrak{B}$ and  $\mathfrak{p}^{-1}(\partial \eta)$ ,  $\Omega_0(G_0)$  serving as the invariant components for  $G_0$ . Furthermore, every ideal boundary component of  $\partial \eta$  is a puncture so the analogy includes even this. Consequently Lemma 3.3 holds for this situation and we conclude that  $\eta_1 \cong \partial \eta \times [0, 1]$ . In particular  $\Omega(G_0)$  has only one component,  $\Omega_0(G_0)$ , in  $\partial \eta_1^*$ . But since  $\partial \eta^*$  does not contain any components of  $\Omega(G_0)$  we see that  $\Omega_0(G_0)$  must be the only component. That is,  $G_0$  is degenerate.

*Remark.* If  $G_0$  is not known to be a *B*-group, then all we can assert about  $\eta_1$  is that it has the structure of a manifold associated with a *B*-group (and we are in the process of analyzing these). The component  $\mathfrak{p}^{-1}(\partial \eta)$  of  $\eta_1^*$ plays the role of an invariant, simply connected component of the "*B*-group",  $G_0$  acting in  $\eta_1^* \cup \mathfrak{p}^{-1}(\partial \eta) \cup \Omega(G_0)$ .

COROLLARY 5.3. Let  $\mathfrak{M}_1$  be the submanifold of G (here a B-group) constructed in § 5.8. Suppose  $G_0$  is the subgroup that preserves the component  $\mathfrak{M}_1^*$  of  $\pi^{-1}(\mathfrak{M}_1^0)$ . Then  $G_0$  is a degenerate group.

Proof. In order to apply Lemma 5.2 we need only check to see whether  $G_0$  itself is a *B*-group. Referring back to our construction,  $\mathfrak{M}_1^*$  is contained in a component  $N^*$  of  $\pi^{-1}(N^0)$  which is also preserved under  $G_0$  ( $\mathfrak{M}_1^0$  is topologically the same as  $N^0$  and in fact retractible onto  $N^0$ ).  $\partial N^*$  contains one component  $R^* \subset \pi^{-1}(R)$ ,  $R = N \cap S$ , and this too is preserved under  $G_0$  since the inclusion  $\pi_1(R) \to \pi_1(N)$  is an isomorphism (§5.6). Let  $\omega_0$  denote the component of  $\Omega(G_0)$  that contains  $R^*$ .

The boundary  $\partial R$  of R in S consists of a number of simple loops  $C_j \cap S$ , for some cylinders  $C_j \subset \partial N$ . The surface  $\omega_0/G_0$  is obtained from  $R = R^*/G_0$ by adjoining once punctured disks to the components of  $\partial R$ . More precisely, each component  $\alpha$  of  $\pi^{-1}(\partial R) \cap R^{*-}$  is an open Jordan arc with end points at the fixed point p of a parabolic transformation  $T \in G_0$   $(T(\alpha) = \alpha)$ . One of the components  $D^*$  on  $\partial \mathcal{B}$  determined by  $\alpha \cup \{p\}$  is disjoint from  $R^*$ .  $D^*/\{T\}$  is the punctured disk to which we just referred.  $\omega_0$  is obtained from  $R^*$  by adjoining all such regions  $D^*$ . Consequently  $\omega_0$  is simply connected and invariant under  $G_0$ ; that is,  $G_0$  is a B-group.

5.10. It remains to combine all our information. From §5.7 we have the manifold  $\mathfrak{M}'$  which is the complement in  $\mathfrak{M}$  of the (interior of) tubes pairing certain punctures on  $\bigcup S_k$ . In  $\mathfrak{M}'$  there are cylinders  $C_j$  pairing
simple loops on S, not retractible to punctures on S, with some punctures on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}' \cap (\bigcup S_k)$ . Given a component R' of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}' - S$  the loops  $(\bigcup C_j) \cap R'$  bound small neighborhoods of some of the punctures on R'; denote by R'' the result of deleting the closure of these neighborhoods from R'. Corresponding to R'' are a component R of  $S - S \cap (\bigcup C_j)$  and a component N of  $\mathfrak{M}' - \bigcup C_j$  such that R and R'' correspond to the levels  $R \times \{0\}$ ,  $R \times \{1\}$  in the homeomorphism  $N \cong R \times [0, 1]$ . The remaining components of  $S - S \cap (\cup C_j)$  and adjacent components N of  $\mathfrak{M} - \bigcup C_j$  have the same product structure after a non-compact submanifold  $\mathfrak{M}_1$  of N is removed from N and each  $C_j \subset \partial N$  is changed to  $\hat{C}_j$  which pairs  $C_j \cap S$  with a puncture on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_1$ . Furthermore, the cylinder  $C_j \cup \hat{C}_j$  pairs this puncture on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_1$  with a puncture on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}' - S$ .

Putting together the information about each component N of  $\mathfrak{M}' - \bigcup C_j$ , we obtain the following description of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ .

**PROPOSITION 5.4.** Assume G is a B-group with invariant component  $\Omega_0$ of  $\Omega(G)$ . Set  $S = \Omega_0/G$  and let  $S_1, \dots, S_n$  denote the remaining components (necessarily a finite number). Then

(a) There are a finite number of finitely punctured (cf. definition in §5.8), compact, incompressible surfaces  $W_i$  in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)^{\circ}$  each of which is the boundary in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  of a non-compact submanifold  $\mathfrak{V}_i$ . For each i, the inclusion  $\pi_1(W_i) \rightarrow \pi_1(\mathfrak{V}_i)$  is an isomorphism and the subgroup of G which preserves a given component of  $\pi^{-1}(\mathfrak{V}_i)$  is degenerate.



(b) A certain number of punctures in  $(\bigcup S_k) \cup (\bigcup W_i)$  can be joined by tubes  $\mathcal{T}_j$  in  $\mathfrak{M}' = \mathfrak{M} - \bigcup \mathfrak{W}_i^{\circ}$  such that the manifold  $\mathfrak{M}_0 = (\mathfrak{M}' - \bigcup \mathcal{T}_j)^-$  is homeomorphic to  $S \times [0, 1]$ .

In short, every B-group has a fuchsian-like structure which has been topologically recaptured above. See Fig. 4.

COROLLARY 5.5. A B-group G has a finite sided fundamental polyhedron if and only if  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  has the following structure. There are a finite number of mutually disjoint tubes  $\mathcal{T}_i$  pairing some of the punctures on  $\bigcup S_j$  such that if  $\mathfrak{M}_0 = \mathfrak{M}(G) - \bigcup \mathcal{T}_i^\circ$ , then  $\mathfrak{M}_0 \cong S \times [0, 1]$ .

5.11. We shall make one more refinement of Proposition 5.4.

COROLLARY 5.6. The surfaces  $W_i \subset \mathfrak{M}(G)^\circ$  of Proposition 5.4 (a) can be chosen so that a loop  $\alpha \subset W_i$  determines a parabolic transformation in G if and only if  $\alpha$  is retractible to a puncture on  $W_i$ .

Proof. Suppose  $\alpha \subset W_i$  determines an "accidental parabolic transformation"  $T \in G$ . That is, T is parabolic but  $\alpha$  is not retractible to a puncture in  $W_i$ .  $\alpha$  is freely homotopic to a loop  $\alpha' \subset S$  with respect to which T is an accidental parabolic transformation. For each puncture on S is paired with a puncture on  $(\partial \mathfrak{M}_0 - S)$ . If  $\alpha$  were freely homotopic in  $\mathfrak{M}_0$  to a loop about a puncture on  $(\partial \mathfrak{M}_0 - S)$  then  $\alpha$  would be freely homotopic in  $(\partial \mathfrak{M}_0 - S)$  to this loop. Since  $\mathfrak{M}_0 \cong S \times [0, 1]$ , this is impossible.

Let p denote the fixed point of T and insert in  $\mathfrak{M}$  a doubly infinite cylinder  $\chi$  associated with p (§ 2.5) so small that  $\chi \cap W_i = \emptyset$ .  $\chi$  can only be located in  $\mathfrak{V}_i$ . Construct a cylinder C in  $\mathfrak{V}_i$  with one component of  $\partial C$  a simple loop on  $\chi$ , the other a simple loop on  $W_i$  not retractible to a puncture. Let N(C) be a regular neighborhood of C in  $\mathfrak{V}_i$  (i.e., the result of "thickening" C) and set  $\mathfrak{V}'_i = \mathfrak{V}_i - N(C)^\circ$ .  $\mathfrak{V}'_i$  has one or two components depending on whether or not  $\partial C \cap W_i$  separates  $W_i$ . Replace  $\mathfrak{V}_i$  and  $W_i$  by  $\mathfrak{V}'_i$  and  $\partial \mathfrak{V}'_i$ . After a finite number of changes of this sort, Corollary 5.6 is proved.

*Remark* 5.7. There is a set  $\{\alpha_i\}$  of mutually disjoint simple loops  $\alpha_i$  on S with the properties

(i) each  $\alpha_i$  determines an accidental parabolic transformation,

(ii) if  $\alpha \subset S$  is a loop which determines an accidental parabolic transformation, then  $\alpha$  is freely homotopic to a power of some  $\alpha_i$ .

Suppose S has genus g and b punctures. The set  $\{\alpha_i\}$  has at most 3g + b - 3 elements and  $S - \bigcup \alpha_i$  has at most 2g + b - 2 components.

5.12. We digress for a moment to use the decomposition obtained for B-groups G to compute the dimension  $\sigma(G)$  of the complex vector space of cusp forms for G [7]. This will be required in Chapter 10 for those groups G with a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron so we will restrict ourselves here to that case (this computation also appears in [36]).

Suppose  $S = \Omega_0(G)/G$  is a b-times punctured compact surface of genus gand there are  $a \leq 3g + b - 3$  mutually disjoint simple loops  $\{\gamma_i\}$  dividing Sinto  $n \leq 2g + b - 2$  regions  $S'_j$  such that each  $\gamma_i$  determines an accidental parabolic transformation. Corresponding to each  $S'_j$  is exactly one component  $S_j \neq S$  of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  which is topologically obtained from  $S'_j$  by attaching a once punctured disk to each boundary component of  $S'_j$  in S (if  $S'_j$  appears on both sides of a  $\gamma_i$  then punctured disks are attached to both sides of  $\gamma_i$ ).

Suppose  $S'_i$  has genus  $g_i$ ,  $b_j$  punctures, and is bounded by  $a_j$  of the loops  $\{\gamma_i\}$ ; a  $\gamma_i$  both sides of which lie in  $S'_j$  is counted twice. Then  $\sum a_j = 2a$ . The a loops  $\{\gamma_i\}$  bound n regions  $S'_j$  so they satisfy (n - 1) relations in  $H_1(S)$ . Hence

$$g=\sum g_j+a-(n-1)$$
 .

Recalling that the space of cusp forms for a y-times punctured compact surface of genus x has dimension 3x + y - 3 we find

(1)  $\sigma(H) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} (3g_j + b_j + a_j - 3) + 3g + b - 3$ , or  $\sigma(H) = 6g + 2b - a - 6$ .

**5.13.** PROPOSITION 5.8. If  $\Omega_0(G)$  is not simply connected then G has a decomposition into a free product of subgroups

$$G = G_1 * \cdots * G_m * G_1 * \cdots * G_r * \{A_1\} * \cdots * \{A_s\} * \{T_1\} * \cdots * \{T_n\}$$

where each  $G_i$  is a B-group,  $\mathfrak{A}_j$  is a free abelian group of rank two with two parabolic generators,  $\{A_k\}$  is the cyclic group generated by the parabolic transformation  $A_k$ , and  $\{T_i\}$  is the cyclic group generated by the loxodromic transformation  $T_i$ . Furthermore, each parabolic transformation in G is conjugate in G to one in a listed subgroup. G has a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron if and only if all the groups  $G_i$  do.

*Proof.* Applying Dehn's lemma and the loop theorem (Lemma 1.4) there exists a simple loop  $\gamma \subset S = \Omega_0(G)/G$ , not homotopic to a point on S, which bounds a disk  $D \subset \mathfrak{M}(G)$ .

Case 1. D divides  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ . Let  $\mathfrak{M}_1$ ,  $\mathfrak{M}_2$  denote the closure of the two components of  $\mathfrak{M}(G) - D$ . Then by Lemma 1.8,  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M}(G)) = \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}_1) * \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}_2)$ . Let  $S_1$ ,  $S_2$  be the two components of  $S - \gamma$  so labeled that  $S_1 \subset \partial \mathfrak{M}_1$ ,  $S_2 \subset \partial \mathfrak{M}_2$ . Then one component of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_i$  is just  $S_i$  with a disk attached along  $\gamma$ , i = 1, 2.

Fix adjacent components  $\mathfrak{M}_1^*$ ,  $\mathfrak{M}_2^*$  of  $\pi^{-1}(\mathfrak{M}_1^0)$ ,  $\pi^{-1}(\mathfrak{M}_2^0)$  in  $\mathfrak{B}$  and denote

by  $G_1$ ,  $G_2$  the subgroups of G that preserve these two components. Then  $G = G_1 * G_2$ . Furthermore, we can regard  $\mathfrak{M}_i$  as imbedded in  $\mathfrak{M}(G_i)$ , i = 1, 2, and then we see that  $(\mathfrak{M}(G_i) - \mathfrak{M}_i)^\circ$  is connected and a topological ball.

Now  $G_i$  preserves  $\mathfrak{M}_i^{*-} \cap \Omega_0(G)$  which is necessarily connected. So if  $G_i$  is not elementary, it is a function group. If neither  $G_1$  nor  $G_2$  is elementary repeat the decomposition process with each of them separately. If no further decomposition is possible for  $G_1$ , say, then  $G_1$  is a *B*-group.

Next suppose for example that  $G_1$  is cyclic. Then  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G_1)$  is either a torus or a twice punctured sphere. In the former case there is a simple loop  $\gamma'$  in  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G_1)$  that does not separate  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G_1)$  but bounds a disk D' in  $\mathfrak{M}(G_1)$ . We may assume D' lies in  $\mathfrak{M}_1 \subset \mathfrak{M}(G_1)$ . In this case we will replace the original  $\gamma$  by  $\gamma'$  and the separating disk D with the non-separating D'. This puts us in Case 2.

If  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G_1)$  is a twice punctured sphere then  $G_1$  is generated by a parabolic transformation A. In this case and also in the situation that  $G_1$  is free abelian of rank two, repeat the decomposition process with  $G_2$  (if it is not an elementary group).

Case 2. D does not divide  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ . Then  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M}) = \pi_1(\mathfrak{M} - D)*\mathbb{Z}$ . Interpreting this decomposition in  $\mathfrak{B}$  we find that  $G = G_1*\{T\}$  where T is loxodromic and  $G_1$  is a function group. Note that in this case  $[\mathfrak{M}(G_1) - (\mathfrak{M}(G) - D)]^\circ$  is the union of two topological balls.

Continue this decomposition process in the obvious way. The process ends after a finite number of steps because each decomposition reduces the ranks of the groups (Lemma 1.9).

The assertion in Proposition 5.8 about parabolic transformations is true because the conjugacy class of a maximal parabolic subgroup  $M_p$  corresponds to either a cusp torus or a doubly infinite cylinder in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ . Neither of these need be disturbed by the introduction of the cutting disks D.

The necessary and sufficient condition for  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  to have a finite-sided polyhedron is a direct consequence of Proposition 4.2.

5.14. Finally in preparation for Chapter 10 we will extend the computation of §5.11 to compute the dimension  $\sigma(G)$  of the space of cusp forms for an arbitrary function group G which has a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron.

Referring back to §5.13, let  $\{S_i\}$  be the components obtained by cutting  $S = \Omega_0(G)/G$  along the simple loops  $\partial D_i$  where  $\{D_i\}$  is a complete set of cutting disks used in the decomposition of G (we can assume these are mutually disjoint). If  $S_i^*$  is a component of  $\pi^{-1}(S_i)$  in  $\Omega_0(G)$ , the subgroup  $H_i$  of G that

preserves  $S_i^*$  is either a cyclic parabolic group, free abelian of rank two, or a *B*-group. In each case an invariant region  $\Omega_0(H_i)$  for  $H_i$  is obtained by adding to  $S_i^*$  the disks in  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$  which are bounded by the relative boundary components of  $S_i^*$  in  $\Omega_0(G)$ .  $H_i$  is conjugate to one of the subgroups  $G_i$ ,  $\mathfrak{A}_j$ , or  $\{A_k\}$  constructed in Proposition 5.8. Label the  $\{S_i\}$  so that  $S_i$ ,  $1 \leq i \leq m$ , corresponds to the group  $G_i$  while  $S_i$ ,  $m+1 \leq i \leq m+r$ , corresponds to  $\mathfrak{A}_{i-m}$ , and  $S_i$ ,  $m+r+1 \leq i \leq m+r+s$ , corresponds to  $\{A_{i-m-r}\}$ .

Suppose  $S_i$  has genus  $g_i$ ,  $b_i$  punctures, and is bounded by  $t_i$  of the simple loops  $\partial D_j$ , counting a loop twice if  $S_i$  lies on both sides of it. Then  $\sum t_i = 2t$ where t is the number of disks  $D_j$ . The t loops  $\partial D_j$  satisfy m + r + s relations in  $H_i(S)$  because they bound the  $S_i$ . One of these relations is a consequence of the others, hence from Proposition 5.8 if S has genus g,

$$g = \sum_{i=1}^{m+r+s} g_i + t - (m+r+s-1) = \sum_{i=1}^{m+r+s} g_i + n \; .$$

Now each  $S_i$ ,  $1 \leq i \leq m$ , corresponds to a cluster of components  $\neq S$  of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  which are joined together by cylinders pairing some of their punctures in the manner of § 5.10. Refer back to § 5.11 and replace the group G there by  $G_i$ , a by  $a_i$ , and b by  $b_i$  for  $1 \leq i \leq m$ . Since  $b = (\sum_{i=1}^m b_i) + 2s$  is the total number of punctures on S we obtain (cf. (1))

(2) 
$$\sigma(G) = \sum_{i=1}^{m+r} (3g_i + b_i - a_i - 3) + (3g + b - 3), \text{ or} \\ \sigma(G) = 6g + 2b - 3(m + r + n + 1) - 2s - a$$

(define  $a_i = 0$  for i > m, and  $a = \sum_{i=1}^{m} a_i$ ).

#### 6. The assumption and resulting structure theorem

6.1. From a number of possibilities we have chosen the following assumption on the grounds of its simplicity and ease of interpretation in the ball B.

Assumption 6.1. There exists a set of generators  $K_0$  of  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M}; p)$  for some p and a compact set  $K \supset K_0$  such that every loop in  $\mathfrak{M} - K$  which bounds a disk in  $\mathfrak{M} - K_0$ . (By a disk we mean a non-singular disk.)

It will be clear from the analysis below that if  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  satisfies Assumption 6.1 for some  $K_0$  and if  $\gamma_1, \dots, \gamma_n$  is any set of generators of  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M}; p)$ , there exists a set  $\{\gamma'_i\}, \gamma'_i$  homotopic to  $\gamma_i, 1 \leq i \leq n$ , which also can be taken as  $K_0$ .

Topologically it is easy to find examples which violate the assumption; paste two 3-manifolds together across a disk in the boundary of each and then remove the joined boundary component. The disk remains and becomes an infinite disk which separates the fundamental group into a free product. We shall generalize our assumption in § 12.3 to include this case. What we are really forced to exclude is the situation in a manifold where  $\gamma_n = \partial D_n$  is a sequence of simple loops approaching the "ideal boundary" of  $\mathfrak{M}$  while the  $D_n$  are non-singular disks which oscillate with ever-increasing frequency through a set of generators of  $\pi_1$ . (However it seems unlikely that this occurs; see § 13.1).

Function groups clearly satisfy Assumption 6.1 as do groups with a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron, as we see from Proposition 4.3. We know of no groups which fail to satisfy either Assumption 6.1 or its generalization in § 12.3. (Also see Chapter 13.)

This chapter is devoted to a topological analysis of those manifolds  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  which satisfy Assumption 6.1. We will discover exactly how they are related to compact manifolds. In particular we will prove

THEOREM 6.2. If G is a finitely generated group which satisfies Assumption 6.1, then either G has a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron or G contains a degenerate B-group (cf. § 6.4).

6.2. Before beginning the analysis of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  we wish to point out the relation of our work to Ahlfors' finiteness theorem (§2.4), part of which we are going to use. If G satisfies Assumption 6.1, we will prove independently of Ahlfors' theorem that  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  has a finite number of boundary components, each of finite topological type. But without Ahlfors' theorem we cannot say that every isolated ideal boundary component of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  is a puncture, although in the special case that two ideal boundary components are "paired" it is not hard to give a geometric proof. On the other hand, it will follow from our analysis that there are at most a finite number of conjugacy classes of maximal parabolic subgroups of G, a fact that the finiteness theorem does not reveal.

We begin our analysis of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  by inserting a complete, mutually disjoint collection of (a) doubly infinite cylinders  $\{\chi_i\}$  (cf. § 2.5), one corresponding to each conjugacy class of cyclic maximal parabolic subgroups, and (b) canonical cusp tori  $\{\sigma_j\}$  (cf. § 2.5), one corresponding to each conjugacy class of rank two maximal parabolic subgroups. Let  $\hat{\chi}_i$ ,  $\hat{\sigma}_j$  denote the component of  $\mathfrak{M}(G) - \chi_i$ ,  $\mathfrak{M}(G) - \sigma_j$  respectively which does not meet  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ . Each component of  $\{\pi^{-1}(\hat{\chi}_i)\}$ ,  $\{\pi^{-1}(\hat{\sigma}_j)\}$  is a topological ball. Let  $\mathfrak{B}' = \mathfrak{B} - \bigcup \{\pi^{-1}(\hat{\chi}_i)\} \cup \{\pi^{-1}(\hat{\sigma}_j)\}$ , where the union is over all components of  $\pi^{-1}(\cdot)$  and all i, j, and set  $\mathfrak{M}' = \mathfrak{B}' \cup \Omega(G)/G$ .  $\mathfrak{M}(G) - \mathfrak{M}'$  is the union of the regions  $\hat{\chi}_i$  and  $\hat{\sigma}_j$ .

By choosing the  $\chi_i$  and  $\sigma_j$  sufficiently small K will lie in  $\mathfrak{M}'$ . If Assumption 6.1 holds in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  with respect to K and  $K_0$  it also holds in  $\mathfrak{M}'$ . For if D is a disk in  $\mathfrak{M}(G) - K$  with  $\partial D \subset \mathfrak{M}'$  then  $\partial D$  also bounds a disk in  $\mathfrak{M}' - K$ .

This is seen by analyzing  $D \cap \chi_i$  and  $D \cap \sigma_j$  in the manner of the proof of Lemma 1.12. The converse is also true.

We can find a compact submanifold  $\eta$  of  $\mathfrak{M}'$  which has the following properties: (i)  $K \subset \eta^{\circ}$ . (ii) The relative boundary  $\partial_{0}\eta$  of  $\eta$  in  $\mathfrak{M}'^{\circ}$  has a finite number of components each of which is a closed surface in  $\mathfrak{M}'^{\circ}$  or the interior of a compact bordered surface S with border  $S \cap \partial \mathfrak{M}' = \partial S \cap \partial \mathfrak{M}'$ . (iii)  $(\partial_{0}\eta)^{-}$ is disjoint from the cusp tori in  $\partial \mathfrak{M}'$ . Because  $H_{1}(\mathfrak{M}')$  is generated in K, each component of  $\partial_{0}\eta$  divides  $\mathfrak{M}'$ .

Now eliminate the superfluous handles on  $\partial_0 \gamma$  by repeated use of Lemma 1.4 in the light of Assumption 6.1. In outline form this process is as follows. Suppose  $\gamma \subset \partial_0 \eta$  is a non-trivial loop on  $\partial_0 \eta$  which bounds a disk in  $\mathfrak{M}' - \partial_0 \eta$  and hence a disk D in  $\mathfrak{M}' - K_0 - \partial_0 \eta$ . Thicken D to D' (i.e., let D' be a regular neighborhood of D in  $\mathfrak{M}' - \eta^0$  or in  $\eta$ ) and form  $\eta'$  by adding or deleting D' from  $\eta$  depending on whether D' extends into the exterior or the interior of  $\eta$ . Denote by  $\eta_1$  the component of  $\eta'$  which contains  $K_0$ . After a finite number of repetitions of this process (the  $(j + 1)^{st}$  step either decreases the total genus of  $\partial_0 \eta_j$  or increases the number of components of  $\partial_0 \eta_j$ ) we obtain a submanifold  $\mathfrak{M}_0$  of  $\mathfrak{M}' + K_0 - \partial_0 \mathfrak{M}_0$ . In carrying this out we have made use of the fact that each succeeding simple loop can be pushed off the previously adjoined disks so as to lie in the original  $\partial_0 \eta$ .

Now we can apply Lemma 1.11 to conclude that for each component R of  $\partial_0 \mathfrak{M}_0$ , ker  $(\pi_1(R) \to \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}')) = 0$  and each component of  $\pi^{-1}(R)$  in  $\mathfrak{B}$  is simply connected. Consequently each component of  $\pi^{-1}(\mathfrak{M}_0^0)$  is a topological ball (Lemma 1.12).

Finally we can assume that no component of  $\mathfrak{M}' - \mathfrak{M}_0^\circ$  is compact. Otherwise it can be added to  $\mathfrak{M}_0$ .

6.3. Let  $\eta$  be a component of  $\mathfrak{M}' - \mathfrak{M}_0^{\circ}$ . The relative boundary  $S_0 = \partial_0 \eta$ of  $\eta$  in  $\mathfrak{M}'^{\circ}$  is either a closed surface or the interior of a compact bordered surface  $S_0^-$  with  $\partial S_0 \subset \partial \mathfrak{M}'$ . It is important to recognize two basic properties of  $\eta$  which follow directly from an application of the argument of Corollary 1.13.

(1) Two loops in  $\eta$  which are freely homotopic in  $\mathfrak{M}'$  (or in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ ) are freely homotopic in  $\eta$ .

(2) The inclusion  $\pi_1(\partial_0 \eta) \to \pi_1(\eta)$  is an isomorphism.

From these two properties we deduce that the inclusion  $\pi_1(\partial \gamma - S_0) \rightarrow \pi_1(\gamma)$  is injective. The argument required to show this is exactly that used for *B*-groups in §5.2.

**KLEINIAN GROUPS** 

Let S be the component of  $\partial \eta$  that contains  $S_0$ . Each component  $\alpha$  of  $\partial S_0$ either lies on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  or on one of the doubly infinite cylinders inserted in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)^0$ . In the first case  $\alpha$  bounds a component R of  $S - S_0$  which lies in  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ . We can assume  $R^0$  is conformally a once punctured disk. For since the inclusion  $\pi_1(R) \to \pi_1(\eta)$  is injective, by (1) and (2) every non-trivial loop in R is freely homotopic in S to a non-trivial loop in  $S_0$ , and therefore to a loop in  $\alpha$  (as a point set); that is, either  $\pi_1(R)$  is infinite cyclic or is trivial in which case  $R^0$  is a disk. We can assume the latter possibility does not occur by a small modification of our construction.

In the second case  $\alpha$  is a simple loop on some doubly infinite cylinder  $\chi_i$ and exactly one of the two components, say R, determined by  $\alpha$  on this cylinder lies entirely in  $\eta$  and hence in S. Consistent with the terminology of § 5.8 we will say that  $\alpha$  surrounds a *puncture* on S.

6.4. Fix a component  $\eta^*$  of  $\pi^{-1}(\eta^0)$  ( $\eta$  a fixed component of  $\mathfrak{M}' - \mathfrak{M}_0$ ) and let  $G_0 = \{T \in G: T\eta^* = \eta^*\}$ . Then  $G_0$  acting on  $\eta^*$  preserves the component  $S^*$  of  $\pi^{-1}(S)$  which lies in  $\partial \eta^*$ . Since  $S^*$  is simply connected we can think of  $G_0$  as a "B-group" with  $S^*$  playing the role of the invariant component of the "regular set"  $S^* \cup (\Omega(G) \cap \eta^{*-})$  and the union of  $\eta^*$  and those components of  $\mathfrak{B} - \mathfrak{B}'$  adjacent to  $\partial \eta^* - S^*$  playing the role of  $\mathfrak{B}$ . That is, the topological analysis of Chapter 5 as summarized in Proposition 5.4 applies without change. However, the assertion in part (a) of Proposition 5.4 concerning certain degenerate subgroups becomes more complicated. For this, the following definition is needed.

Definition 6.2. A degenerate B-group is a kleinian group H such that there exists a B-group H' with a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron, an isomorphism  $\varphi: H \to H'$ , and a quasiconformal homeomorphism f of  $\Omega(H)$ onto a proper subset of  $\Omega(H')$  which induces  $\varphi$ .

The hypothesis on f in Definition 6.2 insures that f projects to a quasiconformal homeomorphism  $f_*: \partial \mathfrak{M}(H) \to \partial \mathfrak{M}(H') - \bigcup S'_j$ , where  $\{S'_j\}$  is a nonempty, proper subset of the set of components of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(H')$ . A topological model for  $\mathfrak{M}(H)$  might be conjectured to be  $\mathfrak{M}(H') - \bigcup S'_j$ .

In particular a degenerate group is also a degenerate B-group. A degenerate B-group which is not also a degenerate group is sometimes referred to as a partially degenerate group.

LEMMA 6.3. A degenerate B-group H does not have a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron.

Outline of proof. Let H' be as in Definition 6.2 and  $f_*$  be as in the paragraph following it. Also set  $S' = \Omega_0(H')/H'$  where  $\Omega_0(H')$  is an invariant

region for H'. If the set  $\{S'_i\}$  contains all the components of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(H')$  except S' then H' is a degenerate group and Lemma 6.3 reduces to Corollary 4.6. At the other extreme, if there is only one  $S'_i$  and this one is S' then H again has the topolopical structure of a degenerate group. For a subset of the punctures on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(H)$  can be joined by pairing cylinders so as to obtain a 3-manifold with one boundary component. (This pairing is dictated by the pairing in  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(H') - S'$ ). In the other cases we see from looking at  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(H')$  that not all punctures on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(H)$  are paired.

6.5. Rather than restate Proposition 5.4 for each  $\eta$  obtained in §6.3 we will simply present the final result which is obtained by putting together the results for each  $\eta$ . The details are omitted.

We recall that the definition of a finitely punctured compact surface in some  $\mathfrak{M}(G)^{\circ}$  was given in §5.8 (also see §6.3).

THEOREM 6.4 (BASIC STRUCTURE THEOREM). Assume that the kleinian group G satisfies Assumption 6.1. There is a submanifold  $\mathfrak{M}_1 \subset \mathfrak{M}(G)$  with  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G) \subset \partial \mathfrak{M}_1$  and a compact submanifold  $\mathfrak{M}_o \subset \mathfrak{M}(G)$  with the following properties:

(i) The inclusion map  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M}_1) \to \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}(G))$  is an isomorphism.

(ii) Each relative boundary component W of  $\mathfrak{M}_1$  in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)^\circ$  bounds a noncompact component  $\mathfrak{W}$  of  $\mathfrak{M}(G) - \mathfrak{M}_1^\circ$ . There are at most a finite number of the surfaces W.

(iii) W is a finitely punctured compact surface which is incompressible in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)^{\circ}$  and the inclusion  $\pi_1(W) \to \pi_1(\mathfrak{W})$  is an isomorphism. The universal covering surface of W is the disk.

(iv) The subgroup  $G_0$  of G that stabilizes a component of  $\pi^{-1}(\mathfrak{V})$  is a degenerate B-group.  $G_0$  is a degenerate group if and only if every parabolic transformation in  $G_0$  is determined by a puncture on W.

(v) The punctures on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_1$  (= the union of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  and the surfaces W) are arranged in a finite number of distinct pairs  $(p_i, p'_i)$ . The pairs are in 1-1 correspondence with the conjugacy classes of maximal parabolic subgroups of G which are cyclic.  $p_i$  and  $p'_i$  are paired by a pairing tube  $\mathcal{T}_i$  in  $\mathfrak{M}_1$ .

(vi) There are a finite number of solid cusp tori  $\mathfrak{A}_j$  in  $\mathfrak{M}_1^{\mathfrak{o}}$  which are in 1-1 correspondence with the conjugacy classes of maximal parabolic subgroups of G which are free abelian of rank two.

(vii) The  $T_i$  and  $\Omega_j$  can be taken to be mutually disjoint and the complement in  $\mathfrak{M}_1$  of their interiors is a compact submanifold  $\mathfrak{M}_0$  of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ . The  $T_i$  and  $\Omega_j$  account for all the parabolic elements of G. The last assertion of (v) is true because the conjugacy class of each maximal parabolic subgroup which is cyclic, determines a doubly infinite cylinder in  $\partial \mathfrak{M}'$ , all of which are accounted for in the process described in §§ 6.3 and 5.11.

It follows from Theorem 6.4 that G has a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron if and only if none of the surfaces W appear.

6.6. We close this chapter with a result that will be required in Chapter 10. Although formulated as a corollary, it could have been proven at a much earlier stage.

COROLLARY 6.5. Suppose G is a kleinian group with a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron,  $\Omega_1$  is a component of  $\Omega(G)$ , and  $G_1 = \{T \in G : T\Omega_1 = \Omega_1\}$ . Then  $G_1$  also has a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron.

Ouline of proof. Assume  $G_1 \neq G$ .  $G_1$  is a function group with invariant region  $\Omega_1$ .

Case 1.  $\Omega_1$  is simply connected. If  $G_1$  has no parabolic transformations then  $G_1$  is a quasi-fuchsian group since  $\Omega_1 \neq \Omega(G)$  implies the complement on  $\partial \mathcal{B}$  has interior points. More generally there is a set  $\{\alpha_i\}$  of mutually disjoint simple loops on  $\Omega_1/G_1$ , not retractible to punctures, which determine accidental parabolic transformations in G and  $G_1$  (Chapter 5). To each  $\alpha_i$ correspond two punctures  $(p_i, p'_i)$  on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  (Theorem 6.4) and two cylinders  $C_i$ ,  $C'_i$  in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ , one boundary component of each being  $\alpha_i$ , the other retractible to  $p_i$  or  $p'_i$ . Furthermore,  $C_i \cap C'_i = \alpha_i$ . In addition all the punctures on  $\Omega_1/G_1$  are paired by cylinders in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  with punctures on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ . This implies that the  $\{\alpha_i\}$  and the punctures on  $\Omega_1/G_1$  are correspondingly paired in  $\mathfrak{M}(G_1)$ . In fact all the pairing cylinders can be interpreted as imbedded in  $\mathfrak{M}(G_1)$  as well as in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ . Since all the parabolic transformations of  $G_1$ are accounted for, Corollary 6.5 follows from Proposition 5.4.

Case 2.  $\Omega_1$  is not simply connected. In this case the corollary can be proved by applying the method of Proposition 5.6.

### 7. The boundary estimate

7.1. We begin with the decompositions  $\mathfrak{M}_1$ ,  $\mathfrak{M}_c$  of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  obtained in Theorem 6.4. The relative boundary of  $\mathfrak{M}_1$  in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)^\circ$  consists of finitely many finitely punctured compact surfaces. The punctures on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_1$  are arranged in pairs and  $\mathfrak{M}_c$  is the compact manifold resulting from the introduction into  $\mathfrak{M}_1$  of cylinders joining the paired punctures and of cusp tori corresponding to the free abelian subgroups of rank 2. We need the following list of notation.

N is the number of generators of G.

 $g_i$  is the genus of the  $i^{\text{th}}$  component of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ ;  $b_i$  is the number of its punctures;  $\chi$  is the number of components of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ ;  $\chi_{\text{pet}}$  is the number that have punctures;  $g = \sum g_i$ ,  $b = \sum b_i$ .

 $g'_i$  is the genus of the  $i^{\text{th}}$  relative boundary component of  $\mathfrak{M}_1$  in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)^{\circ}$ ;  $b'_i$  is the number of its punctures;  $\chi^1$  is the number of relative boundary components of  $\mathfrak{M}_1$  in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)^{\circ}$ ;  $\chi^1_{\text{pet}}$  is the number that have punctures;  $g' = \sum g'_i$ ;  $b' = \sum b'_i$ .

t is the number of cusp tori in  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_{e}$ .

 $\chi^*$  is the number of components of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_c$ .

7.2. The total genus of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_c$  is the total of the number of handles on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_1$ , the number of cusp tori, and something contributed by the adjoined cylinders. The totality of simple loops, one around each adjoined cylinder, is subject to one relation for each punctured surface in  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_1$ . These relations are not completely independent however: If S is a component of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_c$  formed by joining several punctured surfaces, then the relation contributed by one punctured surface involved in S is a consequence of the remaining ones. Therefore, from Lemma 1.2 we obtain

(1) 
$$\sum g_i + \sum g_i' + (1/2)(\sum b_i + \sum b_i') + \chi^* - \chi - \chi^1 \leq N$$

This can be written as

$$\begin{array}{ll} (2) \quad [\sum_{b_i=0} g_i + \sum_{b_i'=0} g_i' + t] + [\sum_{b_i\neq 0} (g_i + b_i/2 - 1) + \sum_{b_i'\neq 0} (g_i' + b_i'/2 - 1)] \\ \\ \quad + \chi^* - t - (\chi - \chi_{\mathrm{pct}}) - (\chi^1 - \chi_{\mathrm{pct}}^1) \leq N \ . \end{array}$$

From (2) we also obtain

(3)

$$\chi + \chi^{\scriptscriptstyle 1} - (1/2)(\chi_{\scriptscriptstyle 
m pet} + \chi^{\scriptscriptstyle 1}_{\scriptscriptstyle 
m pet}) + \chi^{st} \leq N$$
 .

For given N,  $\chi$  is largest when  $\chi^{_1} = t = 0$ ,  $\chi = \chi_{_{pet}}$ , and  $\chi^* = 1$ . We have proved

THEOREM 7.1. If G satisfies Assumption 6.1 then  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  has at most 2N-2 components. In the maximal case each component is either a triply punctured sphere or a once punctured torus. The punctures can be pairwise joined by cylinders so as to form a compact surface of genus N.

We also note that in the maximal case there are always at least N-2 triply punctured spheres. Furthermore, two punctures on the same triply punctured sphere are not joined by one of the cylinders (in a non-maximal situation this is possible however; for an example see [34]). For any N it is not difficult to construct G so that  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  is a union of 2(N-1) triply punctured spheres.

Inequality (2) is a sharpened form of Bers' inequality (§2.4). From it

we deduce that there is equality (in the case G satisfies Assumption 6.1) in Bers' estimate

$$\sum \left( g_i + b_i / 2 - 1 
ight) = N - 1$$

if and only if the punctures on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}$  can be pairwise joined by cylinders to form a compact surface of genus N (which bounds a compact submanifold).

# 8. The isomorphism theorem

8.1. In view of the fact that we do not have a topological characterization of the manifolds corresponding to degenerate groups, it is natural to restrict our attention to those manifolds which can be compactified in our sense. Proposition 4.2 tells us that these come from kleinian groups with a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron. With our problems reduced to those involving compact manifolds, some deep results of Waldhausen [51] become available. Making use of these we obtain the following theorem.

THEOREM 8.1. Suppose G and H are kleinian groups such that

(i) G has a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron,

(ii) There exists an orientation preserving homeomorphism<sup>1</sup>  $f: \Omega(G) \rightarrow \Omega(H)$  which induces an isomorphism  $\varphi: G \rightarrow H$ .

Then there exists a quasiconformal homeomorphism of the closed ball  $g: \mathfrak{B}^- \to \mathfrak{B}^-$  which induces  $\varphi$ . If f is quasiconformal, f has a quasiconformal extension to  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$ . If f is conformal, then  $\varphi$  is an inner automorphism.

8.2. Proof. Hypothesis (ii) implies that f projects to a homeomorphism  $f_*: \partial \mathfrak{M}(G) \to \partial \mathfrak{M}(H)$ . Under  $f_*$  the ideal boundary components of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  correspond to those of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(H)$ . Using Ahlfors' finiteness theorem we can say that  $f_*$  maps each puncture p on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  to a puncture  $f_*(p)$  on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(H)$  (Ahlfors' theorem is not necessary here; an alternative proof can be given using some of the methods below). It is also true that if  $p_1$ ,  $p_2$  are paired punctures on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ , then  $f_*(p_1)$ ,  $f_*(p_2)$  are paired on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(H)$ . For  $f_*(p_1)$  and  $f_*(p_2)$  are distinct and  $\varphi$  preserves the algebraic characterization of Lemma 2.3.

Let  $\{S_i\}$  be a complete set of mutually disjoint (smoothed) canonical pairing tubes in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ ;  $S_i$  pairs two punctures  $p_i$  and  $q_i$  on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ . Choose a set of mutually disjoint canonical tubes  $\{S'_i\}$  in  $\mathfrak{M}(H)$  so that  $S'_i$  pairs  $f_*(p_i)$ and  $f_*(q_i)$ . These tubes can be so chosen that  $S_i$  is conformally equivalent to  $S'_i$  in such a way that  $p_i$  is mapped to  $f_*(p_i)$  (Lemma 2.2).

In addition G may contain free abelian subgroups of rank two. Corre-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The proof will in fact show it suffices to assume that f maps  $\Omega(G)$  into  $\Omega(H)$ .

sponding to each of these, there is a canonical solid cusp torus  $\mathcal{T}_j$  in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ and, via the isomorphism  $\mathcal{P}$ , a canonical solid cusp torus  $\mathcal{T}'_j$  in  $\mathfrak{M}(H)$ . There is a quasiconformal map  $\mathcal{T}_j \to \mathcal{T}'_j$  (§ 2.5). Our choices can be made so that the total collection of submanifolds  $\{\mathfrak{S}_j, \mathcal{T}_j\}$ ,  $\{\mathfrak{S}'_j, \mathcal{T}'_j\}$  are mutually disjoint in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  and  $\mathfrak{M}(H)$  respectively.

Then  $\mathfrak{M}_0(G) = \mathfrak{M}(G) - \bigcup \mathfrak{S}_i^0 - \bigcup \mathfrak{T}_i^0$  is compact. We do not yet know that  $\mathfrak{M}_0(H) = \mathfrak{M}(H) - \bigcup \mathfrak{S}_i'^0 - \bigcup \mathfrak{T}_j'^0$  is also compact. In any case we will work with these manifolds, the corresponding "regular sets"  $\Omega_r(G) = \pi^{-1}(\partial \mathfrak{M}_0(G))$ , and  $\Omega_r(H) = \pi^{-1}(\partial \mathfrak{M}_0(H))$ , and the topological balls  $\mathfrak{B}_0 = \pi^{-1}(\mathfrak{M}_0(G)^0)$  and  $\mathfrak{B}_0' = \pi^{-1}(\mathfrak{M}_0(H)^0)$  (here  $\pi$  denotes the respective natural projections  $\mathfrak{B} \cup \Omega(G) \to \mathfrak{M}(G)$ ,  $\mathfrak{B} \cup \Omega(H) \to \mathfrak{M}(H)$ ).

Referring to Lemma 1.17 we see that there is a  $C^{\infty}$  triangulation of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ which induces a triangulation of  $\mathfrak{M}_0(G)$ . The same is true of  $\mathfrak{M}(H)$  and  $\mathfrak{M}_0(H)$  but we must show that the triangulation can be chosen so that in addition the conformal maps  $\sigma_i \colon \mathfrak{S}_i \to \mathfrak{S}'_i$  and the  $C^{\infty}$  quasiconformal maps  $\tau_j \colon \mathcal{T}_j \to \mathcal{T}'_j$  are PL. To do this observe that  $\sigma_i$  extends conformally and  $\tau_j$  $C^{\infty}$  quasiconformally to neighborhoods of  $\mathfrak{S}_i, \mathcal{T}_j$  respectively in  $\mathfrak{M}_0(G)$ . Making use of  $f_*$  we can obtain a homeomorphism  $\zeta$  of a tubular neighborhood of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_0(G)$  onto one of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_0(H)$  which agrees with  $\sigma_i, \tau_j$  near  $\mathfrak{S}_i, \mathcal{T}_j$  respectively, for all i and j. In addition we can assume  $\zeta$  is a diffeomorphism (Lemma 1.18).  $\zeta$  induces a  $C^{\infty}$  triangulation of a neighborhood of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_0(H)$ . Applying [44, 10.7] this triangulation near  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_0(H)$  can be extended to a  $C^{\infty}$  triangulation of  $\mathfrak{M}_0(H)$ . To obtain the desired triangulation of  $\mathfrak{M}(H)$ , carry the given triangulations of  $\mathfrak{S}_i, \mathcal{T}_j$  over to  $\mathfrak{S}'_i, \mathcal{T}'_j$  by the maps  $\sigma_i, \tau_j$ .

Now that the triangulations of  $\mathfrak{M}_0(G)$  and  $\mathfrak{M}_0(H)$  are fixed, change  $f_*$ as follows (cf.  $\zeta$  above):  $f_*$  is homotopic to a PL homeomorphism  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G) \rightarrow \partial \mathfrak{M}(H)$  which restricts to a homeomorphism  $g_*^1: \partial \mathfrak{M}_0(G) \cap \partial \mathfrak{M}(G) \rightarrow \partial \mathfrak{M}_0(H) \cap \partial \mathfrak{M}(H)$  with the proper boundary values so as to have the following property. There exists a PL homeomorphism  $g_*: \partial \mathfrak{M}_0(G) \rightarrow \partial \mathfrak{M}_0(H)$  which is equal to  $g_*^1$ on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_0(G) \cap \partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ , to  $\sigma_i$  on the canonical cylinder bounding  $\mathfrak{S}_i$ , and to  $\tau_j$ on the torus bounding  $\mathcal{T}_j$ , for all i and j.  $g_*$  has a lift  $g: \Omega_r(G) \rightarrow \Omega_r(H)$  which induces  $\varphi$ .

8.3. Case 1. Each component of  $\Omega_r(G)$  is simply connected. We will first show that  $\mathfrak{M}_0(H)$  is compact. The double  $D(\mathfrak{M}_0(G))$  is compact without boundary and  $\pi_1(D(\mathfrak{M}_0(G)))$  can be obtained purely algebraically from  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M}_0(G))$ and  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M}_0(G))$  by application of van Kampen's theorem (for a proof see [56, Prop. 2.1]). Since  $\pi_1(D(\mathfrak{M}_0(H)))$  of the double  $D(\mathfrak{M}_0(H))$  of  $\mathfrak{M}_0(H)$  is obtained in exactly the same manner by way of  $g_*$ ,  $\varphi$  extends to an isomorphism  $\pi_1(D(\mathfrak{M}_0(G))) \rightarrow \pi_1(D(\mathfrak{M}_0(H)))$ . Now the homotopy groups  $\pi_2$  and  $\pi_3$  of  $D(\mathfrak{M}_0(H))$ and  $D(\mathfrak{M}_0(H))$  are zero:  $\pi_2 = 0$  because of the sphere theorem and  $\pi_3 = 0$ because the universal covering space is not compact [19, pp. 154, 167]. By Lemma 1.7,  $D(\mathfrak{M}_0(H))$  is compact.

We are now in a position to apply Waldhausen's result [51] that the isomorphism  $\mathscr{P}_*: \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}_0(G)) \to \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}_0(H))$  is induced by a PL homeomorphism  $h: \mathfrak{M}_0(G) \to \mathfrak{M}_0(H)$ . But h and  $g_*$  are homotopic on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_0(G)$  since all components of  $\Omega_r(G)$  are simply connected. Consequently by an application of Lemma 1.14 we can assume  $h|\partial \mathfrak{M}_0(G) = g_*$ . Rename h to be  $g_*$ .

Because of our special choice for the boundary values of  $g_*$  on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_0(G)$ ,  $g_*$  can be extended to a map  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G) \to \partial \mathfrak{M}(H)$  which is conformal in the regions  $\mathfrak{S}_i$  and quasiconformal in the  $\mathcal{T}_j$ .

If g is the lift of  $g_*$  to  $\mathfrak{B}$  which induces  $\mathcal{P}: G \to H$ , then g is quasiconformal in  $\mathfrak{B}$ . By Gehring's theorem (§2.8), g extends to be quasiconformal on  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$  as well.

8.4. Case 2. Not all components of  $\Omega_r(G)$  are simply connected. If R is one of those which are not, then by Dehn's lemma and the loop theorem, there is a disk  $D_1$  in  $\mathfrak{M}_0(G)$  with  $\partial D_1 \subset R$  a non-trivial simple loop. By Lemma 1.8,  $D_1$  splits  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M}_0(G))$ :  $G = G_1 * G_2$  where neither  $G_1$  nor  $G_2$  is trivial. Perform this construction as often as possible. In the step-by-step cutting down of  $\mathfrak{M}_0(G)$ , the boundary of an added disk can always be pushed off the previously added disks. Since  $\mathfrak{M}_0(G)$  is compact the process terminates after a finite number of steps. It will be convenient for us to write  $\mathfrak{M}_0(G) = \bigcup_{i=1}^m \mathfrak{M}_i(G)$ where the  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G)$  are the closures of the components of  $\mathfrak{M}_0$  determined by the totality of disks, although this notation requires some explanation: i.e., the boundary  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_i(G)$  may contain both sides of one or more of the disks D.

Each component in  $\mathfrak{B}_0^- = (\pi^{-1}(\mathfrak{M}_0(G))^\circ)^-$  of  $\pi^{-1}(\partial \mathfrak{M}_i(G))$  is simply connected (otherwise the reduction process could be carried further, see Lemma 1.11). Fix a component  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G)^*$  of  $\pi^{-1}(\mathfrak{M}_i(G)^\circ)$  in  $\mathfrak{B}_0$ . The relative boundary  $\partial_0\mathfrak{M}_i(G)^*$ in  $\mathfrak{B}_0$  is the union of a set  $\Sigma_d(G_i)$  of topological disks, none of which is invariant under the subgroup  $G_i$  of G that preserves  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G)^*$  (if  $G_i \neq id$ ). The boundaries of the disks  $\Sigma_d(G_i)$  form a set  $\Sigma(G_i)$  of mutually disjoint simple loops on  $\Omega_r(G)$ .

We will soon need the following three facts.

1. A limit point p of G lies in  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G)^{*-}$  only if p is also a limit point of  $G_i$ . For if p were not a limit point of  $G_i$  then p would not be the limit of a sequence of disks in  $\Sigma_d(G_i)$ . At the same time p would be the limit of a sequence of distinct components of  $\{\pi^{-1}(\mathfrak{M}_i(G)^{\circ})\}$ . This is an impossible situa-

tion since each of these components is separated from  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G)^*$  by a disk in  $\Sigma_d(G_i)$ .

2. Let R be a component of  $\Omega_r(G)$ ,  $\Sigma_0$  the subset of  $\Sigma(G_i)$  lying in R, and assume  $\Sigma_0 \neq \emptyset$ . Then  $\Sigma_0$  is a finite set if and only if  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G)^0$  is a ball and  $G_i = \{\mathrm{id}\}$ . To see this, set  $R_0 = R \cap \partial \mathfrak{M}_i(G)^*$ . If  $\Sigma_0$  is finite no element  $T \neq \mathrm{id}$ of the subgroup of G that preserves R also preserves  $R_0$  since  $\Sigma_0 = \partial_0 R_0$ . For no such T to exist, each component of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_i(G)$  that meets  $\pi(R_0)$  must be a sphere (since each component of  $\pi^{-1}(\partial \mathfrak{M}_i(G))$  is simply connected). The only possibility is that  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_i(G)$  is a sphere bounding the ball  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G)^0$ .

3. If  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G)^\circ$  is not a ball then a component  $R_1$  of  $\Omega_r(G) - \Sigma(G_i)$  lies in  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_i(G)^*$  if and only if  $R_1$  is preserved by an infinite subgroup of  $G_i$ .

8.5. Carrying on with the proof of Case 2,  $g \text{ maps } \Sigma(G_i)$  onto a set  $\Sigma(H_i)$  of mutually disjoint loops in  $\Omega_r(H)$ ;  $H_i = \varphi(G_i)$  preserves  $\Sigma(H_i)$ . Each  $\gamma \in \Sigma(H_i)$  projects to a non-trivial simple loop on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_0(H)$  which therefore bounds a disk in  $\mathfrak{M}_0(H)$ . More generally the set  $\Sigma(H_i)$  bounds a set of mutually disjoint disks  $\Sigma_d(H_i)$  in  $\mathfrak{B}'_0 = \pi^{-1}(\mathfrak{M}_0(H)^\circ)$  each of which projects 1-1 to a disk in  $\mathfrak{M}_0(H)$ . We have to prove that  $\Sigma_d(H_i)$  is the relative boundary in  $\mathfrak{B}'_0$  of a region  $\mathfrak{M}_i(H)^*$  topologically the same as  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G)^*$  in the sense that the methods of Case 1 can be applied to  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G)^*$  and  $\mathfrak{M}_i(H)^*$ .

We will first dispose of the case that  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G)^\circ$  is a ball. In this case  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_i(G)^* \cap \Omega_r(G)$  is a connected, compact region R bounded by the finite set  $\Sigma(G_i)$ . Then  $g(R) \cup \Sigma_d(H_i)$  is the boundary in  $\mathfrak{B}'_0^-$  of a subregion  $\mathfrak{M}_i(H)^*$ . Extend g to  $\Sigma_d(G_i)$  to give a (PL) homeomorphism  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_i(G)^* \to \partial \mathfrak{M}_i(H)^*$ , but g must be subjected to the following restriction: If  $TD_1 = D_2$  for  $D_1$ ,  $D_2 \in \Sigma_d(G_i)$ ,  $T \in G$ , then  $g|D_2 = \mathcal{P}(T) \circ g|D_1$ . Then g extends to a homeomorphism  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G)^* \to \mathfrak{M}_i(H)^*$  which projects to  $g_* \colon \mathfrak{M}_i(G) \to \mathfrak{M}_i(H)$ , where  $\mathfrak{M}_i(H)^\circ$  is a ball in  $\mathfrak{M}_0(H)$  and  $\partial_0 \mathfrak{M}_i(H)$  is the union of (possibly both sides of) the disks  $\pi(\Sigma_d(H_i))$ .

Return now to the general case and assume that  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G)$  is not a ball. First we will show that no disk in  $\Sigma_d(H_i)$  separates in  $\mathfrak{B}'_0$  two other disks of  $\Sigma_d(H_i)$ . To do this consider the manifold  $\mathcal{H}_i = \mathfrak{B}'_0 \cup \Omega_r(H)/H_i$  which satisfies  $\pi_1(\mathcal{H}_i) \cong \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}_i(G))$ . Each  $D \in \Sigma_d(H_i)$  projects 1-1 to a disk  $D_*$  in  $\mathcal{H}_i$  with  $\partial D_*$  a simple loop on  $\partial \mathcal{H}_i$ . By Lemma 1.10,  $D_*$  cannot cut  $\mathcal{H}_i$  so as to decompose  $\pi_1(\mathcal{H}_i)$  into a non-trivial free product because  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G)$  can be reduced no further. Therefore, one of the two components of  $\mathcal{H}_i - D_*$  is a ball  $b_*(D)$ . We have yet to show that  $b_*(D)$  does not contain the projection of any disk in  $\Sigma_d(H_i)$ .

Let  $\{b(D_j)\}$  denote the lifts of  $b(D_*)$  to  $\mathfrak{B}'_0$ ; the relative boundary  $\partial_0 b(D_j)$ 

of  $b(D_j)$  in  $\mathfrak{B}'_0$  is a disk  $D_j \in \Sigma_d(H_i)$ . The balls  $b(D_j)$  are mutually disjoint and the subset  $\{D_j\}$  of  $\Sigma_d(H_i)$  consists of precisely those disks which project to  $D_*$ in  $\mathcal{H}_i$ . Furthermore, the closure  $b(D_j)^-$  in  $\mathfrak{B}'_0^-$  contains no limit point of  $H_i$ for such a point would have to lie on  $\partial D_j$ .

Suppose for j = 1,  $b(D_1)$  contains  $D' \in \Sigma_d(H_i)$  (necessarily  $D' \neq D_k$  for all k). Examine the position of the simple loops  $g^{-1}(\partial D')$ ,  $g^{-1}(\partial D_1) \in \Sigma(G_i)$  in  $\Omega_r(G)$ .

On the one hand, these two loops cannot lie in different components of  $\Omega_r(G)$ . For by facts (1) and (2) of §8.4,  $g^{-1}(\partial D')$  together with infinitely many other loops  $\{\alpha_i\}$  of  $\Sigma(G_i)$  bound a subregion of  $\Omega_r(G)$ . Consequently applying g we see that  $\partial D_1$  does not separate  $\partial D'$  from the  $\{g(\alpha_i)\}$  in  $\Sigma(H_i)$ . That is  $b(D_1)^-$  contains limit points of  $H_i$ , a contradiction.

On the other hand,  $g^{-1}(\partial D')$  and  $g^{-1}(\partial D_1)$  cannot lie in the same component of  $\Omega_r(G)$  either. Again this follows from fact (2) but this time we have to use the assumption that  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G)$  is not a ball.

We conclude that the union of the disks in  $\Sigma_d(H_i)$  is the relative boundary in  $\mathfrak{B}'_0$  of a topological ball  $\mathfrak{M}_i(H)^*$  which projects to the interior of a submanifold  $\mathfrak{M}_i(H)$  of  $\mathfrak{M}_0(H)$ . Fact (3) of §8.4 holds for  $\mathfrak{M}_i(H)^*$  for the same reason it holds for  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G)^*$ . Therefore, g is a homeomorphism  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_i(G)^* \cap \Omega_r(G) \to$  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_i(H)^* \cap \Omega_r(H)$ . Extend g to a homeomorphism  $\Sigma_d(G_i) \to \Sigma_d(H_i)$  which satisfies the additional requirement that if  $T(D_1) = D_2$  for  $D_1$ ,  $D_2 \in \Sigma_d(G_i)$ ,  $T \in G$ , then  $g|D_2 = \mathcal{P}(T)g|D_1$ .

Now we have exactly the situation of Case 1. Using the result of that case we can extend  $g_*$  from a homeomorphism  $\partial \mathfrak{M}_i(G) \to \partial \mathfrak{M}_i(H)$  to a homeomorphism  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G) \to \mathfrak{M}_i(H)$ . Note that  $g_*$  is also a homeomorphism of the disks  $\pi(\Sigma_d(G_i))$  in  $\mathfrak{M}_0(G)$  onto  $\pi(\Sigma_d(H_i))$ .

Now that g has been extended to  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G)^*$ , take a region  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G)^*$  which is adjacent to  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G)^*$  and repeat this process until  $\mathfrak{B}_0$  is completely filled up. In doing this make sure that once g has been extended to a disk D, its extension to T(D) for any  $T \in G$  is determined by the equation  $g|T(D) = \mathcal{P}(T)g|D$ . Then down in  $\mathfrak{M}_0(G)$ , as we pass from  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G)$  to an adjacent  $\mathfrak{M}_i(G)$ , the projection  $g_*$  will dictate how to attach  $\mathfrak{M}_i(H)$  to  $\mathfrak{M}_i(H)$ . After joining all the  $\mathfrak{M}_i(H)$  we must obtain  $\mathfrak{M}_0(H)$ , because the relative boundary components of  $\mathfrak{M}_i(H)^\circ$  in  $\mathfrak{M}_0(H)^\circ$  are disks all of which are accounted for in this joining process. Thus the original  $g_*: \mathfrak{d}\mathfrak{M}_0(G) \to \mathfrak{d}\mathfrak{M}_0(H)$  can be extended to a (PL) homeomorphism  $g_*: \mathfrak{M}_0(G) \to \mathfrak{M}_0(H)$ .

The final extension of  $g_*$  to a homeomorphism  $\mathfrak{M}(G) \to \mathfrak{M}(H)$  proceeds exactly as in Case 1. After that is done, the lift of  $g_*$  which induces  $\mathcal{P}$  has a quasiconformal extension to  $\mathcal{B}^-$ . 8.6. We can now prove the second part of Theorem 8.1. If f is the given quasiconformal homeomorphism  $\Omega(G) \to \Omega(H)$  and g is the quasiconformal map  $\mathfrak{B}^- \to \mathfrak{B}^-$  obtained in §8.5 then  $h = g^{-1}f$  restricted to  $\Omega(G)$  is a quasiconformal map  $\Omega(G) \to \Omega(G)$  which induces the identity automorphism of G. f has a quasiconformal extension to  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$  if and only if h does.

That h does have a quasiconformal extension is a consequence of a theorem of Maskit [37]. Maskit's proof proceeds by showing first that h has a continuous extension which is the identity on  $\Lambda(G)$  and second that, by a direct calculation, the extension is quasiconformal. However, we will provide another proof of this fact which from our point of view is natural and casts further light on Maskit's theorem. The goal is to extend h to  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  in order to apply Gehring's theorem. But the fact that h is not necessarily smooth forces us to take a small detour.

Let  $\mu(z)$  be the complex dilation of h in  $\Omega(G)$  and let  $h_0$  be a solution of the Beltrami equation  $(\partial \cdot / \partial \overline{z}) = \mu(\partial \cdot / \partial z)$  which is a quasiconformal homeomorphism on  $\partial \mathcal{B}$ . Then  $h_0 h^{-1}$  induces an isomorphism between kleinian groups  $\psi: G \to K$  and is a conformal homeomorphism  $\Omega(G) \to \Omega(K)$ . Rename  $h_0 h^{-1}$  to be h; we will show that h has a quasiconformal extension to  $\partial \mathcal{B}$ .

Assume first that  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  is compact. It will be clear from our proof that it is no additional restriction to assume  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  is connected as well. The projection  $h_*: \partial \mathfrak{M}(G) \rightarrow \partial \mathfrak{M}(K)$  is a diffeomorphism. By the collaring theorem [44, Theorem 5.9] there are compact,  $C^{\infty}$  submanifolds  $U \subset \mathfrak{M}(G)$ ,  $V \subset \mathfrak{M}(K)$ with  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G) \subset \partial U$ ,  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(K) \subset \partial V$ , and diffeomorphisms  $f: U \rightarrow R \times I$ ,  $g: V \rightarrow$  $R \times I$  where  $R \cong \partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ , I = [0, 1].

Set  $M = \mathfrak{M}(G) - U^{\circ}$ ,  $N = \mathfrak{M}(K) - V^{\circ}$ .  $h_*$  determines a diffeomorphism  $h'_*: \partial M \to \partial N$  and by the first part of Theorem 8.1 there is a PL homeomorphism  $\chi_1: M \to N$  whose restriction to  $\partial M$  is homotopic to  $h'_*$ . Smoothing  $\chi_1$  [43] we obtain a diffeomorphism  $\chi: M \to N$  which restricts to a diffeomorphism  $\partial M \to \partial N$  homotopic to  $h'_*$ .

Then the maps  $gh_*f^{-1}$  and  $g\chi f^{-1}$  are diffeomorphisms of the surfaces, say  $R \times \{0\}$  and  $R \times \{1\}$  respectively. Applying Lemma 1.13 there is a diffeomorphic extension of them to  $R \times I$ . This in turn yields a diffeomorphic extension of  $h_*$  to all  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  and Gehring's theorem shows that any lift of  $h_*$ to  $\mathfrak{B} \cup \Omega(G)$  has an extension to  $\mathfrak{B}^-$ .

Now consider the case that  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  is not compact. For simplicity we will assume  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  contains no cusp tori (cusp tori can be dealt with by a simpler version of the technique that will be used below). There are a finite number of mutually disjoint canonical pairing tubes  $\mathfrak{S}_i$  in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  such that  $M = \mathfrak{M}(G) - \bigcup \mathfrak{S}_i^{\mathfrak{s}}$  is compact (Proposition 4.2). The  $\mathfrak{S}_i$  can be taken smoothly attached to  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  (cf. §2.7). If these tubes are sufficiently small there are corresponding tubes  $\mathfrak{S}_i$  in  $\mathfrak{M}(K)$  and conformal maps  $\chi_i: \mathfrak{S}_i - \mathfrak{S}'_i$ . Also by the first part of Theorem 8.1,  $N = \mathfrak{M}(K) - \bigcup \mathfrak{S}'^0_i$  is compact.

It is not hard to show that the projection  $h_*: \partial \mathfrak{M}(G) \to \partial \mathfrak{M}(K)$  of h can be changed in a small neighborhood of  $(\bigcup \mathfrak{S}_i) \cap \partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  so as to obtain a diffeomorphism  $h'_*: \partial \mathfrak{M}(G) \to \partial \mathfrak{M}(K)$  which is homotopic to  $h_*$  and agrees with  $\chi_i$  in a neighborhood of  $\mathfrak{S}_i \cap \partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ , for all i. Extend  $h'_*$  to each  $\mathfrak{S}_i$  by setting it equal to  $\chi_i$  there. In particular we then obtain a diffeomorphism  $\partial M \to \partial N$ . The argument above using Lemma 1.13 allows us to extend  $h'_*$  to a diffeomorphism  $M \to N$ .

Let h' be the lift of  $h'_*$  that agrees with h on  $\Omega(G)$  except on a neighborhood of  $\pi^{-1}(\bigcup S_i) \cap \Omega(G)$ . By Gehring's theorem, h' has a quasiconformal extension to the limit set  $\Lambda(G)$ . But the only limit point on the closure of each component  $R_i$  of  $\pi^{-1}(\bigcup S_i) \cap \Omega(G)$  is a parabolic fixed point. It follows that the extension of h defined by setting h = h' on  $\Lambda(G)$  is quasiconformal (change h' to h first near  $R_1^-$ , then  $R_2^-$ , etc.).

To complete the proof of Theorem 8.1, if f is conformal on  $\Omega(G)$  it also has a quasiconformal extension to  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$  as above. Since, however,  $\Lambda(G)$  has 2dimensional measure zero, f is conformal everywhere.

8.7. In particular we have proved the following result.

COROLLARY 8.2. Suppose G, H are kleinian groups,  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  is compact and  $\varphi: \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}(G)) \to \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}(H))$  is an isomorphism. If  $f: \partial \mathfrak{M}(G) \to \partial \mathfrak{M}(H)$  is a diffeomorphism such that

 $i'(f(\pi_1(\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)))) = \mathcal{P}(i(\pi_1(\partial \mathfrak{M}(G))))$ 

for some canonical inclusions  $i': \pi_1(\partial \mathfrak{M}(H)) \to \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}(H))$ ,  $i: \pi_1(\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)) \to \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}(G))$ , then f can be extended to a diffeomorphism  $\mathfrak{M}(G) \to \mathfrak{M}(H)$  which induces  $\mathcal{P}$ .

**Proof.** By a canonical inclusion *i*, we understand the following. Fix a point  $p_i$  on each component S of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  which is to serve as the origin of  $\pi_1(S)$ . Fix a point  $0 \in \mathfrak{M}(G)$  as the origin of  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M}(G))$  and join each  $p_i$  to 0 by an arc. The choice of these arcs determines an inclusion *i*. The hypothesis enables us to lift f to a diffeomorphism  $\Omega(G) \to \Omega(H)$ .

*Remark* 1. With simple modifications, Theorem 8.1 holds as well if f is orientation reversing. One merely adds the terms orientation reversing and anti-conformal at the appropriate places in the hypotheses and conclusions. The statement that  $\varphi$  is an inner automorphism must then be interpreted in a larger group than SL(2, C)/ $\pm$  1.

*Remark* 2. There is an analogue of Theorem 8.1 for "constructible groups" due to Maskit.

**8.8.** Theorem 8.1 should be contrasted with the following result which is an elaboration of Mostow's rigidity theorem.

THEOREM 8.3. Suppose G and H are discrete subgroups of SL(2, C)/  $\pm 1$  such that

(i) G has finite volume (i.e., G has a fundamental polyhedron with finite hyperbolic volume), and

(ii) there exists an isomorphism  $\mathcal{P}: G \to H$ . Then  $\mathcal{P}$  is an inner automorphism (by a conformal or anticonformal map of  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$ ).

*Proof.* The isomorphism  $\mathcal{P}$  determines a one-to-one correspondence between cusp tori in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  and in  $\mathfrak{M}(H)$ . By Corollary 4.8,  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  can be compactified by the insertion of cusp tori. By Lemma 1.7 as applied in §8.3, the same is true of  $\mathfrak{M}(H)$ .

If  $H_1(\mathfrak{M}(G))$  is not a finite group then Waldhausen's work is applicable and we conclude as in §8.3 that  $\varphi$  is induced by a PL homeomorphism  $f: \mathfrak{M}(G) \to \mathfrak{M}(H)$ . We have also seen that f can be taken to be quasiconformal (this requires adjustment in cusp tori). Now f liftes to a quasiconformal homeomorphism  $\mathfrak{B} \to \mathfrak{B}$  and Mostow's rigidity theorem [41] can be applied to complete the proof for this case.

If  $H_1(\mathfrak{M}(G))$  is finite then in general Waldhausen's construction does not work. However, in this case  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  must be compact so some recent results obtained independently by Margulis [30] and Mostow [42] can be applied to finish the proof. Their results are obtained as follows. Since  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  and  $\mathfrak{M}(H)$  are  $K(\pi, 1)$  spaces,  $\varphi$  is induced by a PL map g which is not necessarily a homeomorphism. A lift  $g^*$  of g maps  $\mathfrak{B} \to \mathfrak{B}$ . It can be shown by elementary geometrical methods (see references listed in [30]) that even though  $g^*$  is not a homeomorphism, it can be extended to  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$  to be a homeomorphism and even to be quasiconformal there. This is all that is needed for Mostow's theorem.

*Remark.* Garland and Raghunathan [15, § 10] have extended Mostow's theorem to the non-compact case for hyperbolic space of dimension  $\geq 6$ .

# 9. Stability

9.1. Definition. Let  $A_1, \dots, A_n$  be a set of generators for the kleinian group G. An  $\varepsilon$ -deformation (with respect to  $A_1, \dots, A_n$ ) is a homomorphism  $\varphi: G \to SL(2, \mathbb{C})/\pm 1$  satisfying

(i)  $|\mathcal{P}(A_i) - A_i| < \varepsilon$ ,  $1 \leq i \leq N$ , in a suitable matrix representation,

and

(ii) if  $T \in G$  is parabolic, then  $\mathcal{P}(T)$  is parabolic.

Definition. G is quasiconformally stable if given a basis  $A_1, \dots, A_n$  of G there exists  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  such that each  $\varepsilon$ -deformation of G with  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$  is induced by a quasiconformal homeomorphism f of the 2-sphere  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$  (that is,  $\mathcal{P}(G) = fGf^{-1}$ ).

Clearly, if G is quasiconformally stable with respect to one set of generators, it is stable with respect to any other set. The goal of this chapter is to prove

**PROPOSITION 9.1.** If G has a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron then G is quasiconformally stable.

9.2. Before beginning the proof we will fix our notation and terminology as follows. Given a finite-sided hyperbolic polyhedron  $\mathcal{Q}$  in  $\mathcal{B}^-$ , the faces lying on  $\partial \mathcal{B}$  are called *free faces*; without the adjective free, a face lies in  $\mathcal{B}$ except perhaps for its edges or vertices. Likewise vertices or edges contained in  $\partial \mathcal{B}$  are called *free vertices* and *free edges* to distinguish between those objects lying in  $\mathcal{B}$  except perhaps for their boundary. All these objects, polyhedra, faces, etc., are taken to be closed in  $\mathcal{B}^-$ .

Thus  $\mathfrak{Q} \cap \partial \mathfrak{B}$  is a finite union of circular polygons and isolated free vertices. An isolated free vertex lies on at least three edges as does an ordinary vertex of  $\mathfrak{Q}$ . But a free vertex p which is also a vertex of one of the polygons  $\mathfrak{Q} \cap \partial \mathfrak{B}$  may not lie on any edge of  $\mathfrak{Q}$ . In this case two faces of  $\mathfrak{Q}$ are tangent at p and p lies on two free edges. We single this situation out for special attention only in the following circumstances. The faces f, f' are called *cusp faces* with *cusp point* p with respect to a Möbius transformation T if T is parabolic with fixed point p and Tf' = f.  $\mathfrak{Q}$  has an *open cusp* at pif p lies on no other face of  $\mathfrak{Q}$ . If there are two pairs of cusp faces at p with respect to  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$  respectively and p lies on no other face of  $\mathfrak{Q}$ , then the four faces are said to form a *closed cusp* at the *closed cusp point* p with respect to  $T_1$  and  $T_2$ .

9.3. We begin by proving

LEMMA 9.2. For all sufficiently small  $\varepsilon$ , if  $\varphi$  is an  $\varepsilon$ -deformation then  $\varphi(G)$  is a discrete group and  $\varphi$  is an isomorphism.

First we will prove Lemma 9.2 under the assumption that G does not contain parabolic transformations and then show that, with a minor elaboration, the proof works for the general case as well.

A rough idea of the proof is as follows. G has a finite-sided fundamental

polyhedron  $\mathcal{P}$ . When G is deformed slightly then in particular the transformations pairing the opposite faces of  $\mathcal{P}$  are deformed and consequently the faces of  $\mathcal{P}$  change slightly but still form a polyhedron  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$  close to  $\mathcal{P}$ . We are going to show that for all small  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$  is a fundamental polyhedron for  $\mathcal{P}(G)$ . What makes this true is that the relations in G force a certain rigidity on  $\mathcal{P}$ with respect to its property of being a fundamental set. To describe how this is so we must analyze the relationship between a fundamental polyhedron for a group and the relations in a group. For this reason we must proceed rather formally as follows.

**9.4.** Definition. Given N, fix two sets of letters  $f_1, f'_1, \dots, f_N, f'_N$  and  $F_1, \dots, F_N$ . A formal polyhedron  $\mathfrak{Q}$  is a non-euclidean polyhedron in  $\mathfrak{B}^-$  such that

(i)  $\mathfrak{Q}$  has 2m faces (free faces are not included),  $m \leq N$ , which are labeled from the set of letters  $(f_1, \dots, f'_N)$ . This labeling has the property that if  $f_j$  (resp.  $f'_j$ ) is one face then  $f'_j$  (resp.  $f_j$ ) is another face.

(ii) Corresponding to a pair of faces  $(f_j, f'_j)$  is a Möbius transformation labeled  $F_j$  such that  $F_j(f'_j) = f_j$ .  $F_j$  and  $F_j^{-1}$  are called face pairing transformations.

(iii) None of the transformations  $F_i$  associated with  $\mathcal{Q}$  are elliptic or parabolic.

Suppose  $\mathfrak{Q}$  is a formal polyhedron,  $e_1$  an edge of  $\mathfrak{Q}$ , and  $g_1$  (= some  $f_j$  or  $f'_j$ ) a face of  $\mathfrak{Q}$  containing  $e_1$ . There is a face pairing transformation  $G_1$  (=  $F_j$  or  $F_j^{-1}$ ) which maps  $g'_1$  (=  $f'_j$  or  $f_j$ ) onto  $g_1$  and an edge  $e_2$  of  $g'_1$  with  $G_1e_2 = e_1$ . Since  $G_1$  is not elliptic  $e_2 \neq e_1$ . There is exactly one face  $g_2 \neq g'_1$  which also contains  $e_2$ . Find the face  $g'_2$  and the side pairing transformation  $G_2$  for which  $G_2(g'_2) = g_2$ . There is an edge  $e_3$  of  $g'_2$  for which  $G_2(e_3) = e_2$ , etc. In this specific manner we obtain a sequence of edges  $(e_1, e_2, \cdots)$  such that for each (k + 1) there is a face pairing transformation  $G_k$  with  $G_k(e_{k+1}) = e_k$ . Then  $G_1G_2 \cdots G_k$   $(G_k \text{ first})$  maps  $e_{k+1}$  onto  $e_1$  and the polyhedra  $\mathfrak{Q}$ ,  $G_1(\mathfrak{Q}), \dots, G_1G_2 \cdots G_k(\mathfrak{Q})$  are arranged in cyclic order about  $e_1$ .

LEMMA 9.3. If  $e_k = e_i$  for 1 < i < k then  $e_j = e_1$  for some 1 < j < k.

*Proof.* Choose the smallest possible k with the requisite property.  $e_k$  is the common edge of  $g'_{k-1}$  and  $g_k$  while  $e_i$  is the common edge of  $g'_{i-1}$  and  $g_i$ . Since  $e_k = e_i$ ,  $G_{k-1}$  maps one of the faces containing  $e_i$  onto the face  $g_{k-1}$  containing  $e_{k-1}$  with  $G_{k-1}(e_i) = G_{k-1}(e_k) = e_{k-1}$ . That is, either  $g'_{k-1} = g'_{i-1}$  and  $G_{k-1} = G_{i-1}$ , or  $g'_{k-1} = g_i$  and  $G_{k-1} = G_i^{-1}$  (since  $g_{k-1} = g'_i$ ). In the former case  $e_{k-1} = e_{i-1}$  contradicting the minimal choice of k unless i = 2 in which case  $e_{k-1} = e_1$ . In the latter case  $e_{k-1} = e_{i+1}$ . Again this contradicts the minimal choice of k provided k - 1 > i + 1. Trivially we cannot have k - 1 < i + 1. If k = i + 2 then  $e_{i+2} = e_k = e_i$ . For this to occur either  $g'_{i+1} = g_i$  or  $g'_{i+1} = g'_{i-1}$ . The first case is clearly impossible since  $g_{i+1} \neq g'_i$ . In the second case the four sides  $g'_{i-1}$ ,  $g_i$ ,  $g'_i$ ,  $g_{i+1}$  form a closed loop which is also not possible.

In view of Lemma 9.3 there is a smallest n > 1 for which  $e_{n+1} = e_1$ , that is, for which the transformation  $G_1 \cdots G_n$  maps  $e_1$  onto itself. The *n* words  $G_1, G_1G_2, \cdots, G_1G_2 \cdots G_n$  when expressed in terms of the 2N letters  $F_1$ ,  $F_1^{-1}, \cdots, F_N^{-1}$  are called *edge pairing words* corresponding to  $e_1$ . The word  $G_1G_2 \cdots G_n$ , when expressed in the letters  $F_j$ ,  $F_j^{-1}$ , is also called an *edge relation* at  $e_1$ . There is a finite set of edge pairing words and one edge relation for each edge of  $\mathfrak{Q}$ .

**9.5.** We now apply the same process to vertices (not free vertices) of  $\mathcal{Q}$ . Choose a vertex  $v_1$  and one of the least three faces  $g_1$  (= some  $f_j$  or  $f'_j$ ) that share  $v_1$ . The face  $g'_1$  (=  $f'_j$  or  $f_j$ ) paired with  $g_1$  by  $G_1$  (=  $F_j$  or  $F_j^{-1}$ ) contains a vertex  $v_2$  with  $G_1(v_2) = v_1$ . Since  $G_1$  is not elliptic,  $v_2 \neq v_1$ . There are at least two choices for a face  $g_2 \neq g'_1$  which also contains  $v_2$ . A choice for  $g_2$ determines the vertex  $v_3$ , etc. We thus obtain a sequence of vertices  $(v_1, v_2, \cdots)$  where  $G_k v_{k+1} = v_k$  for a face pairing transformation  $G_k$ , for each k. The transformation  $G_1 \cdots G_k$  maps  $v_{k+1}$  onto  $v_1$  and the polyhedra  $\mathfrak{Q}, G_1(\mathfrak{Q}), \cdots, G_1G_2 \cdots G_k(\mathfrak{Q})$  all have  $v_1$  as a common vertex; one is adjacent to the next along a common face.

Note that if  $v_i = v_j$  for some i < j then the sequence  $(v_i, v_{i+1}, \dots, v_{j-1})$ arises from a face pairing procedure as above starting at  $v_i$  instead of  $v_1$ . Furthermore, if we obtain a sequence  $(v_1, \dots, v_n)$  with  $v_{n+1} = v_1$  then there is a least k for which there is a subset  $(v_1, v'_2, \dots, v'_k)$  such that  $v'_{k+1} = v_1$  but  $v'_i \neq v'_j$  for  $1 \leq i < j \leq k$ . For if  $v_i = v_j$  with  $1 \leq i < j \leq n$  then the shorter sequence  $(v_1, \dots, v_i, v_{j+1}, \dots, v_n)$  also arises from a face pairing procedure above. (However, we cannot assert that as transformations  $G_1 \cdots G_n =$  $G_1 \cdots G_i G_{j+1} \cdots G_n$ .)

We will admit a sequence  $(v_1, \dots, v_n)$  only if  $v_{n+1} = v_1$  and  $v_i \neq v_j$  for  $1 \leq i < j \leq n$ . The corresponding words  $G_1, G_1G_2, \dots, G_1G_2 \dots G_n$ , when expressed in the letters  $F_j, F_j^{-1}, 1 \leq j \leq N$ , are called vertex pairing words for  $v_1$ . The word  $G_1 \dots G_n$  in addition is called a vertex relation of  $v_1$ . In general there are many, but still a finite number, of admissible sequences at a given vertex  $v_1$ . Each of these sequences has a corresponding set of vertex pairing words. On the other hand, we do not assert that every vertex of  $\mathfrak{Q}$  has an admissible sequence as above. However, it is clear that at least some vertices of  $\mathfrak{Q}$  do.

Define the following two *finite* sets of words in the 2N letters  $F_1$ ,  $F_1^{-1}$ ,  $\cdots$ ,  $F_N^{-1}$ .

 $\mathfrak{W}(\mathfrak{Q}) = \{$ the set of all vertex pairing words and edge pairing words for all vertices and edges of  $\mathfrak{Q}\},\$ 

 $\Re(\mathfrak{Q}) = \{$ the set of all vertex relations and edge relations in  $\mathfrak{W}(\mathfrak{Q})\}.$ 

9.6. Definition. Two formal polyhedra  $\mathfrak{Q}_1$  and  $\mathfrak{Q}_2$  are equivalent if there exists a homeomorphism  $\mathfrak{Q}_1 \to \mathfrak{Q}_2$  which maps faces onto faces, edges onto edges, vertices onto vertices, such that a face named  $f_i$  (resp.  $f'_i$ ) of  $\mathfrak{Q}_1$  is mapped onto a face of  $\mathfrak{Q}_2$  which is also named  $f_i$  (resp.  $f'_i$ ).

Obviously if  $\mathfrak{Q}_1$  is equivalent to  $\mathfrak{Q}_2$  then  $\mathfrak{W}(\mathfrak{Q}_1) = \mathfrak{W}(\mathfrak{Q}_2)$  and  $\mathfrak{R}(\mathfrak{Q}_1) = \mathfrak{R}(\mathfrak{Q}_2)$ . Also, there are only a finite number of equivalence classes of formal polyhedra. Hence we can consider the large, but still finite, sets of words in the 2N letters  $F_1$ ,  $F_1^{-1}$ ,  $\cdots$ ,  $F_N^{-1}$ ,

$$\mathfrak{W} = \bigcup \mathfrak{W}(\mathfrak{Q}), \ \mathfrak{R} = \bigcup \mathfrak{R}(\mathfrak{Q})$$

where the unions are taken over all equivalence classes of formal polyhedra.

9.7. Now we are ready to begin the proof of Lemma 9.2. Fix a point  $0 \in \mathfrak{B}$  and let  $\mathscr{P}$  denote the finite-sided fundamental polyhedron for G with center 0 ( $\mathscr{P}$  is closed in  $B^-$ ). Set  $\mathfrak{V} = \{T \in G: T(\mathscr{P}) \cap \mathscr{P} \neq \emptyset, T \neq \text{identity}\}$ . Then  $\mathfrak{V}$  is a finite set of transformations and  $T \in \mathfrak{V}$  if and only if  $T^{-1} \in \mathfrak{V}$ . Hence  $\mathfrak{V}$  contains an even number 2N of elements. Enumerate these elements:  $S_1, S_1^{-1}, \dots, S_N, S_N^{-1}$ .

Now given this number N consider all formal polyhedra as in §9.5. We will interpret  $\mathcal{P}$  as one of these formal polyhedra in the following specific way. Label a pair of faces of  $\mathcal{P}$  as  $(f_i, f'_i)$  if and only if  $S_i$  is the transformation such that  $S_i(f'_i) = f_i$ . Then set  $F_i \equiv S_i$ .

Let  $\mathcal{F}$  denote the abstract free group generated by N letters,  $\mathcal{F} = \langle F_1, \dots, F_N \rangle$ . Extend the correspondence

$$\sigma(F_i) = S_i, \qquad 1 \leq i \leq N,$$

to  $\mathcal{F}$  to create a homomorphism  $\mathcal{F} \to G$ . A word  $W \in \mathcal{W}(\mathcal{P})$  is also in  $\mathcal{R}(\mathcal{P})$  if and only if  $\sigma(W) = \text{id.}$  ( $\mathcal{W}$  and  $\mathcal{R}$  are subsets of  $\mathcal{F}$ .)

9.8. We will now deform G. Recall first the definition

$$H(T)^{\circ} = \{p \in \mathfrak{B}: d(p, 0) = d(p, T(0))\}$$

and H(T) is the closure in  $\mathfrak{B}^-$  of  $H(T)^\circ$ . It is important to observe that  $H(T) \cap \mathfrak{P} \neq \emptyset$ ,  $T \in G$ , if and only if  $T \in \mathfrak{V}$ . In particular, for  $W \in \mathfrak{V}$ ,  $H(\sigma(W)) \cap \mathfrak{P} \neq \emptyset$  if and only if  $\sigma(W) \in \mathfrak{V}$ , if  $\sigma(W) \neq \mathrm{id}$ .

Moreover, there exists a neighborhood U of  $\mathcal{P}$  in  $\mathcal{B}^-$  for which

$$H(T)\cap U= arnothing$$
 ,  $T
eq \mathrm{id} \in G, \ T
otin \mathfrak{V}.$ 

Fix this neighborhood.

If  $\varphi$  is an  $\varepsilon$ -deformation we will consider the finite-sided polyhedron

$$\mathscr{P}_{arphi}'=\{p\in\mathfrak{B}: d(p,\,0)\leq dig(p,\,arphi(T)(0)ig)\;,\;\; ext{for}\;\;\;T=S_{j}^{\pm1},\;1\leq j\leq N\},$$

and its closure  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  in  $\mathscr{B}^-$ . For  $\mathscr{P} = \mathrm{id}$ ,  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  reduces to  $\mathscr{P}$ . We will consider deformations so small that  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  looks like  $\mathscr{P}$  except perhaps for additional faces arising in small neighborhoods of the vertices and edges of  $\mathscr{P}$ . It suffices to impose the following conditions.

The admissible  $\varepsilon$ -deformations. There exists  $\varepsilon_1$  sufficiently small so that all  $\varepsilon$ -deformations, determined with respect to  $S_1, \dots, S_N$ , with  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_1$ , satisfy the following conditions:

(i)  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi} \subset U$ .

(ii)  $H(\varphi(\sigma(W))) \cap U = \emptyset$  for all words  $W \in \mathfrak{V}$  such that  $\sigma(W) \neq \mathrm{id}$ ,  $\sigma(W) \notin \mathfrak{V}$ .

(iii) (a) If there is a face of  $\mathcal{P}$  in H(T) there is a face of  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$  in  $H(\varphi(T))$ . (b) If  $f \subset H(\varphi(T^{-1}))$ ,  $T \in \mathbb{O}$ , is a face of  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$  and  $\rho$  is any half open ray from 0 tending to a point on  $\varphi(T)(f)$ , then  $\rho \cap H(\varphi(V)) = \emptyset$  for all those  $V \in \mathbb{O}$  such that  $V^{-1}(H(T) \cap \mathcal{P})$  is disjoint from  $\mathcal{P}$ .

(iv)  $\varphi(S_j)$  is not elliptic, parabolic, or the identity,  $1 \leq j \leq N$ .

Note the admissible V in (iii) (b) are just those for which H(V) does not meet the face, edge, or vertex  $H(T) \cap \mathcal{P}$ . It is possible to satisfy (i) and (iii) because H(T) depends continuously on the parameters of T. For condition (ii) we also need the fact that  $\mathfrak{W}$  is a finite set of words.

LEMMA 9.4. The faces of  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$  are arranged in pairs, paired by some of the transformations  $\varphi(S_j)$ ,  $1 \leq j \leq N$ .

*Proof.* Consider a face  $f \subset H(\mathcal{P}(T^{-1}))$  of  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$ ,  $T \in \mathfrak{V}$ , and let x be any point in the interior of f. We will show that  $\mathcal{P}(T)(x)$  also lies on a face of  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$ . From this it follows that  $\mathcal{P}(T)(f) \subset H(\mathcal{P}(T))$  is also a face of  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$ .

Let v, v' be any two vertices of  $\mathcal{P}$  such that T(v) = v'. Let  $T_1 \in \mathfrak{V}, T_1 \neq T^{-1}$ , be any transformation such that  $T_1(v_1) = v$  for some vertex  $v_1$  of  $\mathcal{P}$ . Obviously  $T \ T_1 \in \mathfrak{V}$ . Conversely any  $V \in \mathfrak{V}$ , with  $V(v_1) = v'$  for some vertex  $v_1 \neq v$ , is of the form  $T \ T_1$  for some such  $T_1$ . Note also that  $v' \in H(T \ T_1)$ . Similar observations hold in case there are edges e, e' of  $\mathcal{P}$  with T(e) = e'. If  $T_1 \neq T^{-1}$  maps an edge  $e_1$  onto e then  $T \ T_1 \in \mathfrak{V}$  and any  $V \in \mathfrak{V}$  which maps an edge  $\neq e$  onto e' is of this form. Of course  $e' \subset H(T \ T_1)$ .

Since  $d(0, x) = d(0, \varphi(T)(x))$  and  $d(0, x) < d(x, \varphi(V)(0))$  for all  $V \in \mathcal{V}$ ,  $V \neq T^{-1}$ , we see in particular that

$$d(0, \varphi(T)(x)) < d(\varphi(T)(x), \varphi(T T_1)(0))$$

for all  $T_1$  as above. This says that  $\mathcal{P}(T)(x)$  is not separated from 0 by any of the planes  $H(\mathcal{P}(T|T_1))$ .

Now because of (iii) (b), the ray  $\rho$  from 0 to  $\varphi(T)(x)$  does not cross any planes  $H(\varphi(V))$  for those  $V \in \mathcal{V}$  for which V maps neither an edge nor a vertex into  $H(T) \cap \mathcal{P}$ . But the remaining  $V \in \mathcal{V}$ ,  $V \neq T$ , are of the form  $T T_1$  considered above. We have just seen that  $\rho$  cannot cross any of their planes  $H(T T_1)$  either. Hence  $\varphi(T)(x)$  lies on a face of  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$  as asserted.

Make  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$  into a formal polyhedron in the following way. A pair of faces of  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$  is labeled  $(f_i, f'_i)$  if and only if they are paired by  $\mathcal{P}(S_i)$  in the manner  $\mathcal{P}(S_i)$   $(f'_i) = f_i$ . Then set  $F_i = \mathcal{P}(S_i)$ . If  $\mathcal{P} = \text{id}$ ,  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$  reduces to the formal polyhedron  $\mathcal{P}$ .

Recall that  $\mathcal{F}$  denotes the free group  $\langle F_1, \dots, F_N \rangle$ . We have already introduced the homomorphism  $\sigma: \mathcal{F} \to G$  defined by  $\sigma(F_i) = S_i$ . A homomorphism  $\mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{P}(G)$  is determined by  $\mathcal{P} \circ \sigma: F_i \to \mathcal{P}(S_i)$ . To each word  $W \in \mathfrak{V}(\mathcal{P}_{\varphi})$ corresponds the transformation  $W_* = \mathcal{P}(\sigma(W)) \in \mathcal{P}(G)$  and this correspondence is the natural one determined by the construction of W.

9.9. Preliminary to the lemma below are the following two observations.

(a)  $\varphi(\sigma(W))(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi})\cap \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}= \varnothing$  for all  $W\in \mathfrak{W}$  such that  $\sigma(W)\neq \mathrm{id}, \ \sigma(W)\notin \mathfrak{V}.$ 

(b)  $\varphi(S)(\mathscr{P}^{\scriptscriptstyle 0}_{\varphi})\cap \mathscr{P}^{\scriptscriptstyle 0}_{\varphi}= \oslash \text{ for all } S\in \mathfrak{V}.$ 

The first is true because of condition (ii) in the choice of  $\varepsilon_1$  and the second is true because of the definition of  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$ .

**LEMMA 9.5.** If  $\varphi$  is an  $\varepsilon$ -deformation of G,  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_1$  where  $\varepsilon_1$  is given above, then  $\varphi(G)$  is a discrete group and  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  is the fundamental polyhedron for  $\varphi(G)$ with center at 0.

Proof. The proof is based on the following two facts.

- (1) If  $W \in \mathfrak{W}(\mathcal{P}_{\varphi})$  then either  $\sigma(W) = \text{id or } \sigma(W) \in \mathfrak{V}$ .
- (2) If  $W \in \mathcal{R}(\mathcal{P}_{\varphi})$  then  $\sigma(W) = \text{id}$ .

The first is true because of (a) above since  $W_*(\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}) \cap \mathcal{P}_{\varphi} \neq \emptyset$  where  $W_* = \varphi \circ \sigma(W)$ . If the second assertion is false then from (1),  $\sigma(W) = S_j^{\pm 1}$  for some j and  $W_* = \varphi(S_j)^{\pm 1}$ . But since  $W_*$  must preserve a vertex of  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$  or map an edge onto itself, either  $W_* = \text{id or } W_*$  is elliptic. Both possibilities are impossible by condition (iv) of § 9.8.

Consider an edge of  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  and the corresponding cyclic arrangement of polyhedra about  $e_1$ ; in the notation of §9.4 this cycle is  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$ ,  $G_1(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi})$ ,  $\cdots$ ,  $G_1 \cdots G_n(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}) = \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  (the last equality is true because of (2)). The interiors of

the polyhedra of this cycle are mutually disjoint. For suppose  $G_1G_2 \cdots G_i(\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}^{\circ}) \cap G_1G_2 \cdots G_j(\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}^{\circ}) \neq \emptyset$ , i < j. Then  $G_{i+1} \cdots G_j(\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}^{\circ}) \cap \mathcal{P}_{\varphi}^{\circ} \neq \emptyset$ . But as a word,  $G_{i+1} \cdots G_j \in \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{P}_{\varphi})$ . Again as a transformation by (1),  $G_{i+1} \cdots G_j = \mathcal{P}(S_k)$  or  $\mathcal{P}(S_k^{-1})$  for some k. Thus we have a contradiction to (b) above.

The analogous property is true at the vertices but requires that we re-examine §9.5 in the light of the more extensive information available on  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  than on arbitrary formal polyhedra. The extra information we now have is that  $\mathscr{P}(\sigma(W))$ ,  $W \in \mathfrak{W}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi})$ , fixes a point, in particular a vertex of  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$ , only if  $\mathscr{P}(\sigma(W)) = \mathrm{id}$ . This implies that there is at least one admissible cycle  $(v, v_2, \dots, v_n)$  with  $v_{n+1} = v$  at each vertex v; one such sequence arises from the edge cycle of an edge of  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  containing v.

Moreover the following is true. In the notation of §9.5 suppose  $T_1 = G_1 \cdots G_i$ ,  $T_2 = G'_1 \cdots G'_j$  are two vertex pairing transformations at v arising from the sequences  $(v, v_2, \dots, v_i)$ ,  $(v, v'_2, \dots, v'_j)$  respectively. We also can write  $T_1 = \varphi(\sigma(W_1))$ ,  $T_2 = \varphi(\sigma(W_2))$  for  $W_1$ ,  $W_2 \in \mathfrak{O}(\mathcal{P}_{\varphi})$ . Then

$$T_{\scriptscriptstyle 1}^{\scriptscriptstyle -1}T_{\scriptscriptstyle 2} = arphiigl(\sigma(W_{\scriptscriptstyle 1}^{\scriptscriptstyle -1})\sigma(W_{\scriptscriptstyle 2})igr) = arphiigl(\sigma(W_{\scriptscriptstyle 1}^{\scriptscriptstyle -1}W_{\scriptscriptstyle 2})igr)$$

but it is not necessarily true that  $W_1^{-1}W_2 \in \mathfrak{V}(\mathcal{P}_{\varphi})$ . However, it is true that  $T_1^{-1}T_2$  is a vertex pairing transformation arising from a "reduced" version of  $W_1^{-1}W_2$  in  $\mathfrak{V}(\mathcal{P}_{\varphi})$ . This reduction is done by eliminating all redundant vertices in the sequence  $(v_i, v_{i-1}, \dots, v_2, v, v'_2, \dots, v'_j)$  to obtain a sequence  $(v_i, v''_2, \dots, v''_{k-1}, v'_j)$  and corresponding transformation  $G''_1 \dots G''_k$ . Now we use the extra information about  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$  to deduce that

$$G_1'' \cdots G_k'' = G_i^{-1} \cdots G_1^{-1} G_1' \cdots G_i = T_1^{-1} T_2$$
.

Suppose now that  $T_1$ ,  $T_2$  are two vertex pairing transformations at  $v: T_1(v_1) = v = T_2(v_2)$ . We claim that unless  $T_1 = T_2$ ,  $T_1(\mathcal{P}^0_{\varphi}) \cap T_2(\mathcal{P}^0_{\varphi}) = \emptyset$ . For we have just shown that  $T_1^{-1}T_2$  is a vertex pairing transformation at  $v_1$  if it is not the identity. This implies that  $T_1^{-1}T_2 = \varphi(S_k)$  or  $\varphi(S_k^{-1})$  for some k and hence  $T_1^{-1}T_2(\mathcal{P}^0_{\varphi}) \cap \mathcal{P}^0_{\varphi} = \emptyset$ .

In other words we have just shown that under application of the vertex pairing transformations at a vertex v of  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$ , the images of  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$  are arranged in a non-overlapping manner about v. Furthermore, it is easy to see that these images of  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$  completely cover a sufficiently small neighborhood of v in  $\mathfrak{B}$ . We have also proved the analogous statements about edges.

**9.10.** All that is needed now to complete the proof of Lemma 9.5 is to apply what is sometimes known as Poincaré's theorem (see [38]). According to this theorem, since  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$  satisfies the vertex and edge conditions that we have verified above, the face pairing transformations of  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$  generate a discrete

group necessarily  $\mathcal{P}(G)$ , which has  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$  as a fundamental polyhedron. For the readers' convenience we will sketch a proof of this as follows.

Since hyperbolic distance is preserved under Möbius transformations, it follows that the orbit of  $\mathscr{P}'_{\varphi} = \mathscr{P}_{\varphi} - \mathscr{P}_{\varphi} \cap \partial \mathscr{B}$  under  $\mathscr{P}(G)$  covers  $\mathscr{B}$ . Therefore, the abstract configuration  $\widehat{\mathscr{B}}$  resulting from successively joining images of  $\mathscr{P}'_{\varphi}$  together as dictated by the face pairing transformations can be regarded as an unlimited covering of  $\mathscr{B}$  with the natural projection map. What we have shown above is that every point on an edge or a vertex has a neighborhood in  $\widehat{\mathscr{B}}$  homeomorphic to a ball. The simple connectivity of  $\mathscr{B}$  implies that  $\widehat{\mathscr{B}} = \mathscr{B}$ . Therefore,  $\mathscr{P}(G)$  is discrete and  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  is a fundamental polyhedron.

We remark that the free edges and vertices of  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$  play no role in this result.

9.11. In this section we will complete the proof of Lemma 9.2 for the case that G has no parabolic transformations. In view of Lemma 9.5 it remains only to show that  $\varphi$  is an isomorphism for all  $\varepsilon$ -deformations  $\varphi$  with  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_1$ . This is a consequence of the following known fact.

If H is a discrete group of Möbius transformations in  $\mathcal{B}$ , each relation in H is a consequence of the edge relations for a fundamental polyhedron  $\mathfrak{Q}$ (which need not be finite-sided). To see this, note that a relation in H corresponds to a simple loop  $\gamma$  in  $\mathcal{B}$  not passing through the orbit of the vertices of 2. If for example the relation is  $F_1F_2F_3 = 1$ , we might take for  $\gamma$  a path from C (= center of  $\mathfrak{Q}$ ) to  $F_{\mathfrak{q}}(C)$  to  $F_{\mathfrak{q}}F_{\mathfrak{q}}(G)$  to  $F_{\mathfrak{q}}F_{\mathfrak{q}}(C) = C$ .  $\gamma$  bounds a singular disk: There is a continuous map  $f: \Delta \to \mathcal{B}$  of the unit disk  $\Delta$ , with  $f(\partial \Delta) = \gamma$  and  $f(\Delta)$  transverse to all edges and not passing through any vertex in the orbit of  $\mathfrak{Q}$  under H. If  $\Gamma$  denotes the network of edges in  $\mathfrak{B}$  (= orbit of edges of  $\mathfrak{Q}$ ) then  $f^{-1}(\Gamma \cap f(\Delta))$  is a finite number of points. The relation determined by  $\gamma$  is a consequence of the edge relations determined by small loops around these points. That is,  $\partial \Delta$  (with the proper base point) is homotopic in  $\Delta - f^{-1}(\Gamma \cap f(\Delta))$  to a product of loops, each surrounding only one of these points. It is of course possible that  $\mathfrak{Q}$  has no edges so that each face is a full hyperbolic plane. In this case H is a free group. (For more details of this sort of analysis see [22, p. 233].)

Returning to our discrete group  $\varphi(G)$ , the above result can be applied as follows. The kernel N of the homomorphism  $\varphi \circ \sigma: \mathcal{F} \to \varphi(G)$  is the normal subgroup generated by the words  $W \in \mathcal{R}(\mathcal{P}_{\varphi})$  such that W is an edge relation. If  $\varphi$  is not an isomorphism there is a transformation  $T \in G$  such that  $T \neq \text{id}$ yet  $\varphi(T) = \text{id}$ . Express T as a word in the elements  $S_i^{\pm 1}$  of  $\mathfrak{V}$ . Replacing  $S_i^{\pm 1}$  by  $F_i^{\pm 1}$  we obtain a word  $T^* \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\sigma(T^*) = T$ . But  $T^* \in N$ . Now fact (2) of §9.9 implies that  $\sigma(W) = \text{id}$  for all  $W \in N$  since this is true of the generators. Hence  $T = \sigma(T^*) = \text{id}$ , a contradiction.

In other words, because every edge relation of  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$  comes from a relation in  $\mathcal{R}(\mathcal{P})$ , the homomorphism  $\varphi$  is an isomorphism.

**9.12.** The case in which G contains parabolic transformations. A number of small modifications are necessary so that the preceding proof also applies to the general case. These are as follows.

1. Choose the center 0 of the fundamental polyhedron  $\mathcal{P}$  of G so that a parabolic fixed point  $p \in \mathcal{P}$  only if p is a cusp point of an open or closed cusp of  $\mathcal{P}$  (in the terminology of § 9.2). The associated parabolic transformation(s) are to be generators of  $M_p$ . This choice of 0 is possible by Lemma 4.1.

Suppose  $\mathcal{P}$  has r open cusps and s closed cusps.

2. The definition of formal polyhedra in § 9.4 must be revised as follows. Each formal polyhedron  $\mathfrak{Q}$  must have r open cusps and s closed cusps. As before, the faces of  $\mathfrak{Q}$  are labeled from the letters  $f_1, \dots, f'_N$  but now we make the convention that the letters  $f_{N-r-2s+1}, \dots, f'_{N-2s}$  be used for the faces of the open cusps, and  $f_{N-2s+1}, \dots, f'_N$  for the faces of closed cusps. In the latter case each sequence of four starting with  $(f_{N-2s+1}, \dots, f'_{N-2s+2})$  is to be used for one closed cusp. Of course the parabolic transformations associated with the cusps are also to be face pairing transformations of  $\mathfrak{Q}$ .

The condition to replace (iii) of §9.4 is that no face pairing transformation  $F_i$  of  $\mathfrak{Q}$  is elliptic or parabolic, except those associated with a cusp.

3. Let  $\mathcal{P}^+$  denote the result of deleting the cusp points from  $\mathcal{P}$ . Then define (cf. § 9.7)

$$\mathfrak{V}=\{T\in G\colon T(\mathscr{G}^+)\cap \mathscr{G}^+
eq \varnothing, \ T
eq \mathrm{id}\}$$

and correspondingly enumerate the elements of  $\mathfrak{V}: S_1, \dots, S_N^{-1}$  so that  $S_{N-r-2s+1}, \dots, S_{N-2s}$  pair the faces of the open cusps and  $S_{N-2s+1}, \dots, S_N$  pair the faces of the closed cusps. Each sequence of two starting with  $(S_{N-2s+1}, S_{N-2s+2})$  is associated with a single cusp.

4. The changes required in § 9.8 to determine the allowable deformations are as follows. First suppose that  $\mathfrak{Q}$  is a formal polyhedron and  $p \in \mathfrak{Q}$  is a cusp point. A cusp neighborhood  $\beta(p)$  for p is an open ball in  $\mathfrak{B}$ , internally tangent to  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$  at p, so small that  $\beta(p)^-$  intersects only those faces of  $\mathfrak{Q}$  that are cusp faces at p. A cusp neighborhood  $\beta$  for  $\mathfrak{Q}$  is the union of cusp neighborhoods, one for each cusp point.

Now recall from Lemma 4.1 that for each cusp point p of  $\mathcal{P}$ ,

(1) 
$$H(T) \cap \{p\} = \emptyset$$
, all  $T \in G$ ,  $T \notin M_p$ .

Therefore, there exists a neighborhood  $U^+$  of  $\mathcal{P}^+$  such that

(2) 
$$H(T) \cap U^+ = \emptyset$$
,  $\operatorname{all} T \neq \operatorname{id} \operatorname{in} G, T \notin \mathfrak{V}.$ 

There exists  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  so small that any  $\varepsilon$ -deformation  $\varphi$  with  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$  satisfies the following conditions (cf. (i)-(iv) of § 9.8).

(i)<sup>+</sup>  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  has r open and s closed cusps, the associated parabolic transformations being the image under  $\varphi$  of the corresponding ones in  $\mathfrak{V}$ .

 $(\mathrm{i})_2^+$  For each cusp point q of  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$ ,  $H(\varphi\sigma(W)) \cap \{q\} = \emptyset$  for all  $W \in \mathfrak{W}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi})$ such that  $\sigma(W) \notin M_p$ , for the corresponding cusp point p of  $\mathscr{P}$ .

(i)<sup>+</sup><sub>3</sub> There exists a cusp neighborhood  $\beta_{\varphi}$  for  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  such that  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi} - \mathscr{P}_{\varphi} \cap \beta_{\varphi} \subset U^+$ .

(ii)<sup>+</sup>  $H(\varphi\sigma(W)) \cap U^+ = \emptyset$  for all words  $W \in \mathfrak{W}$  such that  $\sigma(W) \neq \mathrm{id}$ ,  $\sigma(W) \notin \mathfrak{V}$ , and  $\sigma(W) \notin M_p$  for all cusp points p of  $\mathcal{P}$ .

 $(iii)^+$  This is the same as (iii) of § 9.8.

 $(\mathrm{iv})^+ \ arphi(S_j)$  is not elliptic, parabolic, or the identity,  $1 \leq j \leq N - r - 2s$ .

These conditions can be satisfied using (1) and (2) becasue  $\mathfrak{V}$  and  $\mathfrak{W}$  are finite sets. An immediate consequence of  $(i)_2^+$  is that if  $W \in \mathfrak{V}(\mathcal{P}_{\varphi})$  then  $\mathcal{P}\sigma(W)$ , the element of  $\mathcal{P}(G)$  determined by W, cannot fix a cusp point of  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$  unless it pairs two faces or edges of that cusp. With this fact in mind the proof proceeds exactly as in the more restrictive case already discussed.

9.13. Proposition 9.1 will be deduced from Lemma 9.2 by applying Theorem 8.1. To do this we have to analyze the relation of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(\mathcal{P}(G))$  to  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  for an  $\varepsilon$ -deformation  $\mathcal{P}$  (small  $\varepsilon$ ). First we will show that  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(\mathcal{P}(G))$ is homeomorphic to  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ . We will begin the necessary analysis by taking note of the structure of  $P = \mathcal{P} \cap \partial \mathfrak{B}$ , where  $\mathcal{P}$  is the fixed fundamental polyhedron for G.

*P* is the union of a finite number of finite-sided circular polygons and a finite number of isolated points. Each of these is either a cusp point of a closed cusp of  $\mathcal{P}$  or is what will be called an *isolated vertex* of *P*. In addition a vertex *v* of *P* may be a *tangent vertex*. This is the case that two faces of  $\mathcal{P}$  are tangent at *v*; however, *v* may or may not be an open cusp point of  $\mathcal{P}$ . In *P* we will interpret this situation to be that of two sides  $s_1$ ,  $s_2$  of *P* being tangent at *v*.

The sides of P are arranged in pairs but more than one pair of sides may be associated with a given side-pairing transformation (a face of  $\mathcal{P}$  may determine more than one side of P). The side-pairing transformations of Pare the restrictions to  $\partial \mathcal{B}$  of the relevant face-pairing transformations of  $\mathcal{P}$ . If v is a tangent vertex for the sides  $s_1$ ,  $s_2$  then the image  $v_1$  on the side  $s'_1$ paired with  $s_1$  may or may not also be a vertex of P. If v is a cusp point then  $s'_1 = s_2$  and there is nothing more to be said. Otherwise, if  $v_1$  is also a vertex (necessarily a tangent vertex), find  $v_2$ , etc. Ultimately, since  $\pi(v)$  is an interior point of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ , we must reach a point  $v_n$  which is not a vertex of P. However, it will be convenient in what follows to regard such a point  $v_n$  as a vertex too. That is, any point on P equivalent under G to a vertex of P will also be called a vertex.

 $P_{\varphi} = \mathscr{P}_{\varphi} \cap \partial \mathscr{B}$  is similar to P allowing for the following possibilities: (a) a polygon which is a component of P may gain additional sides near a vertex, (b) an isolated vertex of P may disappear, (c) instead of an isolated vertex a small polygon may appear, or (d) a tangent vertex may disappear or be replaced by ordinary vertices. It is helpful to keep these possibilities in mind. Rather than show how each of these changes can arise topologically in  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ , we will proceed as follows.

9.14. Consider the vertices v of P which are not cusp points of  $\mathcal{P}$ . Fix open euclidean disks D(v),  $D_1(v)$  centered at v such that (a)  $D(v)^- \subset D_1(v)$ , (b) the disks  $\{D_1(v)\}$  for all v are mutually disjoint, and (c) if  $v_1 \neq v_2$  then  $T(D_1(v_1)) \cap D_1(v_2) = \emptyset$  for all  $T \in G$  unless  $T(v_1) = v_2$  in which case  $D_1(v_2) = T(D_1(v_1))$ . In other words,  $D_1(v)$  is the lift of a small neighborhood of  $\pi(v) \in \partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ .

Choose  $\varepsilon_2 < \varepsilon_0$  ( $\varepsilon_0$  as chosen in §9.12) so that all  $\varepsilon$ -deformations  $\varphi$  with  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_2$  satisfy

(i)  $\varphi(T)(D_1(v_1)) \cap D_1(v_2) = \emptyset$  for all  $T \in \mathfrak{V}$  (cf. § 9.7) with  $T(v_1) \neq v_2$ ,

(ii) a side of P extending between  $D(v_1)$  and  $D(v_2)$  determines a side of  $P_{\varphi}$  which also extends between  $D(v_1)$  and  $D(v_2)$ ,

(iii) a side of  $P_{\varphi}$  which does not arise from a side of P lies in some disk D(v).

Since each side pairing transformation of  $P_{\varphi}$  is  $\varphi(T)$  for some  $T \in \mathfrak{V}$ , we see these conditions can be satisfied.

If  $V(v'_1) = v'_2$  for (non-cusp) vertices  $v'_1 \neq v'_2$  of  $P_{\varphi}$ ,  $V \in \mathcal{P}(G)$ , then we know that  $V = \mathcal{P}(T)$  for some  $T \in \mathfrak{V}$ . Moreover, it is important to observe that if  $v'_1 \in D(v_1)$  and  $v'_2 \in D(v_2)$  it follows from (i) that  $T(v_1) = v_2$  and  $v_1 \neq v_2$ .

Fix a vertex of P which is not an isolated or tangent vertex or equivalent to a tangent vertex. There is a cyclic arrangement of images of P about vand a corresponding sequence of transformations  $G_1, G_1, G_2, \dots, G_1G_2 \dots G_n =$ id, where each  $G_i$  is a side pairing transformation of P. Suppose  $\varphi$  is an  $\varepsilon$ deformation with  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_2$  and v' is any vertex of  $P_{\varphi}$  which lies in D(v). Since each  $\varphi(G_i)$  is a side pairing transformation of  $P_{\varphi}$ , the sequence

$$P_{\varphi}, \varphi(G_1)(P_{\varphi}), \dots, \varphi(G_1 \dots G_n)(P_{\varphi}) = P_{\varphi}$$

is a cyclic arrangement of distinct images of  $P_{\varphi}$ , each adjacent to the previous and to the succeeding region along a common side. Let  $Q_{\varphi}(v)$  denote the union of these *n* regions. We have to make one more restriction on  $\varepsilon_2$  as follows:  $\varepsilon_2$  must be so small that for all  $\varepsilon$ -deformations  $\varphi$  with  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_2$ ,

(iv)  $Q_{\varphi}(v)$  covers  $D_1(v) - D(v)$  for all vertices of P not isolated or tangent vertices. The exceptional cases will be included after the discussion below.

Note that (iv) is the extension of (ii) to the polygons in the cycle at v.

We claim that  $Q_{\varphi}(v)$  must in fact cover D(v) as well as  $D_1(v) - D(v)$ . If this is not the case there is a point  $v' \in D(v)$ ,  $v' \in \partial Q_{\varphi}(v)$ , such that v' is a vertex of  $Q_{\varphi}(v)$ . By replacing  $Q_{\varphi}(v)$  by  $Q_{\varphi}((G_1 \cdots G_k)^{-1}(v))$  for a suitable kif necessary, we can assume that v' is a vertex of  $P_{\varphi}$ . There is a cyclic arrangement of images of  $P_{\varphi}$  about v' and a corresponding sequence of transformations  $V_1, V_1 V_2, \cdots, V_1 V_2 \cdots V_m = \text{id}$ , where each  $V_j$  is a side pairing transformation of  $P_{\varphi}$  and  $V_1 \cdots V_k$  maps a vertex  $v'_k \neq v'$  of  $P_{\varphi}$  onto v', k < m. But by (i),  $V_1 \cdots V_k = \varphi(T)$  for some  $T \in \mathfrak{V}$  and moreover if  $v'_k \in D(v_1)$ ,  $T(v_1) = v$ . This implies  $T = G_1 \cdots G_j$  for some j. But then  $V_1 \cdots V_k (P_{\varphi})$  is already contained in  $Q_{\varphi}(v)$ . Since this is true for all k, we have a contradiction.

An isolated vertex v of P has a cycle about it and there is an analogous  $Q_{\varphi}(v)$ . Since there is a  $T \in \mathfrak{V}$  such that T(v) is an ordinary vertex of P, the proof above shows that for small enough  $\varepsilon_{z}$ ,  $Q_{\varphi}(\pi)$  covers  $D_{1}(v) \supset D(v)$ .

On the other hand, if v is a tangent vertex of P, but not a cusp point, there are two vertices  $w_1$ ,  $w_2$  which are interior points of the sides  $s_1$ ,  $s_2$  of Pwhich are equivalent to v by transformations in  $\mathfrak{V}$ . It suffices to examine the situation at  $w_1$ . There is a relation of the form  $G_1 \cdots G_n T = \mathrm{id}$  where each  $G_i$  is a side pairing transformation of P and  $T(w_1) = w_2$ ,  $T(s_1) = s_2$ . Each  $G_1 \cdots G_i$ , i < n, maps a tangent vertex of P to  $w_1$ . For sufficiently small  $\varepsilon_2$ , the analysis of  $Q_{\varphi}(w_1)$  and hence  $Q_{\varphi}(v)$  proceeds as before so that  $Q_{\varphi}(v)$  covers not only  $D_1(v) - D(v)$  but also D(v).

The fact that the cycles about the vertices of  $P_{\varphi}$  cover the disks D(v) together with property (i) of  $\varepsilon_2$  imply the following statement. For any  $\varepsilon$ -deformation  $\varphi$  with  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_2$  the natural projection  $\pi_{\varphi}$  of D(v) into  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(\varphi(G))$  is injective.

9.15. Let  $P^+$  denote the result of removing the cusp points and isolated vertices from P. The orbit  $\Omega^+$  of  $P^+$  under the subgroup  $G^+$  of G generated by the side pairing transformations of  $P^+$  is a union of components of  $\Omega(G)$  and has the property that  $\Omega^+/G^+ = \partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ . The complement in  $\Omega^+$  of the orbit of  $R = P^+ - P^+ \cap (\bigcup_v D(v))$  under  $G^+$  is a countable union of mutually

disjoint disks.

Compare R and  $R_{\varphi} = P_{\varphi}^+ - P_{\varphi}^+ \cap (\bigcup_v D(v))$ , where  $P_{\varphi}^+$  is obtained from  $P_{\varphi}$  by removing cusp points and isolated vertices. Each component of R is a finite-sided circular polygon and is homeomorphic as a polygon (sides correspond to sides) to a component of  $R_{\varphi}$  which is close to it. This is true because of properties (ii) and (iii) of  $\varphi$ . Furthermore, this homeomorphism  $R \to R_{\varphi}$  induces a 1-1 correspondence between side pairing transformations. In fact we can choose the homeomorphism  $f: R \to R_{\varphi}$  so that if S is a side pairing transformation of P and p, S(p) are points of R then  $f(S(p)) = \varphi(S)(f(p))$ .

Let  $\Omega_{\varphi}^+$  be the union of those components  $\Omega'$  of  $\Omega(\varphi(G))$  for which  $T(R_{\varphi}) \subset \Omega'$ for some  $T \in \varphi(G^+)$ . We claim that f extends to a homeomorphism  $\Omega^+ \to \Omega_{\varphi}^+$ . It is clear that the isomorphism  $\varphi: G^+ \to \varphi(G^+)$  determines an extension, again called f, to a homeomorphism between the orbits  $G^+(R) \to \varphi(G^+)(R_{\varphi})$ . Each component D of  $\Omega^+ - G^+(R)$  is a disk and the circle  $\partial D$  is the union of simple arcs, one each on say  $T_1(R), \dots, T_k(R)$ , for  $T_j \in G^+$ ,  $1 \leq j \leq k$ . Since the natural projection  $D \to \partial \mathfrak{M}(\varphi(G))$  is injective (as observed above), D is also a component of  $\Omega_{\varphi}^+ - \varphi(G^+)(R_{\varphi})$ . Our restrictions on  $\varepsilon$  which force  $R_{\varphi}$  to be close to R and the analysis in § 9.14 show that  $\partial D$  is also the union of simple arcs on  $\varphi(T_1)(R_{\varphi}), \dots, \varphi(T_k)(R_{\varphi})$  with the order and orientation the same as when R is used. Thus we see f can be extended to D, and since Dis arbitrary, to all  $\Omega^+$ .

Finally f is extended to all  $\Omega(G)$  as follows. G is a countable union of right cosets of  $G^+$ . Each coset  $G^+T$  can be identified with  $T(\Omega^+)$  since  $T(\Omega^+) \cap \Omega^+ = \emptyset$  unless  $T \in G^+$  (otherwise  $T(P) = T_1(P)$  for some  $T_1 \in G^+$ ). Similarly the distinct right cosets of  $\mathcal{P}(G^+)$  are in 1-1 correspondence with disjoint regions  $\mathcal{P}(T)(\Omega^+_{\varphi})$ . Consequently by the use of  $\varphi$ , f can be extended to a homeomorphism  $\Omega(G) \to \Omega(\varphi(G))$ .

The conditions of Theorem 8.1 are now all fulfilled and Proposition 9.1 follows at once.

9.16. The methods developed above can also be used to prove

COROLLARY 9.5. Let G be a discrete subgroup of  $\mathrm{SL}(2, \mathbb{C})/\pm 1$  which has a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron of finite volume. Then there exists  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  such that for every  $\varepsilon$ -deformation  $\varphi$  with  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$ , the homomorphism  $G \to \varphi(G)$  is induced by a quasiconformal homeomorphism  $\mathfrak{M}(G) \to \mathfrak{M}(\varphi(G))$ .

Our proof of Proposition 9.1 shows that for some  $\varepsilon_0$ ,  $\varphi$  is an isomorphism for each  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$ . If for example  $H_1(\mathfrak{M}(G))$  is not a finite group then Waldhausen's theorem [51] implies that  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  and  $\mathfrak{M}(\varphi(G))$  are quasiconformally equivalent. If however  $H_1(\mathfrak{M}(G))$  is finite the quasiconformal map

must be explicitly constructed. However, the proof following the lines introduced for Proposition 9.1 works in all cases. It is based on the fact that  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$ of § 9.8 is geometrically the same as  $\mathcal{P}$  except in a small neighborhood of the edges. This implies that  $\mathfrak{M}(\mathcal{P}(G))$  is homeomorphic to  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ , using  $\mathcal{P}$  and  $\mathcal{P}_{\varphi}$ to construct the homeomorphism. We will omit the details since Corollary 9.5 is also a special case of Theorem 8.3 once it is known that  $\varphi$  is an isomorphism.

Remark. In the case that  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  is compact the assertion that  $\varphi$  is an isomorphism is a special case of a much more general result contained in A. Weil's classic papers [52]. From a somewhat different point of view it is also contained in Macbeath's paper [23]. Of course Theorem 8.3 implies that  $\varphi$  is in fact an inner automorphism. But for small deformations, this fact too is contained in [52]. Weil's work approaches the subject from the point of view of cohomology.

#### 10. The deformation space

10.1. Terminology: A K-quasiconformal deformation f of the kleinian group G is a K-quasiconformal homeomorphism of  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$  that induces an isomorphism  $\varphi$  of G onto another kleinian group. That is, the correspondence  $\varphi: T \to f T f^{-1}, T \in G$ , is an isomorphism between kleinian groups.

Definition. The kleinian group G is strongly stable if (i) given K > 1there exists  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  such that every  $\varepsilon$ -deformation  $\varphi$  of G with  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$  is induced by a K-quasiconformal deformation of G, and (ii) each quasiconformal deformation H of G also satisfies (i).

THEOREM 10.1. If G has a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron then G is strongly stable.

Proof. We have already proved (Proposition 9.1) that for  $\varepsilon$  sufficiently small each  $\varepsilon$ -deformation  $\varphi$  is induced by a quasiconformal deformation  $g_{\varphi}^*$  of G. We need only show that for  $\varepsilon$  small enough  $g_{\varphi}^*$  can be taken with maximal dilatation  $\langle K$ . Now the projection  $g_{\varphi}$  of  $g_{\varphi}^*$  to  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  is a quasiconformal map  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G) \to \partial \mathfrak{M}(\varphi(G))$ . Let S be a component of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ . It is enough to show that for all sufficiently small  $\varepsilon$  there is a K-quasiconformal map  $f_{\varphi}: S \to$  $S_{\varphi} = g_{\varphi}(S)$  which is homotopic to  $g_{\varphi}$ . For the result of replacing  $g_{\varphi}^*$  by the corresponding lift  $f_{\varphi}^*$  of  $f_{\varphi}$  in each component of  $\Omega(G)$  over S again yields a quasiconformal homeomorphism of  $\partial \mathfrak{R}$  (Theorem 8.1). And then, using the fact that the limit set  $\Lambda(G)$  has 2-dimensional measure zero, when this process is completed for all components S of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  we obtain a K-quasiconformal deformation of G. Furthermore, if we can verify condition (i) of the definition of strong stability then (ii) follows automatically. For G has a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron if and only if  $fGf^{-1}$  does, where f is a quasiconformal deformation of G.

Thus consider a component  $\Omega_1$  of  $\Omega(G)$  over a component S of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  and the subgroup H of G that keeps  $\Omega_1$  invariant. In view of what has been said above, Theorem 10.1 will follow if, in particular, we can prove that the function group H is itself strongly stable. For  $\Omega_1$  is an arbitrary component of  $\Omega(G)$  and the initial  $\varepsilon_0$  obtained needs to be reduced at most once for each component of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ . In applying what follows it is necessary to recall that Corollary 6.5 says that the subgroup H also has a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron.

10.2. LEMMA 10.2. Suppose H is a B-group with a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron. Then H is strongly stable.

Proof. As usual,  $\Omega_0(H)$  denotes an invariant component of  $\Omega(H)$ . We have proved that for  $\varepsilon_0$  sufficiently small, there exists a quasiconformal map  $g: \Omega(H) \to \Omega(\mathcal{P}(H))$  which induces  $\mathcal{P}$ . Set  $\Omega_0(\mathcal{P}(H)) = g(\Omega_0(H))$ . In view of the discussion in § 10.1 it suffices to show that for sufficiently small  $\varepsilon_0$ , there is a K-quasiconformal map  $f: \Omega_0(H) \to \Omega_0(\mathcal{P}(H))$  which induces  $\mathcal{P}$ . For if we can show this, the argument can be repeated for each component  $\neq \Omega_0(H)$  of  $\Omega(H)$  and the corresponding quasi-fuchsian subgroup of H.

Before continuing the proof, we will consider the following lemma.

LEMMA 10.3. Given a compact set  $\omega$  in  $\Omega_0(H)$  there exists  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  so small that  $\omega \subset \Omega_0(\varphi(H))$  for all  $\varepsilon$ -deformations  $\varphi$  with  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$ .

*Proof.* If  $\mathscr{P}$  is a fundamental polyhedron for H, set  $P = \mathscr{P} \cap \Omega_0(H)$ . Then  $\omega$  can be covered by a finite number of images  $\{P_j\}$  of P under H. We see from our analysis in § 9.14 that P is covered by the union of  $P_{\varphi} = \mathscr{P}_{\varphi} \cap \Omega_0(\mathscr{P}(H))$  and those translates of  $P_{\varphi}$  under  $\mathscr{P}(H)$  that adjoin  $P_{\varphi}$ , for all sufficiently small  $\varepsilon$ -deformations  $\mathscr{P}$ . The same is true of each  $P_j$  and we choose  $\varepsilon_0$  so small as to serve for all j. This proves Lemma 10.3.

10.3. Continuing the proof of Lemma 10.2, in the sense of Lemma 10.3,  $\lim \Omega_0(\varphi(H)) = \Omega_0(H)$  as  $\varepsilon_0 \to 0$ . This is the kind of convergence required to apply the Carathéodory convergence theorem. The application of this theorem is as follows.

For sufficiently small  $\varepsilon_0$ , we can find a point  $\zeta \in \Omega_0(H)$  such that  $\zeta \in \Omega_0(\varphi(H))$ for all  $\varepsilon$ -deformations  $\varphi$  with  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$ . Let  $f_{\varphi}$  be the conformal map  $\Omega_0(\varphi(H)) \rightarrow \Delta = \{z: |z| < 1\}$  normalized by  $f_{\varphi}(\zeta) = 0$ ,  $f'_{\varphi}(\zeta) > 0$ ; the corresponding conformal map for  $\Omega_0(H)$  is denoted by f. Each fuchsian group  $F_{\varphi} = f_{\varphi} \varphi(H) f_{\varphi}^{-1}$ is isomorphic to  $F = fHf^{-1}$  under the correspondence

$$\psi(A)=f_arphi arphi(f^{-1}Af)f_arphi^{-1}$$
 ,  $A\in F.$ 

Clearly  $\psi(T)$  is parabolic if and only if T is, since these T are induced by punctures on  $\Omega_0(H)/H$ . Moreover, Q = f(P) and  $Q_{\varphi} = f_{\varphi}(P_{\varphi})$  are fundamental sets for F and  $F_{\varphi}$  respectively in  $\Delta$ .

Suppose then  $\omega$  is a given compact set of  $\Omega_0(H)$  which contains P in its interior  $\omega^0$ , except for small neighborhoods of its cusps. For sufficiently small  $\varepsilon_0$ ,  $\omega^0$  also contains  $P_{\varphi}$ , except for small neighborhoods of its cusps. It follows from the Carathéodory convergence theorem that given  $\varepsilon_1$ ,  $\varepsilon_0$  can be chosen so small that

$$(1) \qquad \qquad |f_{\varphi}(z) - f(z)| < \varepsilon_{\scriptscriptstyle 1}, \ |f'_{\varphi}(z) - f'(z)| < \varepsilon_{\scriptscriptstyle 1}, \\ |f_{\varphi}^{-1}(w) - f^{-1}(w)| < \varepsilon_{\scriptscriptstyle 1}, \ |(f_{\varphi}^{-1})'(w) - (f^{-1})'(w)| < \varepsilon_{\scriptscriptstyle 1} \\ \end{array}$$

for all  $z \in \omega$ ,  $w \in f(\omega)$ , and all  $\varepsilon$ -deformations  $\varphi$  with  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$ .

F is generated by the side pairing transformations  $A_1, \dots, A_N$  of Q, the images under f of the side pairing transformations of P (which, it is easily seen, generate H). Using the set  $\{A_i\}$  as generators consider the  $\varepsilon$ -deformations of F as a fuchsian group (essentially homomorphisms into  $\operatorname{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})/\pm 1$ ). It is known [7], [8] that  $\varepsilon_2 > 0$  can be chosen so small that every  $\varepsilon$ -deformation of F with  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_2$  is induced by a K-quasiconformal homeomorphism of  $\Delta$  onto itself. We will show below that for small enough  $\varepsilon_0$ , for every  $\varepsilon$ -deformation  $\varphi$  with  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$ , the isomorphism  $\psi: F \to F_{\varphi}$  is an  $\varepsilon$ -deformation of F as a fuchsian group with  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_2$ . Assuming this, if  $\psi$  is induced by the Kquasiconformal map h, then  $\varphi$  is induced by the K-quasiconformal map  $f_{\varphi}hf^{-1}: \Omega_0(H) \to \Omega_0(\varphi(H))$ .

To prove our assertion above, recall that given p,  $q \in \Delta$  and  $0 \leq \Theta < 2\pi$ , a Möbius transformation T (which preserves  $\Delta$ ) is uniquely determined by the requirements T(p) = q and arg  $T'(p) = \theta$ . Furthermore, T depends continuously on the parameters p, q and  $\exp(i\theta)$ . In particular given  $p \in \Delta$  and a Möbius transformation A, there is a neighborhood N of p and a number  $\mathfrak{p}$ such that any Möbius transformation T which satisfies

(2) 
$$T(N) \cap A(N) \neq \emptyset$$
,  $|T'(p) - A'(p)| < \mathfrak{p}$ 

also satisfies (in the matrix sense)  $|T - A| < arepsilon_2$ .

We will apply this fact to show that  $\varepsilon_0$  may be chosen so small that  $|\psi(A_i) - A_i| < \varepsilon_2$ ,  $1 \leq i \leq N$ . Consider for example  $A = A_1$  and choose  $p \in f(\omega^0)$  so that  $A(p) \in f(\omega^0)$ . Find a neighborhood  $N \subset \omega^0$  (and  $A(N) \subset \omega^0$ ) about p and a number p which fulfill the conditions above with respect to A. Examine

the expressions

$$\psi(A) = f_arphi \mathcal{P}(B) f_arphi^{-1}, \;\; B = f^{-1} A f \;, \ \psi(A)'(p) = [f'_arphi (\mathcal{P}(B)) ig( f_arphi^{-1}(p) ig) ] [\![ \mathcal{P}(B)' ig( f_arphi^{-1}(p) ig) ] [\![ (f_arphi^{-1})'(p) ig) ] \;.$$

In view of (1) it is clear that for  $\varepsilon_1$ , and ultimately  $\varepsilon_0$ , small enough, the element  $T = \psi(A)$  will satisfy (2). This completes the proof of Lemma 10.2.

10.4. In order to complete the proof of Theorem 10.1 we have to make use of the following object.

Definition 10.4. Suppose G is a kleinian group. The deformation variety V(G) for G is the algebraic variety constructed as follows. Describe G group-theoretically in terms of its generators  $A_1, \dots, A_N$  and relations

(1) 
$$W_i(A_1, \dots, A_N) = \mathrm{id}, \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots$$

where each  $W_i$  is a word in the  $A_j$ ,  $1 \leq j \leq N$ . Furthermore, there are conditions involving the trace

(2) 
$$\operatorname{tr}^2 W_j^*(A_1, \cdots, A_N) = 4$$
,  $j = 1, 2, \cdots$ 

that arise from the parabolic elements of G. The coefficients in a matrix representation of the  $A_i$ ,  $1 \leq i \leq N$ , can be interpreted as the homogeneous coordinates of a point in the product complex projective 3-space  $\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{s}}(\mathbf{C})^N$ . As we range through every ordered set of N normalized matrices  $\{B_i\}$  whose entries satisfy (1) and (2) we describe a Zariski open subset V(G) of an algebraic variety in  $\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{s}}^N$ .

The points of V(G) are in 1-1 correspondence with homomorphisms  $\varphi: G \to \mathrm{SL}(2, \mathbb{C})/\pm 1$  which send parabolic transformations of G to parabolic transformations. For this reason the notation  $\operatorname{Hom}_a(G, \operatorname{SL}(2, \mathbb{C})/\pm 1)$  is also used for V(G).

V(G) is said to be *locally irreducible* at a point  $x \in V(G)$  if x has a neighborhood in V(G) which is manifold.

10.5. LEMMA 10.5. Suppose H is a function group which is not a Bgroup. If H has a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron, then H is strongly stable.

*Proof.* According to Bers [8, Props. 1, 2], a necessary and sufficient condition for the uniform stability ( $\equiv$  condition (i) in the definition of strong stability) of a kleinian group G is that V(G) be locally irreducible at the point corresponding to G and have there complex dimension  $\sigma(G) + 3$ . Here  $\sigma(G)$  is the complex dimension of the space of cusp forms for G (cf. [8]). We will prove Lemma 10.5 by applying this result.

The first step is to decompose H as dictated by Proposition 5.8 to obtain
$$H = H_1 \ast \cdots \ast H_m \ast \mathfrak{A}_1 \ast \cdots \ast \mathfrak{A}_r \ast \{A_1\} \ast \cdots \ast \{A_s\} \ast \{T_1\} \ast \cdots \ast \{T_n\}$$

where each  $H_i$  is a *B*-group with a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron,  $\mathfrak{A}_j$  is a free abelian group of rank two with two parabolic generators,  $\{A_k\}$  is the cyclic group generated by the parabolic  $A_k$ , and  $\{T_i\}$  is the cyclic group generated by the loxodromic transformation  $T_i$ . By Lemma 10.2 and Bers' criterion,  $V(H_i)$  is locally irreducible at  $H_i$  for each *i*. The varieties  $V(\mathfrak{A}_j)$ ,  $V(\{A_k\})$ ,  $V(\{T_i\})$  are all manifolds. The deformation variety V(H) is the product of these individual varieties and therefore is locally irreducible at H. Lemma 10.4 will follow once we prove that  $\dim_{\sigma} V(H) = \sigma(H) + 3$ .

Now dim  $V(\Omega_i) = 3$  since the two parabolic generators have a common fixed point, and dim  $V(\{A_k\}) = 2$ , dim  $V(\{T_i\}) = 3$ . Therefore, from the fact that dim  $V(H_i) = \sigma(H_i) + 3$  using §5.12 (1) we find, in the notation of §5.12 except introducing the subscript *i* for  $H_i$ ,

$$\dim V(H) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} (6g_i + 2b_i - a_i - 3) + 3n + 3r + 2s$$
.

But if g is the genus of  $\Omega_0(H)/H$  and b is the number of punctures, then

$$g = \sum_{i=1}^m g_i + r + n$$
 ,  $\ b = \sum_{i=1}^m b_i + 2s$  .

Consequently if  $a = \Sigma a_i$ ,

dim 
$$V(H) = 6g + 2b - 3(r + n + m) - 2s - a$$
.

On the other hand referring back to  $\S 5.14$  (2) we find

$$\sigma(H) = \dim V(H) - 3 .$$

This proves Lemma 10.5 and completes the proof of Theorem 10.1.

10.6. The main application of Theorem 10.1 is to the theory of moduli.

Definition 10.6. If G is a kleinian group, the deformation space T(G) for G is the set of all pairs  $(h, \mathfrak{M}(H))$ , where  $h: \mathfrak{M}(G) \to \mathfrak{M}(H)$  is a homeomorphism, with the identification  $(h_1, \mathfrak{M}(H_1)) = (h_2, \mathfrak{M}(H_2))$  if and only if  $h_1h_2^{-1}: \mathfrak{M}(H_2) \to \mathfrak{M}(H_1)$  is homotopic to a conformal map.

Bers defines T(G) as the set of equivalence classes of isomorphisms  $\psi: G \to \psi(G) \in \mathbf{M} \equiv \mathrm{SL}(2, \mathbb{C})/\pm 1$  which are induced by quasiconformal homeomorphisms of  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$ . Two isomorphisms are called equivalent if they differ by an inner automorphism of  $\mathbf{M}$ .

LEMMA 10.7. If G has a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron, the Definition 10.6 of T(G) is equivalent to Bers' definition.

**Proof.** A homeomorphism  $h: \mathfrak{M}(G) \to \mathfrak{M}(H)$  is homotopic to a PL homeomorphism  $h_1$ . By the method of Proposition 3.4,  $h_1$  is homotopic to a quasiconformal map  $h_2$  which is conformal or quasiconformal outside a compact set (i.e., conformal in the solid cusp tori, quasiconformal in the pairing tubes). A lift of  $h_2|\mathfrak{M}(G)^\circ$  to  $\mathfrak{B}$  is quasiconformal and consequently has a quasiconformal extension to  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$  (Gehring's theorem).

The converse is a consequence of Theorem 8.1.

Recall that the dimension  $\sigma(G)$  of the complex vector space of cusp forms for G is

$$\sigma(G) = \Sigma(3g_i + b_i - 3)$$

where  $g_i$  is the genus of the  $i^{th}$  component of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  and  $b_i$  is the number of its punctures.

On combining Theorem 10.1 with some results of Bers we obtain

THEOREM 10.8. Assume G is a kleinian group with a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron. Then T(G) is a  $\sigma(G)$ -dimensional complex analytic manifold and there is a canonical holomorphic bijection of  $T(G) \times \mathbf{M}$  onto an open subregion of the deformation variety V(G) (defined in § 10.4).

Other definitions of T(G) are due to Maskit [37] and quite recently Kra [21]. Their theories are more general in that they apply to all kleinian groups and show that T(G) is always a complex analytic manifold. However, the price paid is that these results do not say how T(G) appears in the deformation variety V(G). For further details of this work which show in particular how T(G) is related to the Teichmüller spaces of the individual components of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ , we must refer to the references cited above.

# 11. Composition of groups

11.1. In a series of papers [31, 32, 35], Maskit has presented some procedures for building up kleinian groups from simpler ones. These results extend the original Klein combination theorems. It is interesting to express his techniques in terms of 3-manifolds. We will not seek the most general formulation but will be content with the most practical, namely, combination techniques involving circles.

Suppose G is a kleinian group (without torsion) and  $\pi$  is the natural map  $\pi: \mathfrak{B} \cup \Omega(G) \to \mathfrak{M}(G)$ . An oriented hyperbolic plane h divides  $\mathfrak{B}$  into two parts which we distinguish as the right R(h) and left L(h) sides of h.  $R(h) \cap T(R(h)) = \emptyset$  for all  $T \in G$  if and only if  $\pi: R(h) \to \mathfrak{M}(G)$  is injective. In this case  $\pi(h)$  is an open disk in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ . In the case  $\partial h \subset \Omega(G)$ ,  $\pi(\partial h)$  bounds a disk in  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  and  $\pi(R(h))$  will be referred to as a *trivial ball*.

If a parabolic  $A \in G$  with fixed point p is induced by a puncture on  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ , we can find a plane h with  $p \in \partial h \subset \Omega(G) \cup \{p\}$  so small that for a suitable orientation of h,  $R(h) \cap T(R(h)) = \emptyset$  for all  $T \in G$ ,  $T \notin M_p$  (the maximal parabolic subgroup corresponding to p). If  $T \in M_p$  we require T(R(h)) = R(h). Then  $\pi(h)^-$  is a half-infinite cylinder in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ ; R(h) is referred to as an *invariant ball* corresponding to  $M_p$ .

If a component  $\Omega_1$  of  $\Omega(G)$  is a euclidean disk on  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$ , we can erect a plane h on  $\partial \Omega_1$ . One of the regions, say R(h), determined by h has the property that  $T(R(h)) \cap R(h) = \emptyset$  unless  $T \in G_1$ , the subgroup that preserves  $\Omega_1$  (there are two choices for R(h) only if G is fuchsian).  $\pi(R(h)) \cong (\Omega_1/G_1) \times (0, 1)$  and R(h) is called the *invariant ball* determined by  $G_1$ .

The three types of combinations, in order of the frequency with which they can be applied, are as follows. In each case the proofs are immediate. G,  $G_1$ ,  $G_2$  denote kleinian groups and h,  $h_1$ ,  $h_2$  oriented hyperbolic planes. The notation  $\langle X, Y \rangle$  is used to denote the group generated by the groups X and Y.

(1a) Suppose  $R(h_1)$ ,  $R(h_2)$  are disjoint trivial balls for G. Let T be any Möbius transformation such that  $T(R(h_2)) = L(h_1)$ . Then  $H = \langle G, \{T\} \rangle$  is kleinian.

(1b) Suppose R(h) is a trivial ball for  $G_1$  and L(h) is trivial for  $G_2$ . Then  $H = \langle G_1, G_2 \rangle$  is kleinian.

(2a) Suppose  $R(h_1)$ ,  $R(h_2)$  are disjoint invariant balls corresponding to the maximal parabolic subgroups  $M_p$ ,  $M_q$  of G. Find a Möbius transformation T for which  $T(R(h_2)) = L(h_1)$  and  $TM_qT^{-1} = M_p$ . Then  $H = \langle G, \{T\} \rangle$  is kleinian.

(2b) Suppose  $M_p$  is a maximal parabolic subgroup for both  $G_1$  and  $G_2$  and R(h), L(h) corresponding invariant balls for  $G_1$  and  $G_2$  respectively. Then  $H = \langle G_1, G_2 \rangle$  is kleinian.

(3a) Suppose  $\Omega_1$ ,  $\Omega_2$  are two components of  $\Omega(G)$  which are euclidean disks and let  $R(h_1)$ ,  $R(h_2)$  denote the invariant balls corresponding to the subgroups  $G_1$  and  $G_2$  which preserve  $\Omega_1$  and  $\Omega_2$  respectively. Assume there is a Möbius transformation T such that  $G_1 = TG_2T^{-1}$  and  $T(R(h_2)) = L(h_1)$ . Then  $H = \langle G, \{T\} \rangle$  is kleinian.

(3b) Suppose  $\Omega_1$  is a component of  $\Omega(G_1)$  which is a euclidean disk and likewise  $\Omega_2$  of  $\Omega(G_2)$ . Assume R(h) is an invariant ball for the subgroup  $K_1$  of  $G_1$  that preserves  $\Omega_1$  and likewise L(h) and  $K_2$  for  $\Omega_2$ . If  $K_1 = K_2$  then  $G = \langle G_1, G_2 \rangle$  is kleinian.

In (1a),  $H = G*\{T\}$ . In the cases (2a) and (3a) the relations in H are consequences of the relations in G and the relations arising from the conjugation. For the cases (b),  $H = G_1*_{\kappa}G_2$  where  $K \subset G_1$ ,  $G_2$  is the common subgroup that preserves h.

The manifold  $\mathfrak{M}(H)$  is obtained topologically (not analytically) from the

original ones as follows. In the cases (a), let  $\Delta_1$ ,  $\Delta_2$  be the open euclidean disks in  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$  which are bounded by  $\partial h_1$ ,  $\partial h_2$  and are adjacent to  $R(h_1)$ ,  $R(h_2)$ respectively. To obtain  $\mathfrak{M}(H)$ , identify  $\Delta_1/K_1$  with  $\Delta_2/K_2$  where  $K_1$ ,  $K_2$  are the subgroups of G preserving  $h_1$ ,  $h_2$  respectively.  $\mathfrak{M}(H)$  contains the nondividing surface  $h_1/K_1 \equiv h_2/K_2$ . For the cases (b), to obtain  $\mathfrak{M}(H)$  identify  $\Delta_1/K \subset \partial \mathfrak{M}(G_1)$  with  $\Delta_2/K \subset \partial \mathfrak{M}(G_2)$ , where  $\Delta_1$ ,  $\Delta_2$  are the complementary components on  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$  which are bounded by  $\partial h$  and K is the common subgroup preserving h.  $\mathfrak{M}(H)$  is divided by the surface h/K.

11.2. PROPOSITION 11.1. Let C be the class of kleinian groups which have a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron. Then C is preserved by the operations (1), (2), (3) above.

**Proof.** If  $G \in \mathcal{C}$ , there exists a compact  $\mathfrak{M}_{c} \subset \mathfrak{M}(G)$  such that  $\mathfrak{M}(G)^{\circ} - \mathfrak{M}_{c}^{\circ}$  is a finite union of pairing tubes and solid cusp tori. In view of Proposition 4.2 and the topological interpretation of the various procedures (1)-(3), Proposition 11.1 will follow once we recognize the fate of the pairing tubes under these operations. Combinations of type (1) do not affect these tubes so Proposition 11.1 is immediate in this case. For the remaining cases it suffices to illustrate the situation for a combination of type (2a) since the others are dealt with in the same way.

Combination (2a) results in the conjugation of a puncture  $p_1$  in a component  $S_1$  of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  and a puncture  $p_2 \neq p_1$  of  $S_2$  (possibly  $S_2 = S_1$ ). There also results identification of a punctured disk  $\Delta_1 \subset S_1$  about  $p_1$  with a punctured disk  $\Delta_2 \subset S_2$  about  $p_2$ .  $S_1$  and  $S_2$  become a single component  $(S_1 - \Delta_1) \cup_{\partial \Delta_1 \equiv \partial \Delta_2} (S_2 - \Delta_2)$  of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(H)$ . In addition there is a cylinder  $C_1$  pairing  $p_1$  with another puncture  $p'_1$  of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  with  $\partial \Delta_1 \subset \partial C_1$  and  $C_2$  pairing  $p_2$  with  $p'_2$ ,  $\partial \Delta_2 \subset \partial C_2$ . If  $p_1$  and  $p_2$  determine the same conjugacy class of parabolic transformations, take  $C_1 = C_2$ . Otherwise we can assume  $C_1 \cap C_2 = \emptyset$ . In the case  $C_1 \neq C_2$ ,  $C = C_1 \cup_{\partial \Delta_1 \equiv \partial \Delta_2} C_2$  becomes a new cylinder pairing  $p'_1$  and  $p'_2$ . If  $C_1 = C_2$ , then C is a torus corresponding to the conjugacy class of a maximal parabolic subgroup which is free abelian of rank two. In either case  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(H)$ contains two fewer punctures than  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  but has one higher genus (if  $S_1 = S_2$ ) or one fewer component (if  $S_1 \neq S_2$ ). Using these facts we see that the operation can be carried out in  $\mathfrak{M}_{\varepsilon}$  (properly constructed), the result is compact in  $\mathfrak{M}(H)$ , and the complementary components are (the interiors of) Q.E.D. pairing tubes and solid cusp tori.

Incidently, if  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  has 2n paired punctures, we have shown how to eliminate all of them by adding n generators to G and creating n conjugacy classes of free abelian subgroups of rank two of H.

Maskit [31] has used combinations (1) and (2) to construct all possible function groups.

COROLLARY 11.2. Suppose G and H are kleinian groups such that (i)  $G \in \mathcal{C}$ ,

(ii) all components of  $\Omega(G)$  and  $\Omega(H)$  are euclidean disks,

(iii) the components of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ ,  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(H)$  are arranged in distinct pairs  $(R_i, R'_i)$  and  $(S_i, S'_i)$  where  $R_i$  and  $R'_i$ ,  $S_i$  and  $S'_i$  are anticonformally equivalent,

(iv) there is an orientation preserving homeomorphism  $f: \Omega(G) \to \Omega(H)$ which induces an isomorphism  $\varphi: G \to H$  and a injection between the pairs  $(R_i, R'_i) \to (S_i, S'_i)$ .

Then G and H are conjugate groups.

**Proof.** Combination (3a) allows us to identify the paired components of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  to obtain a manifold  $\mathfrak{M}'(G)$  without boundary but of finite hyperbolic volume. Similarly we can obtain  $\mathfrak{M}'(H)$  from  $\mathfrak{M}(H)$ . With the help of f, the isomorphism  $\mathcal{P}$  can be extended to an isomorphism  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M}'(G)) \to \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}'(H))$ . Now apply Theorem 8.3.

11.3. It is not unreasonable to ask whether in some sense an arbitrary  $G \in \mathcal{C}$  can be built up from simpler groups by repeated application of combinations (1)-(3). For the case that G has no parabolic elements, Waldhausen [51] has shown how to break up  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  into a union of balls by successively introducing incompressible surfaces in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ . This process could indeed be formulated in terms of a combination process for kleinian groups in  $\mathcal{C}$  although it would require a significantly more complicated version of combination 3. Furthermore, this process would extend to all groups of  $\mathcal{C}$ . However, the more interesting question is whether there is some a priori way of doing this for each G. This would depend on knowing a "canonical" form for each manifold  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ . In contrast to the situation for surfaces, such a detailed classification for 3-manifolds is not yet known.

## 12. An extension of the assumption

12.1. The assumption in § 6.1 is not broad enough to include all known groups. For Maskit has a method whereby he can "degenerate" the invariant component of the regular set for some function groups which are not B-groups. In order to include Maskit's groups, we shall make a more general assumption which evidently encompasses all known groups.

Definition. A kleinian group G is reducible if  $G = G_1 * G_2$  is a non-trivial free product of subgroups with the property that if  $\Omega_1$  is a component of  $\Omega(G)$  and H the subgroup of G that preserves  $\Omega_1$ , then H is conjugate in G to a

subgroup of either  $G_1$  or  $G_2$ .

Note that at least one of the groups  $G_1$ ,  $G_2$  appearing in a reducible decomposition of G is kleinian; the other is either kleinian, cyclic, or free abelian of rank two. For given a component  $\Omega_1$  of  $\Omega(G)$ , for some  $T \in G$ ,  $T(\Omega_1)$ is a component of either  $\Omega(G_1)$  or  $\Omega(G_2)$ . Obviously function groups are not reducible nor are groups for which  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  is compact and each component of  $\Omega(G)$  simply connected (Lemma 1.10). Probably no group with a finite-sided fundamental polyhedron is reducible but we shall not pursue this question here.

12.2. Given a kleinian group H, denote the number of components of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(H)$  by b(H). If H is cyclic or free abelian of rank two, set b(H) = 1.

LEMMA 12.1. If  $G = G_1 * G_2$  is a reducible decomposition,

$$b(G) \leq b(G_1) + b(G_2) - 2$$
.

Proof. Assume  $G_1$  is kleinian and denote by  $G(\Omega')$  the subgroup of G that preserves the component  $\Omega'$  of  $\Omega(G)$ . If  $TG(\Omega')T^{-1} \subset G_1$ ,  $T \in G$ , then  $G(T(\Omega')) \subset G_1$ . Hence there is a maximal set of components  $\Omega_1, \dots, \Omega_n$  of  $\Omega(G)$  such that (i) the groups  $G(\Omega_i)$  are non-conjugate (in  $G_1$ ) subgroups of  $G_1$ , and (ii) if  $G(\Omega')$  is conjugate in G to a subgroup of  $G_1$ , then  $T(\Omega') = \Omega_i$  for some i and  $T \in G$ . That condition (ii) can be satisfied depends on the fact that two elements of  $G_1$  which are conjugate in G are actually conjugate in  $G_1$  [24, Corollary 4.1.5].

Let  $\Gamma$  be the orbit of  $\cup \Omega_i$  under  $G_1$  and let  $\Gamma^*$  denote the exterior of  $\Gamma$ with respect to  $\partial \mathfrak{B}$ . If  $T \in G$ ,  $T \notin G_1$ , then  $T(\Omega_1) \subset \Gamma^*$ . For otherwise  $T(\Omega_1) = S(\Omega_i)$  for some *i* and  $S \in G_1$  so that  $S^{-1}TG(\Omega_i)T^{-1}S = G(\Omega_1)$  and  $T^{-1}S \in G_1$ , a contradiction. We conclude that the open set  $\Gamma^* \neq \emptyset$  and  $\Gamma^* \cap \Omega(G_1)/G_1$  is the union of the components of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G_1)$  which do not appear in  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$ .

Q.E.D.

For any kleinian group G we can consider reducible decompositions into subgroups

(1) 
$$G = G_1 * \cdots * G_m * \{T_1\} * \cdots * \{T_n\} * \mathfrak{C}_1 * \cdots * \mathfrak{C}_r, \qquad m \ge 1,$$

where each  $G_i$  is kleinian, each  $\{T_i\}$  is cyclic, and each  $\mathfrak{A}_i$  free abelian of rank two. The ranks satisfy  $r(G) = \Sigma r(G_i) + n + 2r$  (Lemma 1.9) and Lemma 12.1 implies that

(2) 
$$b(G) \leq \sum_{i=1}^{m} b(G_i) - 2m - n - r + 2$$
.

Suppose  $\Delta$  is an infinite polyhedral disk in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  whose ideal boundary "approaches" an end of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  (i.e.,  $\Delta$  has no limit points in  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$ ). Then  $\Delta$ 

splits  $\pi_1(\mathfrak{M}(G))$  into a free product  $G = G_1 * G_2$ . One sees that the set of limit points of  $\Delta$  viewed as a subset of  $\mathfrak{M}(G_i)$  is contained in a component of  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G_i)$ . It is not known whether all reducible decompositions are determined by such disks  $\Delta$ . Even for Maskit's example this is unclear.

12.3. Assumption 12.2. G has a reducible decomposition (1) where every subgroup  $G_i$  satisfies Assumption 6.1.

The next result follows at once from (2) and Theorem 7.1 which says that if H satisfies Assumption 6.1 and has N generators then  $b(H) \leq 2N - 2$ .

**PROPOSITION 12.3.** Assume G satisfies Assumption 12.2 and has N generators. Then if G has the decomposition (1) and  $\partial \mathfrak{M}(G)$  has b(G) components,

$$b(G) \leq 2N - 4m - 3n - 5r + 2$$
.

If b(G) = 2N - 2 then G is not reducible.

We hasten to add that Bers' inequality shows that Proposition 12.3 holds without Assumption 12.2. Of course we have more information on the structure of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  since Theorem 6.4 tells us about each  $\mathfrak{M}(G_i)$ .

# 13. Appendix

13.1. Recently G. P. Scott proved a result which has very important implications for (finitely generated) kleinian groups G. As applicable to our situation his result is as follows.

THEOREM 13.1 (Scott [55]). There is a compact submanifold M of  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  such that the inclusion map  $\pi_1(M) \to \pi_1(\mathfrak{M}(G))$  is an isomorphism.

The following result, which is an immediate consequence, has also been obtained earlier by Scott [54] and independently by Shalen.

COROLLARY 13.2. G is finitely presented.

COROLLARY 13.3. If G is not a (non-trivial) free product then Assumption 6.1 is satisfied.

*Proof.* Either apply the techniques of Chapter 6 or refer directly to Scott's paper [54].

13.2. Particularly in view of the results cited above, the basic reasons for the validity of Ahlfors' finiteness theorem and Bers' inequality seem much clearer. Of course there is still the very important problem of extending the above results to the general case that G is a free product. But one cannot resist posing in addition the following two problems which appear insurmountable at this time.

1. Is  $\mathfrak{M}(G)^{\circ}$  homeomorphic to the interior of a compact manifold?

#### **KLEINIAN GROUPS**

2. Is there a necessary and sufficient condition on  $\pi_1(\eta)$  that the 3-manifold  $\eta$  be homeomorphic to  $\mathfrak{M}(G)$  for some G (of course,  $\eta$  is orientable, irreducible, aspherical and  $\pi_1(\eta)$  has trivial center)?

INSTITUTE FOR ADVANCED STUDY UNIVERSITY OF MINNESOTA

### References

- R. D. M. ACCOLA, Invariant domains for kleinian groups, Amer. J. Math. 88 (1966), 329-336.
- [2] L. V. AHLFORS, Finitely generated kleinian groups, Amer. J. Math. 86 (1964), 413-429 and 87 (1965), 759.
- [3] ——, Fundamental polyhedrons and limit sets of kleinian groups, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. 55 (1966), 251-254.
- [4] ——, Mostow's rigidity theorem, in Proc. Romanian-Finnish Seminar on Teichmüller spaces and quasiconformal mappings, Brasov, Romania, 1969.
- [5] A. F. BEARDON, On horospheres at parabolic fixed points, to appear.
- [6] L. BERS, Inequalities for finitely generated kleinian groups, J. d'Anal. Math. 18 (1967), 23-41.
- [7] ——, On boundaries of Teichmüller spaces and on kleinian groups I, Ann. of Math.
  91 (1970), 570-600.
- [8] ——, Spaces of Kleinian Groups, Maryland Conference in Several Complex Variables I, Maryland, 1970, Lecture Notes in Math. 155, Springer-Verlag.
- [9] R. H. BING, An alternate proof that 3-manifolds can be triangulated, Ann. of Math.
  69 (1959), 37-65.
- [10] C. J. EARLE and J. EELLS, A fibre bundle description of Teichmüller theory, J. of Diff. Geom. 3 (1969), 19-43.
- [11] C. J. EARLE and A. SHATZ, Teichmüller theory for surfaces with boundary, J. of Diff. Geom. 4 (1970), 169-185.
- [12] D. B. A. EPSTEIN, Curves on 2-manifolds and isotopies, Acta Math. 115 (1966), 83-107.
- [13] P. FATOU, Fonction Automorphes, vol. 2 of Théorie des fonctions algébriques..., by P. E. Appell and E. Goursat, Gauthiers-Villars, Paris, 1930.
- [14] L. R. FORD, Automorphic Functions, 2nd ed., Chelsea, New York, 1951.
- [15] H. GARLAND and M. S. RAGHUNATHAN, Fundamental domains for lattices in rank one semisimple Lie groups, Ann. of Math. 92 (1970), 279-326.
- [16] F. W. GEHRING, Rings and quasiconformal mappings in space, Trans. A.M.S. 103 (1962), 353-393.
- [17] L. GREENBERG, On a theorem of Ahlfors and conjugate subgroups of kleinian groups, Amer. J. Math. 89 (1967), 56-68.
- [18] \_\_\_\_\_, Fundamental polyhedra for kleinian groups, Ann. of Math. 84 (1966), 433-441.
- [19] S. T. Hu, Homotopy Theory, Acadamic Press, New York, 1959.
- [20] I. KRA, On cohomology of kleinian groups, Ann. of Math. 89 (1969), 533-556 and 90 (1969), 576-590.
- [21] \_\_\_\_\_, On spaces of Kleinian groups, Comm. Math. Helv. 47 (1972), 53-69.
- [22] J. LEHNER, Discontinuous Groups and Automorphic Functions, Mathematical Surveys VIII, A.M.S. Providence, 1964.
- [23] A. M. MACBEATH, Groups of homeomorphisms of a simply connected space, Ann. of Math. 79 (1964), 473-488.
- [24] W. MAGNUS, A. KARRASS, and D. SOLITAR, Combinatorial Group Theory, Interscience, New York, 1966.
- [25] A. MARDEN, On finitely generated fuchsian groups, Comm. Math. Helv. 42 (1967), 81-85.

### ALBERT MARDEN

- [26] A. MARDEN, On homotopic mappings of Riemann surfaces, Ann. of Math. 90 (1969), 1-8.
- [27] , An Inequality for Kleinian Groups, in Advances in the Theory of Riemann Surfaces, Ann. of Math. Studies **66**, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, 1971.
- [28] A. MARDEN, I. RICHARDS, and B. RODIN, On the regions bounded by homotopic curves, Pac. J. Math. 16 (1966), 337-339.
- [29] \_\_\_\_\_, Analytic self-mappings on Riemann surfaces, Jour. d'Anal. Math. 18 (1967), 197-225.
- [30] G. A. MARGULIS, Isometry of closed manifolds of constant negative curvature with the same fundamental group, Soviet Math. Dokl. 11 (1970), 722-723.
- [31] B. MASKIT, Construction of kleinian groups, in Proc. Conference on Complex Analysis at Minneapolis, 1964, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1965.
- [32] \_\_\_\_\_, On Klein's combination theorem, Trans. A.M.S. 120 (1965), 499-509 and 131 (1968), 32-39.
- [33] , A characterization of Schottby groups, Jour. d'Anal. Math. 19 (1967), 227-230.
- [34] \_\_\_\_\_, On a class of kleinian groups, Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. no. 442 (1969).
- [35] \_\_\_\_\_, On Klein's Combination Theorem III, in Advances in the Theory of Riemann Surfaces, Ann. of Math. Studies **66**, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, 1971.
- [36] ——, On boundaries of Teichmüller spaces II, Ann. of Math. 91 (1970), 607-639.
- [37] \_\_\_\_\_, Self maps of kleinian groups, Amer. J. Math. **43** (1971), 840-856.
- [38] ———, On Poincaré's theorem for fundamental polygons, Adv. in Math. 7 (1971), 219-230.

[39] W. S. MASSEY, Algebraic Topology, Harcourt, Brace and World, New York, 1967.

- [40] J. MILNOR, Lectures on the h-cobordism Theorem, Princeton Math. Notes, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, 1965.
- [41] G. D. MOSTOW, Quasiconformal mappings in n-space and the rigidity of hyperbolic space forms, Inst. Hautes Etudes Sci., Publ. Math. no. 34 (1968), 53-104.
- [42] ——, The rigidity of locally symmetric spaces, Actes, Congrès intern. Math. 2 (1970), 187-197.
- [43] J. R. MUNKRES, Obstructions to smoothings, Ann. of Math. 72 (1960), 521-554.
- [44] ——, Elementary Differential Topology, Ann. of Math. Studies 54, revised edition, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, 1966.
- [45] C. D. PAPAKYRIAKOPOULOS, On Dehn's lemma and the asphericity of knots, Ann. of Math. 66 (1957), 1-26.
- [46] —, On solid tori, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 7 (1957), 281-299.
- [47] H. POINCARÉ Mémoire sur les groups kleinéens, Acta Math. 3 (1883), 49-92.
- [48] A. SELBERY, Recent Developments in the Theory of Discontinuous Groups of Motions of Symmetric Spaces, in Proc. 15th Scandinavian Congress in Oslo, 1968, Lecture Notes in Math. no. 118, Springer-Verlag, New York.
- [49] F. WALDHAUSEN, Eine Verallgemeinerung des Schleifensatzes, Topology 6 (1967), 501-504.
- [50] ——, Gruppen mit Zentrum und 3-dimensionale Manningfaltigkeiten, Topology 6 (1967), 505-517.
- [51] ——, On irreducible 3-manifolds which are sufficiently large, Ann. of Math. 87 (1968), 56-88.
- [52] A. WEIL, On discrete subgroups of Lie groups, Ann. of Math. 72 (1960), 369-384 and 75 (1962), 578-602.
- [53] J. H. C. WHITEHEAD, On 2-spheres in 3-manifolds, Bull. A.M.S. 64 (1958), 161-166.
- [54] G. P. SCOTT, Finitely generated 3-manifold groups are finitely presented, Jour. London Math. Soc. (2) 6 (1973), 437-440.
- [55] \_\_\_\_\_, Compact submanifolds of 3-manifolds, Jour. London Math. Soc. (2) 7 (1973), 246-250.
- [56] P. WAGREICH, Singularities of complex surfaces with solvable local fundamental group, Topology 11 (1972), 51-72.

(Received February 22, 1972) (Revised February 9, 1973)